DARBOUX TRANSFORMATIONS IN INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS Theory and their Applications to Geometry

GU CHAOHAO HU HESHENG ZHOU ZIXIANG Institute of Mathematics, Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China

Kluwer Academic Publishers Boston/Dordrecht/London

Contents

Preface			ix
1. 1+1	1+1 DIMENSIONAL INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS		
1.1	1.1 KdV equation, MKdV equation and their Darboux transformations		
	1.1.1	Original Darboux transformation	1
	1.1.2	Darboux transformation for KdV equation	2
	1.1.3	Darboux transformation for MKdV equation	3
	1.1.4	Examples: single and double soliton solutions	6
	1.1.5	Relation between Darboux transformations for KdV equation and MKdV equation	10
1.2	AKNS	S system	11
	1.2.1	2×2 AKNS system	11
	1.2.2	$N \times N$ AKNS system	16
1.3	Darboux transformation		18
	1.3.1	Darboux transformation for AKNS system	18
	1.3.2	Invariance of equations under Darboux transformations	23
	1.3.3	Darboux transformations of higher degree and the theorem of permutability	25
	1.3.4	More results on the Darboux matrices of degree one	30
1.4	KdV hierarchy, MKdV-SG hierarchy, NLS hierarchy and AKNS system with $u(N)$ reduction		34
	1.4.1	KdV hierarchy	35
	1.4.2	MKdV-SG hierarchy	40
	1.4.3	NLS hierarchy	46
	1.4.4	AKNS system with $u(N)$ reduction	48

	1.5	Darboux transformation and scattering, inverse scattering theory			
		1.5.1	Outline of the scattering and inverse scattering theory for the 2 \times 2 AKNS system	51	
		1.5.2	Change of scattering data under Darboux transformations for $su(2)$ AKNS system	58	
2.	2 + 1	DIME	NSIONAL INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS	65	
	2.1	KP eq	uation and its Darboux transformation	65	
	2.2	2+1 dimensional AKNS system and DS equation 68			
	2.3	Darboux transformation			
		2.3.1	General Lax pair	70	
		2.3.2	Darboux transformation of degree one	71	
		2.3.3	Darboux transformation of higher degree and the theorem of permutability	75	
	2.4	Darbo transf	oux transformation and binary Darboux formation for DS equation	78	
		2.4.1	Darboux transformation for DSI equation	78	
		2.4.2	Darboux transformation and binary Darboux transformation for DSI equation	82	
	2.5	Application to $1+1$ dimensional Gelfand-Dickey system			
	2.6	Nonlin $2+1 d$	near constraints and Darboux transformation in limensions	87	
3.	N +	1 DIM	IENSIONAL INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS	103	
	3.1	n+1	dimensional AKNS system	103	
		3.1.1	n+1 dimensional AKNS system	103	
		3.1.2	Examples	106	
	3.2	Darbo	oux transformation and soliton solutions	108	
		3.2.1	Darboux transformation	108	
		3.2.2	u(N) case	110	
		3.2.3	Soliton solutions	111	
	3.3	A red	uced system on \mathbb{R}^n	116	
4.	SURFACES OF CONSTANT CURVATURE, BÄCKLUND CONCRUENCES				
		Theer	\mathbf{P} of surfaces in the Euclidean space \mathbf{P}^3	100	
	4.1	$\frac{1}{122}$			
	4.2	2 Surfaces of constant negative Gauss curvature, sine-Gordon equation and Bäcklund transformations			

vi

Contents

5.

6.

	4.2.1	Relation between sine-Gordon equation and surface of constant negative Gauss curvature in \mathbf{B}^3	126
	4.2.2	Pseudo-spherical congruence	129
	4.2.3	Bäcklund transformation	132
	4.2.4	Darboux transformation	135
	4.2.5	Example	139
4.3	Surfac	e of constant Gauss curvature in the Minkowski	
	space	$\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$ and pseudo-spherical congruence	141
	4.3.1	Theory of surfaces in the Minkowski space $\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$	141
	4.3.2	Chebyshev coordinates for surfaces of constant Gauss curvature	144
	433	Pseudo-spherical congruence in $\mathbf{B}^{2,1}$	149
	4.3.4	Bäcklund transformation and Darboux	1 10
		transformation for surfaces of constant Gauss	
		curvature in $\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$	154
4.4	Ortho	gonal frame and Lax pair	174
4.5	Surfac	e of constant mean curvature	179
	4.5.1	Parallel surface in Euclidean space	179
	4.5.2	Construction of surfaces	181
	4.5.3	The case in Minkowski space	184
DA	RBOUX	TRANSFORMATION AND HARMONIC MAP	189
5.1	Defini	tion of harmonic map and basic equations	189
5.2	Harmo	onic maps from R^2 or $R^{1,1}$ to S^2 , H^2 or $S^{1,1}$	192
5.3	Harmo	onic maps from $R^{1,1}$ to $U(N)$	199
	5.3.1	Riemannian metric on $U(N)$	199
	5.3.2	Harmonic maps from $R^{1,1}$ to $U(N)$	201
	5.3.3	Single soliton solutions	207
	5.3.4	Multi-soliton solutions	210
5.4	Harmo	onic maps from R^2 to $U(N)$	213
	5.4.1	Harmonic maps from R^2 to $U(N)$ and their	010
	540	Darboux transformations	213
	5.4.2	Soliton solutions	219
	5.4.5 5.4.4	Uniton Darboux transformation and singular Darboux	220
	0.4.4	transformation for unitons	225
CF	NEDAT	IZED SELE DUAL VANC MILLS AND	
YANG-MILLS-HIGGS EQUATIONS 23			
6.1	Generalized self-dual Yang-Mills flow 23		

		6.1.1	Generalized self-dual Yang-Mills flow	237	
		6.1.2	Darboux transformation	242	
		6.1.3	Example	245	
		6.1.4	Relation with AKNS system	247	
	6.2	6.2 Yang-Mills-Higgs field in 2+1 dimensional Minkowski			
		space-	time	248	
		6.2.1	Yang-Mills-Higgs field	248	
		6.2.2	Darboux Transformations	249	
		6.2.3	Soliton solutions	251	
	6.3 Yang-Mills-Higgs field in 2+1 dimensional anti-de Sitt			~~~	
		space-	time	256	
		6.3.1	Equations and their Lax pair	256	
		6.3.2	Darboux transformations	257	
		6.3.3	Soliton solutions in $SU(2)$ case	260	
		6.3.4	Comparison with the solutions in Minkowski	263	
			space-time	200	
7.	TW	O DIM	ENSIONAL TODA EQUATIONS AND	0.07	
	LAP	LACE	SEQUENCES OF SURFACES	267	
	7.1	Signed	1 Toda equations	267	
	7.2	Laplac	ce sequences of surfaces in projective space \mathbf{P}_{n-1}	271	
	7.3	7.3 Darboux transformation		277	
	7.4	Su cha	ain (Finikoff configuration)	281	
	7.5	Ellipti	c version of Laplace sequence of surfaces in ${f CP}^n$	291	
		7.5.1	Laplace sequence in \mathbf{CP}^n	291	
		7.5.2	Equations of harmonic maps from \mathbf{R}^2 to \mathbf{CP}^n in		
			homogeneous coordinates	292	
		7.5.3	Cases of indefinite metric	295	
		7.5.4	Harmonic maps from $\mathbf{R}^{1,1}$	296	
		7.5.5	Examples of harmonic sequences from \mathbb{R}^2 to \mathbb{CP}^n or $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$ to \mathbb{CP}^n	296	
References			299		

Preface

GU CHAOHAO

The soliton theory is an important branch of nonlinear science. On one hand, it describes various kinds of stable motions appearing in nature, such as solitary water wave, solitary signals in optical fibre etc., and has many applications in science and technology (like optical signal communication). On the other hand, it gives many effective methods of getting explicit solutions of nonlinear partial differential equations. Therefore, it has attracted much attention from physicists as well as mathematicians.

Nonlinear partial differential equations appear in many scientific problems. Getting explicit solutions is usually a difficult task. Only in certain special cases can the solutions be written down explicitly. However, for many soliton equations, people have found quite a few methods to get explicit solutions. The most famous ones are the inverse scattering method, Bäcklund transformation etc.. The inverse scattering method is based on the spectral theory of ordinary differential equations. The Cauchy problem of many soliton equations can be transformed to solving a system of linear integral equations. Explicit solutions can be derived when the kernel of the integral equation is degenerate. The Bäcklund transformation gives a new solution from a known solution by solving a system of completely integrable partial differential equations. Some complicated "nonlinear superposition formula" arise to substitute the superposition principle in linear science.

However, if the kernel of the integral equation is not degenerate, it is very difficult to get the explicit expressions of the solutions via the inverse scattering method. For the Bäcklund transformation, the nonlinear superposition formula is not easy to be obtained in general. In late 1970s, it was discovered by V. B. Matveev that a method given by G. Darboux a century ago for the spectral problem of second order ordinary differential equations can be extended to some important soliton equations. This method was called Darboux transformation. After that, it was found that this method is very effective for many partial differential equations. It is now playing an important role in mechanics, physics and differential geometry. V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle published an important monograph [80] on this topic in 1991. Besides, an interesting monograph of C. Rogers and W. K. Schief [90] with many recent results was published in 2002.

The present monograph contains the Darboux transformations in matrix form and provides purely algebraic algorithms for constructing explicit solutions. Consequently, a basis of using symbolic calculations to obtain explicit exact solutions for many integrable systems is established. Moreover, the behavior of simple and multi-solutions, even in multi-dimensional cases, can be elucidated clearly. The method covers a series of important topics such as varies kinds of AKNS systems in \mathbf{R}^{n+1} , the construction of Bäcklund congruences and surfaces of constant Gauss curvature in \mathbf{R}^3 and $\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$, harmonic maps from two dimensional manifolds to the Lie group U(n), self-dual Yang-Mills fields and the generalizations to higher dimensional case, Yang-Mills-Higgs fields in 2 + 1dimensional Minkowski and anti-de Sitter space, Laplace sequences of surfaces in projective spaces and two dimensional Toda equations. All these cases are stated in details. In geometric problems, the Lax pair is not only a tool, but also a geometric object to be studied. Many results in this monograph are obtained by the authors in recent years.

This monograph is partially supported by the Chinese Major State Basic Research Program "Frontier problems in nonlinear sciences", the Doctoral Program Foundation of the Ministry of Education of China, National Natural Science Foundation of China and Science Foundation of Shanghai Science Committee. Most work in this monograph was done in the Institute of Mathematics of Fudan University.

Х

Chapter 1

1+1 DIMENSIONAL INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS

Starting from the original Darboux transformation, we first discuss the classical form of the Darboux transformations for the KdV and the MKdV equation, then discuss the Darboux transformations for the AKNS system and more general systems. The coefficients in the evolution equations discussed here may depend on t. The Darboux matrices are constructed algebraically and the algorithm is purely algebraic and universal to whole hierarchies. The Darboux transformations for reduced systems are also concerned. We also present the relations between Darboux transformation and the inverse scattering theory, and show that the number of solitons (the number of eigenvalues) increases or decreases after the action of a Darboux transformation.

1.1 KdV equation, MKdV equation and their Darboux transformations

1.1.1 Original Darboux transformation

In 1882, G. Darboux [18] studied the eigenvalue problem of a linear partial differential equation of second order (now called the onedimensional Schrödinger equation)

$$-\phi_{xx} - u(x)\phi = \lambda\phi. \tag{1.1}$$

Here u(x) is a given function, called potential function; λ is a constant, called spectral parameter. He found out the following fact. If u(x)and $\phi(x, \lambda)$ are two functions satisfying (1.1) and $f(x) = \phi(x, \lambda_0)$ is a solution of the equation (1.1) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$ where λ_0 is a fixed constant, then the functions u' and ϕ' defined by

$$u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx}, \quad \phi'(x,\lambda) = \phi_x(x,\lambda) - \frac{f_x}{f}\phi(x,\lambda) \tag{1.2}$$

satisfy

$$-\phi'_{xx} - u'\phi' = \lambda\phi', \tag{1.3}$$

which is of the same form as (1.1). Therefore, the transformation (1.2) transforms the functions (u, ϕ) to (u', ϕ') which satisfy the same equations. This transformation

$$(u,\phi) \longrightarrow (u',\phi'),$$
 (1.4)

is the original Darboux transformation, which is valid for $f \neq 0$.

1.1.2 Darboux transformation for KdV equation

In 1885, the Netherlandish applied mathematicians Korteweg and de Vries introduced a nonlinear partial differential equation describing the motion of water wave, which is now called the Korteweg-de Vries equation (KdV equation)

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0. (1.5)$$

In the middle of 1960's, this equation was found out to be closely related to the Schrödinger equation mentioned above [87]. KdV equation (1.5) is the integrability condition of the linear system

$$-\phi_{xx} - u\phi = \lambda\phi,$$

$$\phi_t = -4\phi_{xxx} - 6u\phi_x - 3u_x\phi$$
(1.6)

which is called the Lax pair of the KdV equation. Here u and ϕ are functions of x and t. (1.6) is the integrability condition of (1.5). In other words, (1.5) is the necessary and sufficient condition for $(\phi_{xx})_t = (\phi_t)_{xx}$ being an identity for all λ , where $(\phi_{xx})_t$ is computed from $\phi_{xx} = (-\lambda - u)\phi$ (the first equation of (1.6)) and $(\phi_t)_{xx}$ is given by the second equation of (1.6).

Since the first equation of the Lax pair of the KdV equation is just the Schrödinger equation, the Darboux transformation (1.2) can also be applied to the KdV equation, where the functions depend on t. Obviously the transformation keeps the first equation of (1.6) invariant, i.e., (u', ϕ') satisfies

$$-\phi'_{xx} - u'\phi' = \lambda\phi'. \tag{1.7}$$

Moreover, it is easily seen that (u', ϕ') satisfies the second equation of (1.6) as well. Therefore, u' satisfies the KdV equation, which is the

 $\mathbf{2}$

integrability condition of (1.6). In summary, suppose one knows a solution u of the KdV equation, solving the linear equations (1.6) one gets $\phi(x, t, \lambda)$. Take λ to be a special value λ_0 and let $f(x, t) = \phi(x, t, \lambda_0)$, then $u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx}$ gives a new solution of the KdV equation, and ϕ' given by (1.2) is a solution of the Lax pair corresponding to u'. This gives a way to obtain new solutions of the KdV equation.

This process can be done successively as follows. For a known solution u of (1.5), first solve a system of linear differential equations (1.6) and get ϕ . Then explicit calculation from (1.2) gives new special solutions of the KdV equation. Since ϕ' is known, it is not necessary to solve any linear differential equations again to obtain (u'', ϕ'') . That is, we only need algebraic calculation to get (u'', ϕ'') etc.:

$$(u,\phi) \longrightarrow (u',\phi') \longrightarrow (u'',\phi'') \longrightarrow \cdots$$
 (1.8)

Therefore, we have extended the Darboux transformation for the Schrödinger equation to the KdV equation. The basic idea here is to get the new solutions of the nonlinear equation and the corresponding solutions of the Lax pair simultaneously from a known solution of the nonlinear equation and a solution of its Lax pair by using algebraic and differential computation. Note that the formula is valid only for $f \neq 0$. If f = 0, the Darboux transformation will have singularities.

Remark 1 Let $\psi_1 = \phi$, $\psi_2 = \phi_x$, $\Psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)^T$, then the Lax pair (1.6) can be written in matrix form as

$$\Psi_{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -\lambda - u & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Psi,$$

$$\Psi_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{x} & 4\lambda - 2u \\ -4\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda u + u_{xx} + 2u^{2} & -u_{x} \end{pmatrix} \Psi.$$
(1.9)

The transformation $\phi \rightarrow \phi'$ in (1.2) can also be rewritten as a transformation of Ψ , which can be realized via algebraic algorithm only. We shall discuss this Darboux transformation in matrix form later.

1.1.3 Darboux transformation for MKdV equation

The method of Darboux transformation can be applied to many other equations such as the MKdV equation, the sine-Gordon equation etc. [105]. We first take the MKdV equation as an example. General cases will be considered in the latter sections.

MKdV equation

$$u_t + 6u^2 u_x + u_{xxx} = 0 (1.10)$$

is the integrability condition of the over-determined linear system [2, 119]

$$\begin{split} \Phi_x &= U\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u \\ -u & -\lambda \end{pmatrix} \Phi, \\ \Phi_t &= V\Phi \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} -4\lambda^3 - 2u^2\lambda & -4u\lambda^2 - 2u_x\lambda - 2u^3 - u_{xx} \\ 4u\lambda^2 - 2u_x\lambda + 2u^3 + u_{xx} & 4\lambda^3 + 2u^2\lambda \end{pmatrix} \Phi, \end{split}$$
(1.11)

that is, (1.10) is the necessary and sufficient condition for $\Phi_{xt} = \Phi_{tx}$ being an identity. The system (1.11) is called a Lax pair of (1.10) and λ a spectral parameter. Here Φ may be regarded as a column solution or a 2 × 2 matrix solution of (1.11).

There are several ways to derive the Darboux transformation for the MKdV equation. Here we use the Darboux matrix method.

For a given solution u of the MKdV equation, suppose we know a fundamental solution of (1.11)

$$\Phi(x,t,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_{11}(x,t,\lambda) & \Phi_{12}(x,t,\lambda) \\ \Phi_{21}(x,t,\lambda) & \Phi_{22}(x,t,\lambda) \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.12)

which composes two linearly independent column solutions of (1.11).

Let λ_1 , μ_1 be arbitrary real numbers and

$$\sigma = \frac{\Phi_{22}(x, t, \lambda_1) + \mu_1 \Phi_{21}(x, t, \lambda_1)}{\Phi_{12}(x, t, \lambda_1) + \mu_1 \Phi_{11}(x, t, \lambda_1)}$$
(1.13)

be the ratio of the two entries of a column solution of the Lax pair (1.11). Construct the matrix

$$D(x,t,\lambda) = \lambda I - \frac{\lambda_1}{1+\sigma^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1-\sigma^2 & 2\sigma \\ 2\sigma & \sigma^2 - 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.14)

and let $\Phi'(x,t,\lambda) = D(x,t,\lambda)\Phi(x,t,\lambda)$. Then it is easily verified that $\Phi'(x,t,\lambda)$ satisfies

$$\Phi'_x = U'\Phi', \qquad \Phi'_t = V'\Phi', \tag{1.15}$$

4

where

$$U' = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u' \\ -u' & -\lambda \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V' = \begin{pmatrix} -4\lambda^3 - 2u'^2\lambda & -4u'\lambda^2 - 2u'_x\lambda - 2u'^3 - u'_{xx} \\ 4u'\lambda^2 - 2u'_x\lambda + 2u'^3 + u'_{xx} & 4\lambda^3 + 2u'^2\lambda \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.16)

with

$$u' = u + \frac{4\lambda_1 \sigma}{1 + \sigma^2}.\tag{1.17}$$

(1.15) and (1.16) are similar to (1.11). The only difference is that the u in (1.11) is replaced by u' defined by (1.17). For any solution Φ of (1.11), $D\Phi$ is a solution of (1.15), hence (1.15) is solvable for any given initial data (the value of Φ' at some point (x_0, t_0)). In other words, (1.15) is integrable. The integrability condition of (1.15) implies that u' is also a solution of the MKdV equation. Using this method, we obtain a new solution of the MKdV equation together with the corresponding fundamental solution of its Lax pair from a known one.

The above conclusions can be summarized as follows. Let u be a solution of the MKdV equation and Φ be a fundamental solution of its Lax pair. Take λ_1 , μ_1 to be two arbitrary real constants, and let σ be defined by (1.13), then (1.17) gives a new solution u' of the MKdV equation, and the corresponding solution to the Lax pair can be taken as $D\Phi$. The transformation $(u, \Phi) \rightarrow (u', \Phi')$ is the Darboux transformation for the MKdV equation. This Darboux transformation in matrix form can be done successively and purely algebraically as

$$(u, \Phi) \longrightarrow (u', \Phi') \longrightarrow (u'', \Phi'') \longrightarrow \cdots$$
 (1.18)

Remark 2 Both (1.9) and (1.11) are of the form

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi, \qquad \Phi_t = V\Phi \tag{1.19}$$

where U and V are $N \times N$ matrices and independent of Φ . The integrability condition of (1.19) is

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0 \quad ([U, V] = UV - VU). \tag{1.20}$$

According to the elementary theory of linear partial differential equations, the solution of (1.19) exists uniquely for given initial data $\Phi(x_0, t_0) = \Phi_0$ if and only if (1.20) holds identically. Here Φ is an $N \times N$ matrix, or a vector with N entries. In this case $\Phi(x,t)$ is determined by the ordinary differential equation

$$d\Phi = (U\,\mathrm{d}x + V\,\mathrm{d}y)\Phi \tag{1.21}$$

along an arbitrary path connecting (x_0, t_0) and (x, t). (1.20) is also called a zero-curvature condition.

1.1.4 Examples: single and double soliton solutions

Starting with the trivial solution u = 0 of the MKdV equation, one can use the Darboux transformation to obtain the solution solutions. For u = 0, the fundamental solution of the Lax pair can be obtained as

$$\Phi(x,t,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \exp(\lambda x - 4\lambda^3 t) & 0\\ 0 & \exp(-\lambda x + 4\lambda^3 t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.22)

by integrating (1.11). Take $\lambda_1 \neq 0$ and $\mu_1 = \exp(2\alpha_1) > 0$, then (1.13) gives

$$\sigma = \sigma_1 = \exp(-2\lambda_1 x + 8\lambda_1^3 t - 2\alpha_1), \qquad (1.23)$$

hence

$$D = \lambda I - \frac{\lambda_1}{\cosh v_1} \begin{pmatrix} \sinh v_1 & 1\\ 1 & -\sinh v_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.24)$$

where

$$v_1 = 2\lambda_1 x - 8\lambda_1^3 t + 2\alpha_1.$$
 (1.25)

(1.17) gives the single soliton solution

$$u' = 2\lambda_1 \operatorname{sech}(2\lambda_1 x - 8\lambda_1^3 t + 2\alpha_1), \qquad (1.26)$$

of the MKdV equation.

(1.26) is called the single soliton solution because it has the following properties: (i) It is a travelling wave solution, i.e., it is in the form u' = f(x - ct); (ii) For any t, $\lim_{x \to \pm \infty} u' = 0$. Speaking intuitively, u' is near 0 outside a small region, i.e., $|u| < 2|\lambda_1| \operatorname{sech} K$ when $|2\lambda_1 x - 8\lambda_1^3 t + 2\alpha_1| > K$.

The solution of the corresponding Lax pair is

$$\Phi'(x,t,\lambda) = (\Phi'_{ij}(x,t,\lambda))$$
$$= D(x,t,\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} \exp(\lambda x - 4\lambda^3 t) & 0\\ 0 & \exp(-\lambda x + 4\lambda^3 t) \end{pmatrix} (1.27)$$

6

where D is given by (1.24).

If we take u' as a seed solution, a new Darboux matrix can be constructed from Φ' and a series of new solutions of the MKdV equation can be obtained.

We write down the second Darboux transformation explicitly. Suppose u is a solution of the MKdV equation (1.10), Φ is a fundamental solution of the corresponding Lax pair (1.11). Construct the Darboux matrix $D = (D_{ij})$ according to (1.13) and (1.14) and let $\sigma = \sigma_1$. Moreover, take constants $\lambda_2 \neq 0$ ($\lambda_2 \neq \lambda_1$) and $\mu_2 = \exp(2\alpha_2)$. According to (1.13),

$$\sigma_2' = \frac{\Phi_{22}'(x,t,\lambda_2) + \mu_2 \Phi_{21}'(x,t,\lambda_2)}{\Phi_{12}'(x,t,\lambda_2) + \mu_2 \Phi_{11}'(x,t,\lambda_2)}.$$
(1.28)

Substituting $\Phi' = D\Phi$ into it, we have

$$\sigma_{2}' = \frac{D_{21}(\Phi_{12} + \mu_{2}\Phi_{11}) + D_{22}(\Phi_{22} + \mu_{2}\Phi_{21})}{D_{11}(\Phi_{12} + \mu_{2}\Phi_{11}) + D_{12}(\Phi_{22} + \mu_{2}\Phi_{21})}\Big|_{\lambda=\lambda_{2}}$$

$$= \frac{D_{21}(\lambda_{2}) + D_{22}(\lambda_{2})\sigma_{2}}{D_{11}(\lambda_{2}) + D_{12}(\lambda_{2})\sigma_{2}},$$
(1.29)

where

$$\sigma_2 = \frac{\Phi_{22}(x, t, \lambda_2) + \mu_2 \Phi_{21}(x, t, \lambda_2)}{\Phi_{12}(x, t, \lambda_2) + \mu_2 \Phi_{11}(x, t, \lambda_2)}.$$
(1.30)

Starting from u = 0, (1.26) and (1.27) are the single soliton solution and the corresponding fundamental solution of the Lax pair. Substituting (1.24), the expression of D, into (1.27), we have

$$\Phi'(x,t,\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} (\lambda - \lambda_1 \tanh v_1) e^{\lambda x - 4\lambda^3 t} - \lambda_1 \operatorname{sech} v_1 e^{-\lambda x + 4\lambda^3 t} \\ -\lambda_1 \operatorname{sech} v_1 e^{\lambda x - 4\lambda^3 t} (\lambda + \lambda_1 \tanh v_1) e^{-\lambda x + 4\lambda^3 t} \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.31)

hence

$$\sigma_2' = \frac{-\lambda_1 \operatorname{sech} v_1 + (\lambda_2 + \lambda_1 \tanh v_1) \exp(-v_2)}{(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1 \tanh v_1) - \lambda_1 \operatorname{sech} v_1 \exp(-v_2)}, \quad (1.32)$$

where

$$v_2 = 2\lambda_2 x - 8\lambda_2^3 t + 2\alpha_2, \quad (i = 1, 2).$$
 (1.33)

According to (1.17),

$$u'' = \frac{4\lambda_1 \sigma_1}{1 + \sigma_1^2} + \frac{4\lambda_2 \sigma_2'}{1 + \sigma_2'^2} = \frac{2(\lambda_2^2 - \lambda_1^2)(\lambda_2 \cosh v_1 - \lambda_1 \cosh v_2)}{(\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2) \cosh v_1 \cosh v_2 - 2\lambda_1 \lambda_2 (1 + \sinh v_1 \sinh v_2)}$$
(1.34)

is a new solution of the MKdV equation. This is called the double soliton solution of the MKdV equation. This name follows from the following asymptotic property of the solutions. We shall show that a double soliton solution is asymptotic to two single soliton solutions as $t \to \infty$.

Suppose $\lambda_2 > \lambda_1 > 0$, M is a fixed positive number. Let v_1 be bounded by $|v_1| \leq M$, then $x \sim \infty$ as $t \sim \infty$. Since

$$v_{2} = \frac{\lambda_{2}}{\lambda_{1}}v_{1} - 8\lambda_{2}(\lambda_{2}^{2} - \lambda_{1}^{2})t + 2\alpha_{2} - \frac{2\lambda_{2}\alpha_{1}}{\lambda_{1}}, \qquad (1.35)$$

 $v_2 \sim +\infty$ as $t \sim -\infty$, and

$$u'' \sim -2\lambda_1 \operatorname{sech}(v_1 - v_0) \tag{1.36}$$

as $t \to -\infty$ where

$$v_0 = \tanh^{-1} \frac{2\lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2}.$$
 (1.37)

If $t \sim +\infty$, then $v_2 \sim -\infty$, and

$$u'' \sim -2\lambda_1 \operatorname{sech}(v_1 + v_0).$$
 (1.38)

Hence, for fixed v_1 (i.e., the observer moves in the velocity $4\lambda_1^2$), the solution is asymptotic to one single soliton solution (corresponding to the parameter λ_1) as $t \sim -\infty$ or $t \sim +\infty$. However, there is a phase shift between the asymptotic solitons as $t \sim -\infty$ and $t \sim +\infty$. That is, the center of the soliton (the peak) moves from $v_1 = v_0$ to $v_1 = -v_0$.

Similarly, if $|v_2| \leq M$, then

$$v_1 = \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2} v_2 + 8\lambda_1 (\lambda_2^2 - \lambda_1^2) t + 2\alpha_1 - \frac{2\lambda_1 \alpha_2}{\lambda_2}$$
(1.39)

implies that $v_1 \sim \pm \infty$ as $t \sim \pm \infty$, and

$$u'' \sim 2\lambda_2 \operatorname{sech}(v_2 + v_0), \quad t \sim -\infty,$$

$$u'' \sim 2\lambda_2 \operatorname{sech}(v_2 - v_0), \quad t \sim +\infty.$$
(1.40)

Finally, if $t \sim \pm \infty$ and both v_1 , v_2 tend to $\pm \infty$ (i.e., the observer moves in the velocity $\neq 4\lambda_1^2, 4\lambda_2^2$), then $u'' \sim 0$. Therefore, whenever $t \sim +\infty$ or $t \sim -\infty, u''$ is asymptotic to two single soliton solutions (see Figures 1.1 - 1.3.

This fact means that: (i) a double soliton solution is asymptotic to two single soliton solutions as $t \to \pm \infty$; (ii) if two single solitons (the asymptotic behavior as $t \to -\infty$) interact, they will almost recover later

8



Figure 1.1. Double soliton solutions of the MKdV equation, t = -1



Figure 1.2. Double soliton solutions of the MKdV equation, t = 0.1



Figure 1.3. Double soliton solutions of the MKdV equation, t = 1

 $(t \to +\infty)$. Both the shape and the velocity do not change. The only change is the phase shift. Physically speaking, there is elastic scattering between solitons. This is the most important character of solitons. The discovery of this property (first to the KdV equation) greatly promotes the progress of the soliton theory.

Remark 3 Starting from the trivial solution u = 0, we can also obtain the single and double soliton solutions of the KdV equation by using the original Darboux transformation mentioned at the beginning of this section. The computation is simpler and is left for the reader.

The Darboux transformation for the MKdV equation can be used to get not only the single and double soliton solutions, but also the multisoliton solutions. Moreover, this method can be applied to many other nonlinear equations. We shall discuss the general problem in the next section.

Relation between Darboux transformations 1.1.5for KdV equation and MKdV equation

The Darboux transformation for the MKdV equation can also be derived from the "complexification" of the Schrödinger equation (1.1) directly. That is why the transformation given by the matrix D is also called a Darboux transformation.

Take a solution $\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$ of (1.11), then the first equation of (1.11)

is

$$\phi_{1,x} = \lambda \phi_1 + u\phi_2,$$

$$\phi_{2,x} = -u\phi_1 - \lambda \phi_2.$$
(1.41)

Let $\psi = \phi_1 + i\phi_2$ and suppose λ is a real parameter, u is a real function, then ψ satisfies

$$\psi_{xx} = \lambda^2 \psi - (\mathrm{i}u_x + u^2)\psi. \tag{1.42}$$

This is a complex Schrödinger equation with potential $(iu_x + u^2)$. It can be checked directly that if u is a solution of the MKdV equation, then $w = iu_x + u^2$ is a complex solution of the KdV equation $w_t + 6ww_x + w_{xxx} = 0$. The transformation from the solution u of the MKdV equation to the solution w of the KdV equation is called a Miura transformation.

Remark 4 Let v = iu, then (1.10) is

$$v_t - 6v^2 v_x + v_{xxx} = 0, (1.10)^{t}$$

and the Miura transformation becomes $w = v_x - v^2$. If v is a real solution of (1.10)', then w is a real solution of the KdV equation.

Take a real number λ_0 and a solution $f = f_1 + if_2$ of the equation (1.42) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, then $\begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.41) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. Using

the conclusion to the KdV equation, we know

$$\psi' = \psi_x - (f_x/f)\psi, \quad w' = w + 2(\ln f)_{xx}$$
 (1.43)

satisfy (1.42) and w' is a solution of the KdV equation. Moreover, there is a corresponding u' satisfying the MKdV equation. Now we write down the explicit expression of u'.

1+1 dimensional integrable systems

Considering (1.41), the first equation of (1.43) can be rewritten in terms of the components as

$$\phi'_1 + i\phi'_2 = \lambda\phi_1 - i\lambda\phi_2 - \lambda_0 \frac{f}{f}(\phi_1 + i\phi_2).$$
 (1.44)

If λ and λ_0 are real numbers, then ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 can be chosen as real functions. (1.44) becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1' \\ \phi_2' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda - \lambda_0 \frac{f_1^2 - f_2^2}{f_1^2 + f_2^2} & -\lambda_0 \frac{2f_1 f_2}{f_1^2 + f_2^2} \\ \lambda_0 \frac{2f_1 f_2}{f_1^2 + f_2^2} & -\lambda - \lambda_0 \frac{f_1^2 - f_2^2}{f_1^2 + f_2^2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (1.45)$$

It should be noted that the matrix in the right hand side of (1.45) is the counterpart of the Darboux matrix defined by (1.24).

It can be checked that
$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi'_1 \\ \phi'_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 satisfies
 $\phi'_{1,x} = \lambda \phi'_1 + u' \phi'_2,$
 $\phi'_{2,x} = -u' \phi'_1 - \lambda \phi'_2$
(1.46)

where

$$u' = -u - \frac{4\lambda_0 f_1 f_2}{f_1^2 + f_2^2}.$$
(1.47)

The integrability condition of (1.46) implies that u' is a solution of the MKdV equation.

Remark 5 The matrix given by (1.14) and that given by (1.45) are different by a left-multiplied factor $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. Notice that if (u, ϕ_1, ϕ_2) is a solution of (1.41), then $(-u, \phi_1, -\phi_2)$ is also a solution of (1.41).

is a solution of (1.41), then $(-u, \phi_1, -\phi_2)$ is also a solution of (1.41). Therefore, the solution (1.17) given by (1.14) is the minus of the solution given by (1.47). Both u and -u satisfy the MKdV equation. We can take any one transformation as the Darboux transformation.

The matrix D is very important hereafter. It is called a Darboux matrix.

1.2 AKNS system

1.2.1 2×2 AKNS system

In order to generalize the Lax pair of the MKdV equation, V. E. Zakharov, A. B. Shabat and M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newell, H. Segur introduced independently a more general system [2, 119] which is now called the AKNS system. For simplicity, we first discuss the 2×2 AKNS system (i.e., the AKNS system of 2×2 matrices), and then the more general $N \times N$ AKNS system.

 2×2 AKNS system is the linear system of differential equations

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi = \lambda J\Phi + P\Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = V\Phi = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j \lambda^{n-j}\Phi,$$
(1.48)

where

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad V = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & -A \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.49)
$$A = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\n}}^{n} a_j(x,t)\lambda^{n-j},$$
$$B = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{n} b_j(x,t)\lambda^{n-j},$$
(1.50)
$$C = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{n} c_j(x,t)\lambda^{n-j},$$

 p, q, a_j, b_j, c_j are complex or real functions of x and t, λ is a real or complex parameter, called the spectral parameter. As mentioned in Remark 2, the integrability condition of (1.48)

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0 (1.51)$$

should hold for all λ . In terms of the components, (1.51) becomes

$$A_x = pC - qB,$$

$$B_x = p_t + 2\lambda B - 2pA,$$

$$C_x = q_t - 2\lambda C + 2qA.$$
(1.52)

Both sides of the above equations are polynomials of λ . Expanding them in terms of the powers of λ , we have

$$b_{0} = c_{0} = 0,$$

$$a_{j,x} = pc_{j} - qb_{j} \quad (0 \le j \le n),$$

$$b_{j+1} = \frac{1}{2}b_{j,x} + pa_{j} \quad (0 \le j \le n - 1),$$

$$c_{j+1} = -\frac{1}{2}c_{j,x} + qa_{j} \quad (0 \le j \le n - 1),$$
(1.53)

and the evolution equations

$$p_t = b_{n,x} + 2pa_n,$$

$$q_t = c_{n,x} - 2qa_n.$$
(1.54)

(1.53) can be regarded as the equations to determine A, B, C, and (1.54) is a system of evolution equations of p and q. In (1.53), a_j, b_j, c_j can be derived through algebraic calculation, differentiation and integration. We can see later that they are actually polynomials of p, q and their derivatives with respect to x (without any integral expressions of p and q), the coefficients of which are arbitrary functions of t. After solving a_j, b_j, c_j from (1.53), we get the system of nonlinear evolution equations of p and q from (1.54).

For j = 0, 1, 2, 3,

$$a_{0} = \alpha_{0}(t), \quad b_{0} = c_{0} = 0,$$

$$a_{1} = \alpha_{1}(t), \quad b_{1} = \alpha_{0}(t)p, \quad c_{1} = \alpha_{0}(t)q,$$

$$a_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\alpha_{0}(t)pq + \alpha_{2}(t),$$

$$b_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{0}(t)p_{x} + \alpha_{1}(t)p,$$

$$c_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\alpha_{0}(t)q_{x} + \alpha_{1}(t)q,$$

$$a_{3} = \frac{1}{4}\alpha_{0}(t)(pq_{x} - qp_{x}) - \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{1}(t)pq + \alpha_{3}(t),$$

$$b_{3} = \frac{1}{4}\alpha_{0}(t)(p_{xx} - 2p^{2}q) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{1}(t)p_{x} + \alpha_{2}(t)p,$$

$$c_{3} = \frac{1}{4}\alpha_{0}(t)(q_{xx} - 2pq^{2}) - \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{1}(t)q_{x} + \alpha_{2}(t)q.$$
(1.55)

Here $\alpha_0(t)$, $\alpha_1(t)$, $\alpha_2(t)$, $\alpha_3(t)$ are arbitrary functions of t, which are the integral constants in integrating a_0 , a_1 , a_2 , a_3 from the second equation of (1.53).

Here are some simplest and most important examples.

EXAMPLE 1.1 n = 3, p = u, q = -1, $\alpha_0 = -4$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$. In this case, $a_3 = -u_x$, $b_3 = -u_{xx} - 2u^2$, $c_3 = 2u$. (1.54) becomes the KdV equation

$$u_t + u_{xxx} + 6uu_x = 0. (1.56)$$

EXAMPLE 1.2 n = 3, p = u, q = -u, $\alpha_0 = -4$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$, then $a_3 = 0$, $b_3 = -u_{xx} - 2u^3$, $c_3 = u_{xx} + 2u^3$. The equation becomes the MKdV equation

$$u_t + u_{xxx} + 6u^2 u_x = 0. (1.57)$$

EXAMPLE 1.3 n = 2, p = u, $q = -\bar{u}$, $\alpha_0 = -2i$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 0$, $a_2 = -i|u|^2$, $b_2 = -iu_x$, $c_2 = -i\bar{u}_x$. (1.54) is the nonlinear Schrödinger equation

$$iu_t = u_{xx} + 2|u|^2 u. (1.58)$$

We have seen that for $j = 0, 1, 2, 3, a_j, b_j, c_j$ are differential polynomials of p and q, i.e., polynomials of p, q and their derivatives with respect to x, whose coefficients are constants or arbitrary functions of t.

LEMMA 1.4 a_j , b_j , c_j given by (1.53) are differential polynomials of p and q.

Proof. Use induction. The conclusion is obviously true for j = 0.

Suppose a_j , b_j , c_j are differential polynomials of p and q for j < l, we will prove that a_l , b_l , c_l are also differential polynomials of p and q.

(1.53) implies that b_l , c_l are differential polynomials of p and q. Hence it is only necessary to prove that a_l is a differential polynomial of p and q. For $1 \le j \le l-1$,

$$b_{j}c_{l+1-j} - c_{j}b_{l+1-j}$$

$$= b_{j}(qa_{l-j} - \frac{1}{2}c_{l-j,x}) - c_{j}(pa_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}b_{l-j,x})$$

$$= (qb_{j} - pc_{j})a_{l-j} - \frac{1}{2}(b_{j}c_{l-j,x} + c_{j}b_{l-j,x})$$

$$= -(a_{j}a_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}b_{j}c_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}c_{j}b_{l-j})x + a_{j}a_{l-j,x}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}(b_{j,x}c_{l-j} + c_{j,x}b_{l-j})$$

$$= -(a_{j}a_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}b_{j}c_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}c_{j}b_{l-j})x + (pa_{j} + \frac{1}{2}b_{j,x})c_{l-j}$$

$$-(qa_{j} - \frac{1}{2}c_{j,x})b_{l-j}$$

$$= -(a_{j}a_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}b_{j}c_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}c_{j}b_{l-j})x + b_{j+1}c_{l-j} - c_{j+1}b_{l-j}.$$
(1.59)

Summarize for j from 1 to l-1, we have

$$b_1c_l - c_1b_l = -\sum_{j=1}^{l-1} (a_ja_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}b_jc_{l-j} + \frac{1}{2}c_jb_{l-j})_x - (b_1c_l - c_1b_l), \quad (1.60)$$

i.e.,

$$pc_l - qb_l = -\sum_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{1}{4a_0} (2a_j a_{l-j} + b_j c_{l-j} + c_j b_{l-j})_x.$$
(1.61)

Hence

$$a_{l} = -\sum_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{1}{4a_{0}} (2a_{j}a_{l-j} + b_{j}c_{l-j} + c_{j}b_{l-j}) + \alpha_{l}(t)$$
(1.62)

is a differential polynomial of p and q. The lemma is proved.

Since $\{a_j, b_j, c_j\}$ are differential polynomials of p and q, we can define $\{a_j^0[p,q]\}, \{b_j^0[p,q]\}, \{c_j^0[p,q]\}$ recursively so that they satisfy the recursion relations (1.53) and the conditions $a_0^0[0,0] = 1, a_j^0[0,0] = 0$ $(1 \le j \le n)$. Clearly, these $\{a_j^0, b_j^0, c_j^0\}$ are uniquely determined as certain polynomials of p, q and their derivatives with respect to x. From (1.53), we have

Lemma 1.5

$$b_j^0[0,q] = 0, \quad c_j^0[p,0] = 0, a_j^0[p,0] = a_j^0[0,q] = 0 \quad (1 \le j \le n)$$
(1.63)

for any p and q. Moreover, for any $\{a_j, b_j, c_j\}$ satisfying (1.53), there exist $\alpha_j(t)$ $(0 \le j \le n)$ such that

$$a_{k}[p,q] = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_{k-j}(t) a_{j}^{0}[p,q],$$

$$b_{k}[p,q] = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_{k-j}(t) b_{j}^{0}[p,q],$$

$$c_{k}[p,q] = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_{k-j}(t) c_{j}^{0}[p,q].$$

(1.64)

Remark 6 For any positive integer n, the first equation of (1.48) (xequation) is fixed, but the second one depends on the choice of $\alpha_0(t)$, \cdots , $\alpha_n(t)$. Therefore, the evolution equations (1.54) also depend on the choice of $\alpha_0(t)$, \cdots , $\alpha_n(t)$. This means that (1.54) is a series of equations, which is called the AKNS hierarchy. If $\alpha_0(t)$, \cdots , $\alpha_n(t)$ are all constants, then the evolution equations have the coefficients independent of t and form a series of infinite dimensional dynamical systems. Especially, if $\alpha_0 = \cdots = \alpha_{n-1} = 0$, $\alpha_n = 1$, then we obtain the normalized AKNS hierarchy, written as

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}p\\q\end{array}\right)_t = K_n \left[\begin{array}{c}p\\q\end{array}\right],\tag{1.65}$$

where K_n is a nonlinear differential operator defined by

$$K_n \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{n,x}^0 + 2pa_n^0 \\ c_{n,x}^0 - 2qa_n^0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.66)

From this definition and (1.53), we know that K_n is derived from K_{n-1} by recursive algorithm.

1.2.2 $N \times N$ AKNS system

In the last subsection, we introduced the 2×2 AKNS system. In order to obtain more nonlinear partial differential equations, the 2×2 Lax pair should be generalized naturally to the problems of $N \times N$ matrices. Therefore, we discuss the Lax pair

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi = \lambda J\Phi + P(x,t)\Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = V\Phi = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j(x,t)\lambda^{n-j}\Phi$$
(1.67)

where J is an $N \times N$ constant diagonal matrix, P(x,t), $V_j(x,t)$ are $N \times N$ matrices and P(x,t) is off-diagonal (i.e., its diagonal entries are all zero), λ is a spectral parameter. We assume that all the entries of J are distinct, though the assumption can be released with restrictions on P and V.

The integrability condition of (1.67) is still

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0. (1.68)$$

Using the expressions of U and V in (1.67), we have

$$P_t - \sum_{j=0}^n V_{j,x} \lambda^{n-j} + \sum_{j=-1}^{n-1} [J, V_{j+1}] \lambda^{n-j} + \sum_{j=0}^n [P, V_j] \lambda^{n-j} = 0.$$
(1.69)

The coefficients of each power of λ on the left hand side should be zero. This leads to

$$[J, V_0] = 0,$$

$$[J, V_{j+1}] - V_{j,x} + [P, V_j] = 0 \qquad (0 \le j \le n - 1), \qquad (1.70)$$

$$P_t - V_{n,x} + [P, V_n] = 0.$$

For any $N \times N$ matrix M, we divide it as $M = M^{\text{diag}} + M^{\text{off}}$, where M^{diag} is the diagonal part of M and $M^{\text{off}} = M - M^{\text{diag}}$ (hence M^{off} is off-diagonal). Since J is diagonal with distinct diagonal entries and P

is off-diagonal, (1.70) is divided into

$$\begin{split} V_0^{\text{off}} &= 0, \\ V_{j,x}^{\text{diag}} &= [P, V_j^{\text{off}}]^{\text{diag}} \quad (0 \le j \le n), \\ [J, V_{j+1}^{\text{off}}] &= V_{j,x}^{\text{off}} - [P, V_j]^{\text{off}} \quad (0 \le j \le n-1), \end{split}$$
(1.71)

and

$$P_t = V_{n,x}^{\text{off}} - [P, V_n]^{\text{off}}.$$
 (1.72)

We can solve V_j $(j = 0, \dots, n)$ from (1.71) by differentiation and integration. In fact, similar to the 2 × 2 case, V_j can be obtained by differentiation and integration for n = 0, 1, 2, 3. They are differential polynomials of the entries of P. For general n, it can be proved by induction that each entry of V_j is a differential polynomial of the entries of P whose coefficients may depend on t. (The proof is omitted here. See [111]). Therefore, (1.72) gives a system of partial differential equations of the entries of P. We shall write $V_j[P]$ for the V_j to specify the dependence on P.

EXAMPLE 1.6 Let n = 1, $J = A = \text{diag}(a_1, \dots, a_N)$, $V_0 = B = \text{diag}(b_1, \dots, b_N)$ with $a_i \neq a_j$ and $b_i \neq b_j$ $(i \neq j)$. Take $V_1 = Q(x, t)$ whose diagonal entries are all 0, then, from (1.71),

$$Q_{ij} = \frac{b_i - b_j}{a_i - a_j} P_{ij} \quad (i \neq j),$$
(1.73)

and the equation (1.72) becomes

$$P_t = Q_x - [P, Q]^{\text{off}}.$$
 (1.74)

Written in terms of the components, it becomes

$$P_{ij,t} = c_{ij}P_{ij,x} + \sum_{k \neq i,j} (c_{ik} - c_{kj})P_{ik}P_{kj}$$
(1.75)

where

$$c_{ij} = \frac{b_i - b_j}{a_i - a_j}.$$
 (1.76)

This is a system of nonlinear partial differential equations of P_{ij} $(i \neq j)$, called the N wave equation.

Similar to the discussion in Lemma 1.5, let $V_j^0[P]$ be the solution of (1.71) satisfying $V_0[0] = I$, $V_l[0] = 0$ $(1 \le l \le n)$, then the following lemma holds.

Lemma 1.5'. The general solution of (1.71) can be expressed as

$$V_k[P] = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_j V_{k-j}^0[P].$$
(1.77)

where $\alpha_0, \dots, \alpha_n$ are the corresponding integral constants of $\{V_j[P]\}$, which are diagonal matrices independent of x but may depend on t.

1.3 Darboux transformation 1.3.1 Darboux transformation for AKNS system Let

$$F(u, u_x, u_t, u_{xx}, \cdots) = 0, (1.78)$$

be a system of partial differential equations where u is a function or a vector valued function. Consider the AKNS system

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi = (\lambda J + P)\Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = V\Phi = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j \lambda^{n-j}\Phi,$$
(1.79)

where J, P, V_j satisfy the condition in the last section and P is a differential polynomial of u. Suppose (1.78) is equivalent to (1.68), the integrability condition of (1.79), then (1.79) is called the Lax pair of (1.78). In this case, (1.78) is the evolution equation (1.72). The non-degenerate $N \times N$ matrix solution of (1.79) is called a fundamental solution of the Lax pair.

In this section, we suppose that the (off-diagonal) entries of P are independent and (1.78) is the system of differential equations (1.72) in which all off-diagonal entries of P are unknown functions. This system is called unreduced.

We first discuss the Darboux transformation for the unreduced AKNS system.

DEFINITION 1.7 Suppose $D(x,t,\lambda)$ is an $N \times N$ matrix. If for given P and any solution Φ of (1.79), $\Phi' = D\Phi$ satisfies a linear system

$$\Phi'_x = U'\Phi' = (\lambda J + P')\Phi',$$

$$\Phi'_t = V'\Phi' = \sum_{j=0}^n V'_j \lambda^{n-j}\Phi',$$
(1.80)

where P' is an off-diagonal $N \times N$ matrix function, then the transformation $(P, \Phi) \rightarrow (P', \Phi')$ is called a Darboux transformation for the unreduced AKNS system, $D(x, t, \lambda)$ is called a Darboux matrix. A Darboux matrix is of degree k if it is a polynomial of λ of degree k.

18

1+1 dimensional integrable systems

According to this definition, P' satisfies the equation

$$P_t^{\text{off}} - V_{n,x}^{\text{off}} + [P', V_n']^{\text{off}} = 0, \qquad (1.72)'$$

where the entries of V'_n are differential polynomials of P'. Later, we will see that $V'_n = V_n[P']$ when the Darboux matrix is a polynomial of λ . In this case (1.72)' and (1.72) are the same partial differential equations.

Substituting $\Phi' = D\Phi$ into (1.80), we get

$$U' = DUD^{-1} + D_x D^{-1},$$

$$V' = DVD^{-1} + D_t D^{-1}.$$
(1.81)

Proposition 1 If D is a Darboux matrix for (1.79) and D' is a Darboux matrix for (1.80), then D'D is a Darboux matrix for (1.79).

Proof. Since D' is a Darboux matrix for (1.80), there exists $U'' = \lambda J + P''$ (P'' is off-diagonal) and $V'' = \sum_{j=0}^{n} V''_{j} \lambda^{n-j}$ such that $\Phi'' = D' \Phi' = D' D \Phi$ satisfies

$$\Phi_x'' = U'' \Phi'', \qquad \Phi_t'' = V'' \Phi''. \tag{1.82}$$

Hence, by definition, D'D is a Darboux matrix for (1.79).

Remark 7 Any constant diagonal matrix K independent of λ is a Darboux matrix of degree 0, since under its action according to (1.81),

$$\lambda J + P \to \lambda J + KPK^{-1},$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} V_j \lambda^{n-j} \to \sum_{j=0}^{n} KV_j K^{-1} \lambda^{n-j}.$$
(1.83)

If we do not consider the relations among the entries of P, this kind of Darboux matrices are trivial.

Now we first consider the Darboux matrix of degree one, which is linear in λ . Suppose it has the form $\lambda I - S$ where S an $N \times N$ matrix function, I is the identity matrix. According to Proposition 1 and Remark 7, the discussion on the Darboux matrix $K(\lambda I - S)$ (K is a non-degenerate constant matrix which must be diagonal in order to get the first equation of (1.80)) can be reduced to the discussion on the Darboux matrix $\lambda I - S$. Therefore, to construct the Darboux matrix, it is only necessary to construct S. The differential equations of S are derived as follows. From the first equation of (1.80),

$$(\lambda J + P')(\lambda I - S)\Phi = ((\lambda I - S)\Phi)_x = (\lambda I - S)(\lambda J + P)\Phi - S_x\Phi.$$
(1.84)

It must hold for any solution of (1.79). Comparing the coefficients of the powers of λ , we have

$$P' = P + [J, S], (1.85)$$

This is the expression of P'.

The term independent of λ in (1.84) gives

$$S_x = P'S - SP = PS - SP + JS^2 - SJS,$$
 (1.86)

i.e.,

$$S_x + [S, JS + P] = 0. (1.87)$$

This is the first equation which S satisfies.

The second equation of (1.80) leads to

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} V_j' \lambda^{n-j} (\lambda I - S) \Phi = ((\lambda I - S) \Phi)_t$$
$$= (\lambda I - S) \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_j \lambda^{n-j} \Phi - S_t \Phi.$$
(1.88)

Comparing the coefficients of λ^{n+1} , λ^n , \cdots , λ , we can determine $\{V'_j\}$ recursively by

$$V'_0 = V_0, \qquad V'_{j+1} = V_{j+1} + V'_j S - SV_j,$$
 (1.89)

and get the second equation of S

$$S_t = V_n'S - SV_n. (1.90)$$

From (1.89) V_j 's can be expressed as

$$V'_{0} = V_{0},$$

$$V'_{j} = V_{j} + \sum_{k=1}^{j} [V_{j-k}, S] S^{k-1} \qquad (1 \le j \le n),$$
(1.91)

and (1.90) becomes

$$S_t + [S, \sum_{j=0}^n V_j S^{n-j}] = 0.$$
(1.92)

THEOREM 1.8 $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.79) if and only if S satisfies

$$S_{x} + [S, JS + P] = 0,$$

$$S_{t} + [S, \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_{j}S^{n-j}] = 0.$$
(1.93)

Moreover, under the action of the Darboux matrix $\lambda I - S$, P' = P + [J, S].

Proof. Suppose $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix, then (1.93) is just (1.87) and (1.92) derived above. Conversely, if (1.87) and (1.92) hold, then for any solution Φ of (1.79), there are the relations (1.84) and (1.88). Hence (1.80) holds for the P' determined by (1.85) and the $\{V'_j\}$ determined by (1.89), which means that $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix.

This theorem implies that we need to solve S from the system of nonlinear partial differential equations (1.93) to get the Darboux matrix. Fortunately, most of the solutions of (1.93) can be constructed explicitly. The following theorem gives the explicit construction of the Darboux matrix of degree one.

Suppose P is a solution of (1.72). Take complex numbers $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N$ such that they are not all the same. Let $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N)$. Let h_i be a column solution of (1.79) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$. $H = (h_1, \dots, h_N)$. When det $H \neq 0$, let

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1}, \tag{1.94}$$

then we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.9 The matrix $\lambda I - S$ defined by (1.94) is a Darboux matrix for (1.79).

Proof. h_i is a solution of (1.79) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$, that is, it satisfies

$$h_{i,x} = \lambda_i J h_i + P h_i,$$

$$h_{i,t} = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j \lambda^{n-j} h_i.$$
(1.95)

By taking the derivatives of $H = (h_1, h_2, \dots, h_N)$ with respect to x and t, (1.95) is equivalent to

$$H_x = JH\Lambda + PH,$$

$$H_t = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j H\Lambda^{n-j}.$$
(1.96)

Hence

$$S_{x} = H_{x}\Lambda H^{-1} - H\Lambda H^{-1}H_{x}H^{-1} = [H_{x}H^{-1}, S]$$

= [JS + P, S]
$$S_{t} = H_{t}\Lambda H^{-1} - H\Lambda H^{-1}H_{t}H^{-1} = [H_{t}H^{-1}, S]$$

= [$\sum_{j=0}^{n} V_{j}S^{n-j}, S$]. (1.97)

Therefore, the matrix S defined by (1.94) is a solution of (1.93). Theorem 1.8 implies that $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.79). The theorem is proved.

THEOREM 1.10 For any given (x_0, t_0) and the matrix S_0 , (1.93) has a solution satisfying $S(x_0, t_0) = S_0$. That is, the system is integrable.

Proof. First suppose the Jordan form of S_0 is a diagonal matrix. Suppose its eigenvalues are $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N$ and the corresponding eigenvectors are h_{0i} . Let h_i be a solution of (1.95) satisfying $h_i(x_0, t_0) = h_{0i}$. Then these h_i are linearly independent in a neighborhood of (x_0, t_0) . Theorem 1.9 implies that the Darboux matrix exists, i.e., (1.93) has a solution. If the Jordan form of S_0 is not diagonal, then there is a series of matrices $\{S_0^{(k)}\}$ such that the Jordan form of $S_0^{(k)}$ is diagonal and $S_0^{(k)} \to S_0$ as $k \to \infty$. Construct S according to (1.94) with initial value $S_0^{(k)}$, then $S^{(k)}$ solves (1.93). The smooth dependency of the solution of (1.93) to the initial value implies that $S^{(k)} \to S$ and $S_x^{(k)}$, $S_t^{(k)}$ converge in a neighborhood of (x_0, t_0) . Therefore S is a solution of (1.93) with initial value S_0 . Thus (1.93) is solvable for any given initial value, which means that it is integrable. The theorem is proved.

We can also prove this theorem by direct but tedious calculation.

This theorem implies that a Darboux matrix of degree one can be obtained either by (1.94) or the limit of such Darboux matrices.

Remark 8 h_i can be expressed as $h_i = \Phi(\lambda_i)l_i$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N)$, where l_1 , l_2, \dots, l_N are N linearly independent constant column matrices. Hence H in (1.94) can be written as

$$H = (\Phi(\lambda_1)l_1, \Phi(\lambda_2)l_2, \cdots, \Phi(\lambda_N)l_N).$$
(1.98)

This construction of Darboux matrix was given by [33, 94]. Theorem 1.9 and 1.10 implies that (1.94) contains all the matrices S which are similar to diagonal matrices and $\lambda I - S$ are Darboux matrices of

22

degree one. A Darboux matrix expressed by (1.94) is called a diagonalizable Darboux matrix or Darboux matrix with explicit expressions. It is useful in constructing the solutions because it is expressed explicitly. Hereafter, we mostly use the diagonalizable Darboux matrices and the word "diagonalizable" is omitted.

The "single soliton solution" can be obtained by the Darboux transformation from the seed solution P = 0.

For P = 0, the fundamental solution of (1.67) is $\Phi = e^{\lambda J x + \Omega(\lambda, t)}$ where $\Omega(t) = \int \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_j[0](t) \lambda^{n-j} dt$ is a diagonal matrix. For any constants $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N$ and column matrices l_1, \dots, l_N , let

$$H = \left(e^{\lambda_1 J x + \Omega(\lambda_1, t)} l_1, \cdots, e^{\lambda_N J x + \Omega(\lambda_N, t)} l_N \right), \qquad (1.99)$$

then

$$P' = [J, H\Lambda H^{-1}]$$
 (1.100)

is a solution of (1.72) and the fundamental solution of the Lax pair (1.80) is $\Phi' = (\lambda I - H\Lambda H^{-1})\Phi$.

Remark 9 If $V_j[0]$ depends on t, then $\Omega(\lambda_i, t)$ is not a linear function of t, hence the velocities of the solitons are not constants [45].

The double soliton solution can be obtained from P' by applying further Darboux transformation. Since Φ' is known in this process, P''and Φ'' can be obtained by a purely algebraic algorithm. The multisoliton solutions are obtained similarly.

For general AKNS system, det $H \neq 0$ may not hold for all (x, t). Therefore, the solutions given by Darboux transformations may not be regular for all (x, t).

1.3.2 Invariance of equations under Darboux transformations

We have known that (P', V'_j) and (P, V_j) satisfy the same recursion relations (1.71) and (1.72) holds true for the two sets of functions. V'_j is a differential polynomial of P' which is expressed by a similar equality as (1.77), i.e.,

$$V'_{k}[P'] = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha'_{j}(t) V^{0}_{k-j}[P'].$$
(1.101)

Here we prove that actually the coefficients $\alpha'_0(t), \dots, \alpha'_n(t)$ are the same as $\alpha_0(t), \dots, \alpha_n(t)$ respectively. Therefore P' and P satisfy the same evolution equation (1.72).

THEOREM 1.11 Suppose V_j 's are differential polynomials of P satisfying (1.71). S is a matrix satisfying (1.87), V_i 's are defined by (1.89) and P' = P + [J, S]. Then V_i 's are differential polynomials of P' and

$$V'_{j}[P'] = V_{j}[P']$$
 $(j = 1, 2, \cdots, n).$ (1.102)

Proof. At first we see that the equation P' = P + [J, S] is equivalent to P = P' - [J, S] and the equation (1.87) is equivalent to

$$S_x = [P' + SJ, S]. (1.103)$$

Moreover, for arbitrary x-function P'. This equation admits solutions in a neighborhood around any given point $x = x_0$. Thus we may consider P' as an arbitrary off-diagonal matrix-valued function of x.

From (1.89) we have

$$[J, V'_{j+1}] - V'_{j,x} + [P', V'_{j}]$$

= $[J, V_{j+1}] - V_{j,x} + [P, V_{j}] + ([J, V'_{j}] - V'_{j-1,x} + [P', V'_{j-1}])S$ (1.104)
 $-S([J, V_{j}] - V_{j-1,x} + [P, V_{j-1}])$ $(j = 0, \dots, n-1).$

Using induction, we know that

$$[J, V'_{j+1}] - V'_{j,x} + [P', V'_j] = 0 \quad (j = 0, \cdots, n-1)$$
(1.105)

from the equations (1.71) for $V_i[P]$. Moreover, we can prove

$$V_{n,x}^{'\text{diag}} - [P', V_n']^{\text{diag}} = 0.$$
 (1.106)

This means that V'_j and P' also satisfy (1.71). Therefore, as mentioned above, V'_j can be expressed as a differential polynomial of P': $V'_j = V'_j[P']$. Let

$$\Delta_j[P'] = V'_j[P'] - V_j[P'], \qquad (1.107)$$

(1.89) implies $\Delta_0 = 0$. Suppose $\Delta_k = 0$, then (1.71) leads to

$$[J, \Delta_{k+1}] = \Delta_{k,x}^{\text{off}} - [P', \Delta_k]^{\text{off}} = 0, \qquad (1.108)$$

hence $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{off}} = 0$. From (1.71),

$$\Delta_{k+1,x}^{\text{diag}} = [P', \Delta_{k+1}]^{\text{off}} = 0, \qquad (1.109)$$

which means that $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}[P']$ is independent of x. We should prove that $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}[P']$ is independent of P'. Denote P'_{ij} be the entries of P', $P'_{ij}^{(\alpha)}$ be

the α th derivative of P'_{ij} with respect to x. Suppose the order of the highest derivatives of P' in $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}$ is r, then

$$0 = \frac{\partial \Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}}{\partial x} = \sum_{i,j} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r} \frac{\partial \Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}}{\partial P_{ij}^{\prime(\alpha)}} P_{ij}^{\prime(\alpha+1)}.$$
 (1.110)

In this equation, the coefficient of $P_{ij}^{\prime(r+1)}$ should be 0. Hence $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}}$ does not contain the *r*th derivative of P', which means that it is independent of P'. Especially, let S = 0, P = P', then (1.89) implies $\Delta_{k+1}^{\text{diag}} = 0$. Thus (1.102) is proved

Theorem 1.11 implies that for the evolution equations (1.72) in the AKNS system, the Darboux transformation transforms a solution of an equation to a new solution of the same equation.

Note that the Darboux transformation

$$(P, \Phi) \longrightarrow (P', \Phi')$$
 (1.111)

defined by

$$P' = P + [J, S], \quad \Phi' = (\lambda I - S)\Phi$$
 (1.112)

can be taken successively in a purely algebraic algorithm and leads to an infinite series of solutions of the AKNS system:

$$(P, \Phi) \longrightarrow (P', \Phi') \longrightarrow (P'', \Phi'') \longrightarrow \cdots$$
 (1.113)

1.3.3 Darboux transformations of higher degree and the theorem of permutability

The Darboux matrices discussed above are all of degree one. In this subsection, we construct Darboux matrices with explicit expressions which are the polynomials of λ of degree > 1. Then we derive the theorem of permutability from the Darboux matrices of degree two.

Clearly, the composition of r Darboux transformations of degree one gives a Darboux transformation of degree r. On the other hand, we can also construct the Darboux transformations of degree r directly.

As known above, a Darboux matrix of degree one is $D(x, t, \lambda) = \lambda I - S$ where S is given by (1.94) if it can be diagonalized (Theorem 1.9). Then, $SH = H\Lambda$ is equivalent to $D(x, t, \lambda_i)h_i = 0$ where h_i is a column solution of the Lax pair for $\lambda = \lambda_i$ such that det $H = \det(h_1, \dots, h_N) \neq 0$. This fact can be generalized to the Darboux matrix of degree r, that is, we can consider an $N \times N$ Darboux matrix in the form

$$D(x,t,\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{r} D_{r-j}(x,t)\lambda^{j}, \quad D_0 = I.$$
 (1.114)

Take Nr complex numbers $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_{Nr}$ and the column solution h_i of the Lax pair for $\lambda = \lambda_i$ $(i = 1, \dots, Nr)$. Let

$$F_{r} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{1} & h_{2} & \cdots & h_{Nr} \\ \lambda_{1}h_{1} & \lambda_{2}h_{2} & \cdots & \lambda_{Nr}h_{Nr} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \lambda_{1}^{r-1}h_{1} & \lambda_{2}^{r-1}h_{2} & \cdots & \lambda_{Nr}^{r-1}h_{Nr} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.115)

which is an $Nr \times Nr$ matrix. The system $D(x, t, \lambda_i)h_i = 0$ is equivalent to

$$\sum_{j=0}^{r-1} D_{r-j}(x,t)\lambda_i^j h_i = -\lambda_i^r h_i \qquad (i = 1, \cdots, Nr)$$
(1.116)

and can be written as

$$(D_r, D_{r-1}, \cdots, D_1)F_r = -(\lambda_1^r h_1, \cdots, \lambda_{Nr}^r h_{Nr}).$$
 (1.117)

This is a system of linear algebraic equations for $(D_r, D_{r-1}, \dots, D_1)$. When det $F_r \neq 0$, it has a unique solution $(D_r, D_{r-1}, \dots, D_1)$. Therefore, when det $F_r \neq 0$, there exists a unique $N \times N$ matrix $D(x, t, \lambda)$ satisfying $D(x, t, \lambda_i)h_i = 0$ $(i = 1, \dots, Nr)$. We write it as $D(h_1, \dots, h_{Nr}, \lambda)$ to indicate that D is constructed from h_1, \dots, h_{Nr} .

The next theorem shows that it is a Darboux matrix and decomposable as a product of two Darboux matrices of lower degree [52, 74].

THEOREM 1.12 Given Nr complex numbers $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{Nr}$. Let h_i be a column solution of the Lax pair (1.79) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$ $(i = 1, \dots, Nr)$, F_r be defined by (1.115). Suppose det $F_r \neq 0$, then the following conclusions hold.

(1) There exists a unique matrix $D(h_1, \dots, h_{Nr}, \lambda)$ in the form (1.114) such that

$$D(h_1, \cdots, h_{Nr}, \lambda_i)h_i = 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, \cdots, Nr).$$
(1.118)

In this case, $D(h_1, \dots, h_{Nr}, \lambda)$ is a Darboux matrix of degree r for (1.79). (2) If det $F_{r-1} \neq 0$, then the above Darboux matrix of degree r can be decomposed as

$$D(h_1, \cdots, h_{Nr}, \lambda) = D\left(D(h_1, \cdots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda_{N(r-1)+1})h_{N(r-1)+1}, \cdots, D(h_1, \cdots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda_{Nr})h_{Nr}, \lambda\right) \cdot D(h_1, \cdots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda).$$

$$(1.119)$$

26

On the right hand side of this equality, the first term is a Darboux matrix of degree one and the second term is a Darboux matrix of degree (r-1).

(3) The Darboux matrix $D(h_1, \dots, h_{Nr}, \lambda)$ of degree r can be decomposed into the product of r Darboux matrices of degree one. (1) $\widetilde{P} = P$ [L D] is a solution of (1.72)

(4) $\tilde{P} = P - [J, D_1]$ is a solution of (1.72).

Proof. We first prove (2). Let

$$\Lambda_k = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_{N(k-1)+1}, \cdots, \lambda_{Nk}), \qquad (1.120)$$

$$H_k = (h_{N(k-1)+1}, \cdots, h_{Nk}), \tag{1.121}$$

then

$$F_{r} = \begin{pmatrix} H_{1} & H_{2} & \cdots & H_{r} \\ H_{1}\Lambda_{1} & H_{2}\Lambda_{2} & \cdots & H_{r}\Lambda_{r} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{1}\Lambda_{1}^{r-1} & H_{2}\Lambda_{2}^{r-1} & \cdots & H_{r}\Lambda_{r}^{r-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.122)

Since

$$F_{r-1} = \begin{pmatrix} H_1 & H_2 & \cdots & H_{r-1} \\ H_1 \Lambda_1 & H_2 \Lambda_2 & \cdots & H_{r-1} \Lambda_{r-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_1 \Lambda_1^{r-2} & H_2 \Lambda_2^{r-2} & \cdots & H_{r-1} \Lambda_{r-1}^{r-2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.123)

is non-degenerate, there is a matrix $D(h_1, \dots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda)$ of degree (r-1) with respect to λ such that

$$D(h_1, \dots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda_i)h_i = 0$$
 $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N(r-1)).$ (1.124)

Let

$$h'_{i} = D(h_{1}, \cdots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda_{i})h_{i}$$
 $(i = N(r-1) + 1, \cdots, Nr).$ (1.125)

Construct a Darboux matrix $D(h'_{N(r-1)+1}, \cdots, h'_{Nr}, \lambda)$ from h'_i and let

$$D'(\lambda) = D(h'_{N(r-1)+1}, \cdots, h'_{Nr}, \lambda) D(h_1, \cdots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda), \quad (1.126)$$

then $D'(\lambda_i)h_i = 0$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N(r-1))$. Moreover, for $i = N(r-1) + 1, \dots, Nr$,

$$D'(\lambda_i)h_i = D(h'_{N(r-1)+1}, \cdots, h'_{Nr}, \lambda_i)h'_i = 0.$$
(1.127)

Hence $D'(\lambda) = D(\lambda)$.

Thus, we have decomposed the matrix of degree r determined by (1.116) to the product of a matrix of degree (r - 1) and a matrix of degree one, expressed by (1.119). This proves (2).

For $D(h_1, \dots, h_{N(r-1)}, \lambda)$, if all the determinants of F_{r-2}, F_{r-3}, \dots are non-zero, then $D(h_1, \dots, h_N, \lambda)$ can be decomposed to r matrices of degree one by repeating the above procedure. For $r = 1, D(h_1, \dots, h_N, \lambda)$ is a Darboux matrix. Hence $D(h_1, \dots, h_{Nr}, \lambda)$ is also a Darboux matrix and it can be decomposed to the product of r Darboux matrices of degree one:

$$D = (\lambda I - S_r) \cdots (\lambda I - S_1). \tag{1.128}$$

Since det $F_r \neq 0$, we can always permute the subscripts of Λ_i and H_i so that all the determinants of F_{r-2} , F_{r-3} , \cdots are non-zero. (3) is proved.

Since D is the product of r Darboux matrices of degree one, D itself is a Darboux matrix. Hence (1) holds.

Note that

$$D_1 = -(S_1 + \dots + S_r). \tag{1.129}$$

After the transformation of $\lambda I - S_1$, $P \to P' = P + [J, S_1]$. Then after the transformation of $\lambda I - S_2$, $P' \to P'' = P' + [J, S_2]$, and so on. Hence, after the transformation of D,

$$P \to P + [J, S_1 + \dots + S_r] = P - [J, D_1].$$
 (1.130)

Therefore, $P - [J, D_1]$ is a solution of (1.72). (4) is proved. This proves the lemma.

Darboux transformation has an important property — the theorem of permutability. This theorem originated from the Bäcklund transformation of the sine-Gordon equation and there are a lot of generalizations and various proofs. The proof here is given by [52] (2 × 2 case) and [33] $(N \times N \text{ case})$. This proof does not depend on any boundary conditions and the permutation of the parameters is expressed definitely.

From the solution $(P, \Phi(\lambda))$, we can construct the Darboux transformation with parameters $\lambda_1^{(1)}, \dots, \lambda_N^{(1)}$ and the solutions $h_i^{(1)} = \Phi(\lambda_i) l_i^{(1)}$ of the Lax pair. Then the solution $(P^{(1)}, \Phi^{(1)}(\lambda))$ is obtained. Here $l_i^{(1)}$'s are N constant vectors. Next, construct a Darboux matrix for $(P^{(1)}, \Phi^{(1)}(\lambda))$ with parameters $\lambda_1^{(2)}, \dots, \lambda_N^{(2)}$ and $l_i^{(2)}$ to get $(P^{(1,2)}, \Phi^{(1,2)}(\lambda))$. On the other hand, construct the Darboux transformation for $(P, \Phi(\lambda))$ with parameters $\lambda_i^{(2)}$ and $l_i^{(2)}$ to get $(P^{(2)}, \Phi^{(2)}(\lambda))$. Then construct the Darboux transformation with parameters $\lambda_i^{(1)}$ and $l_i^{(1)}$ to get $(P^{(2,1)}, \Phi^{(2,1)}(\lambda))$. The following theorem holds.

28

1+1 dimensional integrable systems

THEOREM 1.13 (Theorem of permutability) Suppose

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} H_1 & H_2 \\ H_1 \Lambda_1 & H_2 \Lambda_2 \end{pmatrix} \neq 0, \qquad (1.131)$$

then

$$(P^{(1,2)}, \Phi^{(1,2)}(\lambda)) = (P^{(2,1)}, \Phi^{(2,1)}(\lambda)).$$
(1.132)

Proof. Theorem 1.12 implies that $\Phi^{(1,2)}(\lambda)$ and $\Phi^{(2,1)}(\lambda)$ are both obtained from $\Phi(\lambda)$ by the action of the Darboux transformation of degree two, and are expressed by

$$\Phi^{(1,2)}(\lambda) = D(h_1^{(1)}, \cdots, h_N^{(1)}, h_1^{(2)}, \cdots, h_N^{(2)}, \lambda),$$

$$\phi^{(2,1)}(\lambda) = D(h_1^{(2)}, \cdots, h_N^{(2)}, h_1^{(1)}, \cdots, h_N^{(1)}, \lambda).$$
(1.133)

From (1) of Theorem 1.12, we know that the right hand side of the above equations are equal. Hence the theorem of permutability holds.

The theorem of permutability can be expressed by the following Bianchi diagram:

$$(P^{(1)}, \Phi^{(1)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(2)}, L^{(2)}} (P^{(1)}, \Phi^{(1)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(2)}, L^{(2)}} (P^{(1,2)}, \Phi^{(1,2)}) = (P^{(2,1)}, \Phi^{(2,1)})$$

$$(P^{(2)}, \Phi^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(1)}, L^{(1)}} (P^{(2)}, \Phi^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(1)}, L^{(1)}} (P^{(2)}, \Phi^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(2)}, L^{(2)}} (P^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^{(2)}, L^{(2)}} (P^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{\Lambda^$$

(1.134)

Here $L^{(1)}$ and $L^{(2)}$ denote the sets $\{l_i^{(1)}\}$ and $\{l_i^{(2)}\}$ respectively.

Remark 10 The Darboux transformation of higher degree is much more complicated than the Darboux transformation of degree one. The theorem of decomposition implies that Darboux transformations of degree one can generate Darboux transformations of higher degree. Therefore, we can use Darboux transformations of degree one successively instead of a Darboux transformation of higher degree so as to avoid the calculation of the determinant of a matrix of very high order (of order Nr). Since the algorithm for the Darboux transformation of degree one is purely algebraic and independent of the seed solution P, it is quite convenient to calculate the solutions using symbolic calculation with computer. However, some solutions, e.g., multi-solitons can be expressed by an explicit formulae by using Darboux transformations of higher degree [80].
Remark 11 The proof for Theorem 1.13 is for the Darboux transformations with explicit expressions. Since any Darboux transformation without explicit expression is a limit of Darboux transformations with explicit expressions, the theorem of permutability also holds for the Darboux transformations without explicit expressions.

Now we compute the more explicit expression of the Darboux matrix of degree two. Suppose it is constructed from (Λ_1, H_1) and (Λ_2, H_2) which satisfy (1.131). Let $S_j = H_j \Lambda_j H_j^{-1}$ and denote

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1^{(\alpha)}, \cdots, \lambda_N^{(\alpha)}), \quad H_{\alpha} = (h_1^{(\alpha)}, \cdots, h_N^{(\alpha)}).$$

After the action of $\lambda I - S_1$, $h_j^{(2)}$ is transformed to $(\lambda_j^{(2)}I - S_1)h_j^{(2)}$. Hence H_2 is transformed to $\tilde{H}_2 = H_2\Lambda_2 - S_1H_2 = (S_2 - S_1)H_2$. The second Darboux matrix of degree one is $\lambda I - \tilde{S}_2$ where

$$\widetilde{S}_2 = \widetilde{H}_2 \Lambda_2 \widetilde{H}_2^{-1} = (S_2 - S_1) S_2 (S_2 - S_1)^{-1}.$$
(1.135)

According to (1.131), $S_2 - S_1$ is non-degenerate. The Darboux matrix of degree two is

$$D(\lambda) = (\lambda I - \tilde{S}_2)(\lambda I - S_1)$$

= $\lambda^2 I - \lambda (S_2^2 - S_1^2)(S_2 - S_1)^{-1} + (S_2 - S_1)S_2(S_2 - S_1)^{-1}S_1.$
(1.136)

It is easy to check that $D(\lambda)$ is symmetric to S_1 and S_2 . Therefore, we can also obtain the theorem of permutability by this symmetry.

1.3.4 More results on the Darboux matrices of degree one

In this subsection, we show that the Darboux matrix method in Theorem 1.9 can be applied not only to the AKNS system, but also to many other evolution equations, especially to the Lax pairs whose U and V are polynomials of λ . On the other hand, we also show that those Darboux matrices include all the diagonalizable Darboux matrices of the form $\lambda I - S$, and any non-diagonalizable Darboux matrix can be obtained from the limit of diagonalizable Darboux matrices.

We generalize the Lax pair (1.79) to

$$\begin{split} \Phi_x &= U\Phi, \\ \Phi_t &= V\Phi, \end{split} \tag{1.137}$$

where U and V are polynomials of the spectral parameter λ :

m

$$U(x,t,\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\n}}^{m} U_j(x,t)\lambda^{m-j},$$

$$V(x,t,\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{n} V_j(x,t)\lambda^{n-j},$$
(1.138)

 U_j 's and V_j 's are $N \times N$ matrices.

Clearly, the integrability condition of (1.137) is

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0. (1.139)$$

In this subsection, we still discuss the Darboux matrices for the Lax pairs without reductions. That is, we suppose that all the entries of U_j 's and V_j 's are independent except for the partial differential equations (1.139). This is to say that apart from the integrability condition (1.139), there is no other constraint. Therefore, the nonlinear partial differential equation to be studied is just (1.139), i.e., the equations given by the coefficients of each power of λ in (1.139) and the unknowns are the $N \times N$ matrices U_j and V_j $(j = 0, 1, \dots, n)$. Compared with Subsection 1.3.1, $D = \lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix if and only if there exist

$$U'(x,t,\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\n}}^{m} U'_{j}(x,t)\lambda^{m-j},$$

$$V'(x,t,\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{n} V'_{j}(x,t)\lambda^{n-j}$$
(1.140)

such that $\Phi' = (\lambda I - S)\Phi$ satisfies

$$\Phi'_x = U'\Phi', \qquad \Phi'_t = V'\Phi' \tag{1.141}$$

where Φ is a fundamental solution of (1.137).

Clearly, U' and V' have the expressions

$$U' = DUD^{-1} + D_x D^{-1},$$

$$V' = DVD^{-1} + D_t D^{-1}$$
(1.142)

and they satisfy

$$U'_t - V'_x + [U', V'] = 0. (1.143)$$

The remaining problem is to obtain S so that (1.141) holds. If S is obtained, we have the Darboux transformation

$$(U, V, \Phi) \to (U', V', \Phi').$$
 (1.144)

Comparing to Theorem 1.8, 1.9 and 1.10, we have

Theorem 1.8'. $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix of degree one for (1.137) if and only if S satisfies

$$S_x + [S, U(S)] = 0, \qquad S_t + [S, V(S)] = 0.$$
 (1.145)

Here

$$U(S) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} U_j S^{m-j}, \qquad V(S) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_j S^{n-j}.$$
 (1.146)

Now suppose (U, V) satisfies the integrability condition (1.139). For given constant diagonal matrix $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N)$, let h_i be a column solution of (1.137) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$, $H = (h_1, \dots, h_N)$. If det $H \neq 0$, let $S = H\Lambda H^{-1}$, then the following theorems holds.

Theorem 1.9'. The matrix $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.137).

Theorem 1.10'. The system (1.145) is integrable.

The proofs are omitted since they are similar to the proofs for the corresponding theorems above.

Note that for the AKNS system, we can solve $V_i[P]$'s from a system of differential equations by choosing "integral constants" and these $V_i[P]$'s are differential polynomials of P. The remaining equation is only the equation (1.72) for P. In the present case, all the entries of U_i and V_i are regarded as independent unknowns satisfying the partial differential equations (1.139).

The inverse of Theorem 1.9' also holds.

THEOREM 1.14 (1) If $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.137) and S is diagonalized at one point, then there exists a constant diagonal matrix $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N)$ and column solutions h_i 's of the Lax pair (1.137) for $\lambda = \lambda_i$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ such that $H = (h_1, \dots, h_N)$ and $S = H\Lambda H^{-1}$.

(2) If $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.137) but it can not be diagonalized at any points, then there exist a series of Darboux matrices $\lambda I - S_k$ such that S_k 's and their derivatives with respect to x and t converge to S and its derivatives respectively.

The proof is similar to that for Theorem 1.10.

EXAMPLE 1.15 An example of a Darboux matrix which is not diagonalizable everywhere.

Consider the Lax pair

$$\Phi_{x} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & p \\ q & -\lambda \end{pmatrix} \Phi,
\Phi_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} -2i\lambda^{2} + ipq & -2i\lambda p - ip_{x} \\ -2i\lambda q + iq_{x} & 2i\lambda^{2} - ipq \end{pmatrix} \Phi$$
(1.147)

whose integrability condition leads to the nonlinear evolution equations

$$ip_t = p_{xx} - 2p^2 q, \qquad -iq_t = q_{xx} - 2pq^2.$$
 (1.148)

This system of equations has a solution

$$p = \alpha \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{-i\alpha^2 t}, \qquad q = -\alpha \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{i\alpha^2 t}, \qquad (1.149)$$

which is derived from the trivial solution p=q=0 by the Darboux matrix $D=\lambda I-H\Lambda H^{-1}$ with

$$\Lambda = \frac{\alpha}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\alpha^{2}t/2} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i\alpha^{2}t/2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\alpha x/2} & -e^{-\alpha x/2} \\ e^{-\alpha x/2} & e^{\alpha x/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.150)

Now we take (1.149) as a seed solution, whose corresponding fundamental solution of the Lax pair (1.147) is

$$(\lambda I - H\Lambda H^{-1}) \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda x - 2i\lambda^2 t} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-\lambda x + 2i\lambda^2 t} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.151)

Take

$$\Lambda^{(\epsilon)} = \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.152)$$

then we can choose

$$H^{(\epsilon)} = \begin{pmatrix} h_{11}^{(\epsilon)} & h_{12}^{(\epsilon)} \\ h_{21}^{(\epsilon)} & h_{22}^{(\epsilon)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.153)$$

where

$$h_{11}^{(\epsilon)} = \left(\frac{2\epsilon^2}{\alpha} - \epsilon \tanh(\alpha x)\right) e^{\theta} - \frac{\alpha}{2} \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{-i\alpha^2 t - \theta},$$

$$h_{12}^{(\epsilon)} = -\epsilon \tanh(\alpha x) + \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{-i\alpha^2 t},$$

$$h_{21}^{(\epsilon)} = -\epsilon \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{i\alpha^2 t + \theta} + \left(\epsilon + \frac{\alpha}{2} \tanh(\alpha x)\right) e^{-\theta},$$

$$h_{22}^{(\epsilon)} = -\epsilon \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{i\alpha^2 t} - \tanh(\alpha x),$$

$$\theta = \epsilon x - 2i\epsilon^2 t.$$

(1.154)

When $\epsilon \to 0$,

$$H^{(\epsilon)}\Lambda^{(\epsilon)}(H^{(\epsilon)})^{-1} \to S, \qquad (1.155)$$

$$S = \frac{\alpha}{\Delta} \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\alpha x)e^{-i\alpha^2 t} & e^{-2i\alpha^2 t} \\ -\sinh^2(\alpha x) & -\sinh(\alpha x)e^{-i\alpha^2 t} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (1.156)

$$p' = \frac{2\alpha e^{-2i\alpha^2 t}}{\Delta}, \qquad q' = \frac{2\alpha \sinh^2(\alpha x)}{\Delta}$$
(1.157)

where

$$\Delta = (\alpha + 2 - 2 \operatorname{sech}(\alpha x) e^{-i\alpha^2 t}) \cosh^2(\alpha x).$$
 (1.158)

Note that both eigenvalues of S are zero, but $S \neq 0$. Hence S is not diagonalizable. However, from the construction of S, we know that $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix, i.e., it satisfies (1.145).

Finally, the conclusions for the Darboux transformations of higher degree and the theorem of permutability in Subsection 1.3.3 also hold for the general Lax pair (1.137). Moreover, when U and V in (1.137) are generalized to rational functions of λ , similar conclusions hold [121].

1.4 KdV hierarchy, MKdV-SG hierarchy, NLS hierarchy and AKNS system with u(N) reduction

In the last section, we discussed the Darboux transformations for the AKNS system and more general systems. In those cases, we supposed that there were no reductions. In particular, there were no restrictions among the off-diagonal entries of P. However, in many cases, there are constraints on P and the Darboux transformation should keep those constraints. This problem is solved in many cases. Nevertheless, it should be very interesting to establish a systematic method to treat with reduced problems.

In this section, we first discuss some equations when N = 2 and there is certain relation between p and q. They are the important special cases of the 2 × 2 AKNS system: (1) KdV hierarchy: p is real and q = -1; (2) MKdV-SG hierarchy: q = -p is real; (3) Nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy: $q = -\bar{p}$. These special cases were studied widely (e.g. [82, 88, 91, 105, 117, 118]). Here we use a unified method to deal with the whole hierarchy, and the coefficients may depend on t [32, 45]. At the end of this section, we discuss the general AKNS system with u(N) reduction. This is a generalization of the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy and has many applications to other problems.

1.4.1 KdV hierarchy

Consider the Lax pair [45]

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi, \qquad \Phi_t = V\Phi \tag{1.159}$$

where

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ \zeta - u & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad V = \begin{pmatrix} A & B\\ C & -A \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.160)$$

A, B and C are polynomials of the spectral parameter ζ .

Compared with Section 1.2, the integrability condition (1.68) leads to

$$-A_x + C - B(\zeta - u) = 0, \qquad B_x + 2A = 0,$$

$$-u_t - C_x + 2A(\zeta - u) = 0.$$
 (1.161)

The first two equations imply

$$A = -\frac{1}{2}B_x,$$

(1.162)
$$C = \zeta B - uB - \frac{1}{2}B_{xx}.$$

Substituting (1.162) into (1.161) we get

$$u_t = -2(\zeta - u)B_x + u_x B + \frac{1}{2}B_{xxx}.$$
 (1.163)

Let

$$B = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j(x,t)\zeta^{n-j},$$
(1.164)

then (1.163) leads to

$$b_{0,x} = 0,$$

$$b_{j+1,x} = ub_{j,x} + \frac{1}{2}u_x b_j + \frac{1}{4}b_{j,xxx} \quad (0 \le j \le n-1),$$
(1.165)

$$u_t = 2ub_{n,x} + u_x b_n + \frac{1}{2}b_{n,xxx}.$$
 (1.166)

(1.166) is the equation of u. When $n \ge 2$, it is called a KdV equation of higher order.

Similar to Lemma 1.5, (1.165) leads to

$$b_k = \sum_{j=0}^k \alpha_{k-j}(t) b_j^0[u], \qquad (1.167)$$

where $b_j^0[u]$'s satisfy the recursion relations (1.165) and $b_0^0[0] = 1$, $b_j^0[0] = 0$ $(j \ge 1)$. Clearly $b_j^0[u]$'s are determined by (1.165) uniquely.

The first few b_j^0 's are

$$b_0^0 = 1, \quad b_1^0 = \frac{1}{2}u,$$

 $b_2^0 = \frac{1}{8}u_{xx} + \frac{3}{8}u^2, \cdots.$ (1.168)

The corresponding equations are

n = 0: Linear equation

$$u_t = \alpha_0(t)u_x. \tag{1.169}$$

n = 1:

$$u_t = \alpha_0(t) \left(\frac{1}{4}u_{xxx} + \frac{3}{2}uu_x\right) + \alpha_1(t)u_x.$$
 (1.170)

If $\alpha_0 = \text{constant}$, $\alpha_1 = 0$, (1.170) is the standard KdV equation. n = 2:

$$u_{t} = \alpha_{0}(t) \Big(\frac{1}{16} u_{xxxxx} + \frac{5}{8} u u_{xxx} + \frac{5}{4} u_{x} u_{xx} + \frac{15}{8} u^{2} u_{x} \Big) + \alpha_{1}(t) \Big(\frac{1}{4} u_{xxx} + \frac{3}{2} u u_{x} \Big) + \alpha_{2}(t) u_{x},$$
(1.171)

which is called the KdV equation of 5th-order.

Next we discuss the Darboux transformation for the KdV hierarchy by using the general results for the AKNS system. It seems that the calculation is tedious. However, we can see the application of the general results more clearly. The method here is valid to the whole hierarchy comparing to the special method in Section 1.1.

The U and V given by (1.160) are different from those of the AKNS system. However, the Lax pair can be transformed to a Lax pair in the AKNS system by a similar transformation given by a constant matrix depending on ζ .

$$R = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad (\lambda^2 = \zeta),$$

$$\Psi = R\Phi,$$

$$\widetilde{U} = RUR^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u \\ -1 & -\lambda \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\widetilde{V} = RVR^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda B - A & \lambda^2 B - 2\lambda A - C \\ -B & A - \lambda B \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.172)

then Ψ satisfies

Let

$$\Psi_x = \tilde{U}\Psi, \qquad \Psi_t = \tilde{V}\Psi. \tag{1.173}$$

This is the Lax pair for the KdV equation in the AKNS form. The Darboux transformation can be constructed based on the discussion in Section 1.3. Take two constants λ_1 , λ_2 and column solutions h_1 , h_2 of the Lax pair when $\lambda = \lambda_1, \lambda_2$ respectively. Moreover, we want that the matrices given by the Darboux transformation are still of the form of (1.172). That is,

$$\widetilde{U}' = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u' \\ -1 & -\lambda \end{pmatrix},
\widetilde{V}' = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda B[u'] - A[u'] & \lambda^2 B[u'] - 2\lambda A[u'] - C[u'] \\ -B[u'] & A[u'] - \lambda B[u'] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.174)

This condition (especially that the (2,1) entry of \widetilde{U}' is -1) holds only

This condition (especially that the (2, 1) energy of δ when λ_2 , λ_1 , h_2 and h_1 are specified. Suppose $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of the Lax pair (1.173) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, then $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha + 2\lambda_0\beta \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.173) for $\lambda = -\lambda_0$. Thus we choose

$$\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 & 0\\ 0 & -\lambda_0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad H = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \alpha + 2\lambda_0\beta\\ \beta & \beta \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.175)

Let

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} -\lambda_0 - \frac{1}{\tau} & \frac{1}{\tau^2} + \frac{2\lambda_0}{\tau} \\ -1 & \frac{1}{\tau} + \lambda_0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.176)

where $\tau = \beta / \alpha$, and

$$\widetilde{D} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} (\lambda I - S), \qquad (1.177)$$

then after the action of the Darboux transformation given by the Darboux matrix \widetilde{D} ,

$$\widetilde{U}' = \widetilde{D}\widetilde{U}\widetilde{D}^{-1} + \widetilde{D}_x\widetilde{D}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & u' \\ -1 & -\lambda \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.178)

where

$$u' = -u - 2\left(\frac{1}{\tau^2} + \frac{2\lambda_0}{\tau}\right).$$
 (1.179)

According to the general discussion to the AKNS system, V' is given by the second equation of (1.174). Therefore, the Darboux transformation given by \tilde{D} in (1.177) is a Darboux transformation from any equation in the KdV hierarchy to the same equation.

Next we compare the results here with those in Section 1.1. If $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.173) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, then the corresponding solution of (1.159) is

$$R^{-1}(\lambda_0) \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\beta \\ \alpha + \lambda_0 \beta \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.180)

Let σ be the ratio of the second and the first components, i.e.,

$$\sigma = \frac{\alpha + \lambda_0 \beta}{-\beta} = -\frac{1}{\tau} - \lambda_0, \qquad (1.181)$$

then σ satisfies

$$\sigma_x = \lambda_0^2 - u - \sigma^2, \qquad (1.182)$$

and

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma & \sigma^2 - \lambda_0^2 \\ -1 & -\sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.183)

In order to get the Darboux matrix for the Lax pair in the form (1.159), let

$$D = R^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} (\lambda I - S)R = \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma & 1 \\ \lambda^2 - \lambda_0^2 + \sigma^2 & -\sigma \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma & 1 \\ \zeta - \zeta_0 + \sigma^2 & -\sigma \end{pmatrix} \qquad (\zeta_0 = \lambda_0^2).$$
(1.184)

Then

$$U' = DUD^{-1} + D_x D^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \zeta - 2\zeta_0 + u + 2\sigma^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.185)

Hence the action of D keeps the x part of the Lax pair invariant, and transforms \boldsymbol{u} to

$$u' = 2\zeta_0 - u - 2\sigma^2 \tag{1.186}$$

(the same as (1.179)). Theorem 1.11 implies that V'[u] = V[u'], i.e., the Darboux transformation keeps the t part invariant. Therefore, we have

THEOREM 1.16 Suppose u is a solution of (1.166), ζ_0 is a non-zero real constant, $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of the Lax pair (1.159) for $\zeta = \zeta_0$, $\sigma = b/a$, then

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma & 1\\ \zeta - \zeta_0 + \sigma^2 & -\sigma \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.187)

is a Darboux matrix for (1.159). It transforms a solution u of (1.166) to a new solution

$$u' = 2\zeta_0 - u - 2\sigma^2 \tag{1.188}$$

of the same equation.

Remark 12 In order to let \tilde{U}' and \tilde{U} have the same (2,1)-entry -1, the Darboux matrix (1.184) is chosen as $D = R^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} (\lambda I - S)R$, not $R^{-1}(\lambda I - S)R$. This guarantees that the transformation transforms a solution of (1.166) to a solution of the same equation (1.166).

Remark 13 Let
$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \psi \end{pmatrix}$$
, then ϕ satisfies

$$\phi_{xx} = (\zeta - u)\phi,$$

$$\phi_t = A\phi + B\phi_x.$$
(1.189)

It is similar to the system in Section 1.1. However, here A and B can be polynomials of ζ of arbitrary degrees, whose coefficients are differential polynomials of u. The problem discussed in Section 1.1 was a special case.

In Theorem 1.16, $b = a_x$, hence $\sigma = a_x/a$. The transformation D in (1.184) gives

$$\phi \to \phi' = \phi_x - \sigma \phi = \phi_x - \frac{a_x}{a}\phi,$$
 (1.190)

and (1.182), (1.186) give the original Darboux transformation

$$u' = u + 2(\ln a)_{xx}.$$
 (1.191)

Remark 14 From (1.165), we can get b_0, b_1, \cdots recursively, whose integral constants can be functions of t. Therefore, the coefficients of the nonlinear equations can be functions of t, as in the examples (1.170) and (1.171). The solutions of the equations whose coefficients depending on t differ a lot from the solutions of the equations whose coefficients independent of t. In the latter case, each soliton moves in a fixed velocity and the soliton with larger amplitude moves faster. However, in the former case, each soliton can have varying velocity (e.g. oscillates), and the soliton with larger amplitude may move slower.

1.4.2 MKdV-SG hierarchy

Consider the Lax pair [32]

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & p \\ -p & -\lambda \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = V\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & -A \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$
(1.192)

where A, B and C are polynomials of λ and λ^{-1} satisfying

$$A(-\lambda) = -A(\lambda), \qquad B(-\lambda) = -C(\lambda). \tag{1.193}$$

Moreover, suppose

$$A = \sum_{j=0}^{n+m} a_j \lambda^{2n-2j+1}$$
(1.194)

 $(m \ge 0, n \ge 0)$. Unlike the AKNS system, here A, B and C are not restricted to the polynomials of λ , but the negative powers of λ are allowed. The term with lowest power of λ in (1.194) is $a_{n+m}\lambda^{-2m+1}$.

The integrability condition $U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0$ leads to

$$A_x = p(B+C),$$

$$p_t - B_x - 2pA + 2\lambda B = 0,$$

$$p_t + C_x + 2pA + 2\lambda C = 0.$$

(1.195)

Hence

$$B + C = \frac{A_x}{p} = \sum_{j=0}^{n+m} \frac{a_{j,x}}{p} \lambda^{2n-2j+1},$$

$$B - C = \frac{(B+C)_x + 4pA}{2\lambda}$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n+m} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{a_{j,x}}{p}\right)_x + 2pa_j\right) \lambda^{2n-2j},$$
(1.196)

(thus $B(-\lambda)=-C(\lambda)$ holds automatically) and

$$p_t = \frac{1}{2}(B - C)_x - \lambda(B + C).$$
(1.197)

Comparing the coefficients of λ in (1.197), we can obtain the recursion relations among a_j 's. They include two parts. The first part

$$a_{0,x} = 0,$$

$$a_{j+1,x} = \frac{1}{4}p\left(\left(\frac{a_{j,x}}{p}\right)_x + 4a_jp\right)_x \qquad (j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1)$$
(1.198)

are obtained from the coefficients of positive powers of λ and the second part

$$\left(\left(\frac{a_{n+m,x}}{p}\right)_x + 4a_{n+m}p \right)_x = 0,$$

$$\left(\left(\frac{a_{j,x}}{p}\right)_x + 4a_jp \right)_x = 4\frac{a_{j+1,x}}{p}$$

$$(j = n + m - 1, \cdots, n + 1)$$

$$(1.199)$$

are obtained from the coefficients of negative powers of λ . Moreover, the term without λ leads to the equation

$$p_t - \frac{1}{4} \left(\left(\frac{a_{n,x}}{p} \right)_x + 4a_n p \right)_x + \frac{a_{n+1,x}}{p} = 0.$$
 (1.200)

The first few a_j 's $(0 \le j \le n)$ are

$$a_{0} = \alpha_{0}(t),$$

$$a_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{0}(t)p^{2} + \alpha_{1}(t),$$

$$a_{2} = \alpha_{0}(t)\left(\frac{1}{4}pp_{xx} - \frac{1}{8}p_{x}^{2} + \frac{3}{8}p^{4}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{1}(t)p^{2} + \alpha_{2}(t),$$

$$\cdots.$$
(1.201)

If V does not contain negative powers of λ , i.e., m = 0, then from the general conclusion to the AKNS system, all a_j 's are differential polynomials of p. The equation (1.200) becomes

$$p_t - \frac{1}{4} \left(\left(\frac{a_{n,x}}{p} \right)_x + 4a_n p \right)_x = 0.$$
 (1.202)

This is called the MKdV hierarchy. By using the notion a_j^0 in Section 1.2, these equations can be written as

$$p_t + \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j(t) M_{n-j}[p] = 0, \qquad (1.203)$$

where

$$M_{l}[p] = -\frac{1}{4} \left(\left(\frac{a_{l,x}^{0}}{p} \right)_{x} + 4a_{l}^{0}p \right)_{x} \quad (l = 0, 1, \cdots, n).$$
(1.204)

Especially, if n = 1 and $\alpha_0 = -4$, $\alpha_1 = 0$, then (1.202) becomes the MKdV equation

$$p_t + p_{xxx} + 6p^2 p_x = 0. (1.205)$$

Next, we consider the negative powers of λ in V. Take $p = -u_x/2$ and suppose it satisfies the boundary condition: $u - k\pi$ and its derivatives tend to 0 fast enough as $x \to -\infty$ (k is an integer).

The first equation of (1.199) gives

$$\left(\left(\frac{a_{n+m,x}}{u_x}\right)_x + a_{n+m}u_x\right)_x = 0.$$
(1.206)

Write a_{n+m} as a function of u, then the above equation becomes

$$\left((a_{n+m,uu} + a_{n+m})u_x \right)_x = 0. \tag{1.207}$$

The boundary condition as $x \to -\infty$ gives $a_{n+m,uu} + a_{n+m} = 0$. Hence

$$a_{n+m} = \alpha \cos(u+\beta) \tag{1.208}$$

where α and β are constants.

Now take a special a_{n+m} : $a_{n+m}^0 = \frac{1}{4} \cos u$. a_{n+j} $(j = 1, 2, \dots, m-1)$ can be determined as follows. Let $g_{n+j} = a_{n+j,x}^0/p$, then $g_{n+m} = \frac{1}{2} \sin u$, and

$$a_{j-1}^{0} = \int_{-\infty}^{x} pg_{j-1} \, dx + a_{j-1}^{-} \quad (n+2 \le j \le n+m) \tag{1.209}$$

where a_{j-1}^- is the limit of a_{j-1}^0 as $x \to -\infty$. From the boundary condition $\lim_{x\to -\infty} (g_{j-1})_x = 0$, the recursion relations (1.199) become

$$\frac{1}{4}(g_{j-1})_x + p\left(a_{j-1}^- + \int_{-\infty}^x pg_{j-1}\,dx\right) = \int_{-\infty}^x g_j\,dx.$$
 (1.210)

Moreover, suppose

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} g_{j-1} = 0, \tag{1.211}$$

then

$$g_{j-1} + 4 \int_{-\infty}^{x} p(\xi) \left(a_{j-1}^{-} + \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} p(\zeta) g_{j-1}(\zeta) \, d\zeta \right) \, d\xi$$

= $4 \int_{-\infty}^{x} \int_{-\infty}^{\xi} g_{j}(\zeta) \, d\zeta \, d\xi.$ (1.212)

This is an integral equation of Volterra type. It has a unique solution in the class of functions which tend to zero fast enough together with its derivatives as $x \to -\infty$.

Take $a_{i-1}^- = 0$ and write the solution of (1.212) as

$$g_{j-1} = Q(g_j) = Q^2(g_{j+1}) = \dots = \frac{1}{2}Q^{n+m-j+1}[\sin u].$$
 (1.213)

Here Q is the operator to determine g_{j-1} from g_j defined by (1.212). g_{j-1} is not a differential polynomial of g_j .

If n = 0, $\alpha_0 = 0$, then we obtain the SG hierarchy

$$p_t + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \beta_j(t) Q^{m-j-1}[\sin u] = 0$$
 (1.214)

where $\beta_i(t)$'s are arbitrary functions of t.

Generally, we have the compound MKdV-SG hierarchy

$$p_t + \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha_j(t) M_{n-j}[p] + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \beta_j(t) Q^{m-j-1}[\sin u] = 0, \qquad (1.215)$$
$$(p = -\frac{u_x}{2}).$$

EXAMPLE 1.17 $n = 0, m = 2, \beta_0 = 0, \beta_1 = 1, then, g_2 = \frac{1}{2} \sin u$, and the equation becomes the sine-Gordon equation

$$u_{xt} = \sin u. \tag{1.216}$$

EXAMPLE 1.18 n = 1, m = 2, $\alpha_0 = -4$, $\alpha_1 = 0$, $\beta_0 = 0$, $\beta_1 = 1$, then the equation becomes the equation describing one-dimensional nonlinear lattice of atoms [70]

$$u_{xt} + \frac{3}{2}u_x^2 u_{xx} + u_{xxxx} - \sin u = 0.$$
 (1.217)

Now we consider the Darboux transformation. If $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.192) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, then $\begin{pmatrix} -\beta \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.192) for $\lambda = -\lambda_0$.

Therefore, we can choose

$$\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 & 0\\ 0 & -\lambda_0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad H = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & -\beta\\ \beta & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.218)$$

where
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$$
 is a solution of (1.192) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. Let $\sigma = \beta/\alpha$,

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1} = \frac{\lambda_0}{1+\sigma^2} \begin{pmatrix} 1-\sigma^2 & 2\sigma \\ 2\sigma & \sigma^2 - 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.219)

and denote $\tan \frac{\theta}{2} = \sigma$, then

$$S = \lambda_0 \left(\begin{array}{cc} \cos\theta & \sin\theta \\ \sin\theta & -\cos\theta \end{array} \right).$$
(1.220)

From $\sigma_x = -p(1+\sigma^2) - 2\lambda_0 \sigma$, we have

$$\theta_x = -2p - 2\lambda_0 \sin \theta. \tag{1.221}$$

By direct calculation,

$$(\lambda I - S)U(\lambda I - S)^{-1} - S_x(\lambda I - S)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & p' \\ -p' & -\lambda \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.222)

where

$$p' = p + 2\lambda_0 \sin \theta = -p - \theta_x, \qquad (1.223)$$

or equivalently,

$$u' = -u + 2\theta \tag{1.224}$$

for suitable choice of the integral constant.

It remains to prove that the Darboux matrix $\lambda I - S$ keeps the reduction of MKdV-SG hierarchy. This includes (1) the transformed A', B' and C' still satisfy $A'(-\lambda) = -A'(\lambda)$ and $B'(-\lambda) = -C(\lambda)$; (2) the coefficients $\alpha_j(t)$'s keeps invariant.

Since $V^T(-\lambda) = -V(\lambda)$, $S^T = S$ and $(\lambda I + S)^T(\lambda I - S) = \lambda^2 I - S^2 = (\lambda^2 - \lambda_0^2)I$, it can be verified by direct calculation that $V'^T(-\lambda) = -V'(\lambda)$ holds. This proves (1).

(2) is proved as follows. For a_j $(j \leq n)$, this has been proved for the AKNS system; for a_j $(j \geq n+1)$, the conclusion follows from the boundary condition at infinity.

Therefore, the following theorem holds.

THEOREM 1.19 Suppose u is a solution of (1.200), λ_0 is a non-zero real number, $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of the Lax pair (1.192) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. Let $\theta = 2 \tan^{-1}(b/a)$,

$$S = \lambda_0 \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & \sin\theta \\ \sin\theta & -\cos\theta \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.225)$$

then $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.192). It transforms a solution p of (1.200) to the solution $p' = p + 2\lambda_0 \sin \theta$ of the same equation. Moreover, $u' = -u + 2\theta$ with suitable boundary condition, where $p = -u_x/2$, $p' = -u'_x/2$.

Remark 15 For the sine-Gordon equation, the Bäcklund transformation is a kind of method to get explicit solutions, which was known in the nineteenth century. In that method, to obtain a new solution from a known solution, there is an integrable system of differential equations to be solved (moreover, one can obtain explicit expression by using the theorem of permutability and the nonlinear superposition formula). Using Darboux transformation, that explicit expression can be obtained directly. This will be discussed in Chapter 4 together with the related geometric problems.

1.4.3 NLS hierarchy

The Lax pair for the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy (NLS hierarchy) is

$$\Phi_x = U\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & p \\ -\bar{p} & -\lambda \end{pmatrix} \Phi,
\Phi_t = V\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & -A \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$
(1.226)

where A, B and C are polynomials of λ (λ , p, A, B and C are complexvalued) satisfying

$$A(-\bar{\lambda}) = -\overline{A(\lambda)}, \qquad B(-\bar{\lambda}) = -\overline{C(\lambda)}$$
 (1.227)

(i.e., $V^*(-\bar{\lambda}) = -V(\lambda)$ where * refers to the complex conjugate transpose of a matrix). This is also a special case of the AKNS system. We shall construct a Darboux matrix keeping this reduction.

The integrability condition $U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0$ is

$$A_x = pC + \bar{p}B,$$

$$B_x = p_t + 2\lambda B - 2pA,$$

$$C_x = -\bar{p}_t - 2\lambda C - 2\bar{p}A.$$

(1.228)

We can use (1.55) to write down the coefficients of the powers of λ in A, B and C. They depend on p, p_x, \cdots and the integral constants $\alpha_j(t)$. Moreover, there is a nonlinear evolution equation

$$p_t = b_{n,x} + 2pa_n. (1.229)$$

Especially, for n = 2, $\alpha_0 = -2i$, $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 0$, the equation is the nonlinear Schrödinger equation

$$ip_t = p_{xx} + 2|p|^2 p. (1.230)$$

The Darboux transformation for the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy is also constructed from the choice of Λ and H. Suppose $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.226) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$, then $\begin{pmatrix} -\bar{\beta} \\ \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of (1.226) for $\lambda = -\bar{\lambda}_0$. Hence, we can choose

$$\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 & 0\\ 0 & -\bar{\lambda}_0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad H = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & -\bar{\beta}\\ \beta & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.231)$$

$$S = H\Lambda H^{-1} = \frac{1}{1+|\sigma|^2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0 |\sigma|^2 & (\lambda_0 + \bar{\lambda}_0)\bar{\sigma} \\ (\lambda_0 + \bar{\lambda}_0)\sigma & -\bar{\lambda}_0 + \lambda_0 |\sigma|^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.232)$$

where $\sigma = \beta/\alpha$. Since det $H \neq 0$, S can be defined globally. It can be checked that H satisfies

$$H^*H = |\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2, \qquad (1.233)$$

hence S satisfies

$$S^*S = |\lambda_0|^2,$$

(1.234)
$$S - S^* = \lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0.$$

Therefore, under the action of the Darboux matrix $\lambda I - S$, U is transformed to

$$U' = (\lambda I - S)U(\lambda I - S)^{-1} - S_x(\lambda I - S)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & p' \\ -\bar{p}' & -\lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad (1.235)$$

where

$$p' = p + 2S_{12} = p + \frac{2(\lambda_0 + \bar{\lambda}_0)\bar{\sigma}}{1 + |\sigma|^2}.$$
 (1.236)

From the discussion on the AKNS system (Theorem 1.11), we know that $V' = (\lambda I - S)V(\lambda I - S)^{-1} - S_t(\lambda I - S)^{-1}$ is also a polynomial of λ and ${V'}^*(-\bar{\lambda}) = -V'(\lambda)$ holds. Moreover, $\lambda I - S$ gives a Darboux transformation from an equation in the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy to the same equation. This leads to the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.20 Suppose p is a solution of (1.229), λ_0 is a non-real complex number, $\begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}$ is a solution of the Lax pair (1.226) for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. Let $\sigma = b/a$,

$$S = \frac{1}{1+|\sigma|^2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0 |\sigma|^2 & (\lambda_0 + \bar{\lambda}_0)\bar{\sigma} \\ (\lambda_0 + \bar{\lambda}_0)\sigma & -\bar{\lambda}_0 + \lambda_0 |\sigma|^2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.237)

then $\lambda I - S$ is a Darboux matrix for (1.226). It transforms a solution p of (1.229) to a solution

$$p' = p + \frac{2(\lambda_0 + \lambda_0)\bar{\sigma}}{1 + |\sigma|^2}$$
(1.238)

of the same equation.

1.4.4 AKNS system with u(N) reduction

For the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy, (1.226) and (1.227) imply

$$U(-\overline{\lambda}) = -U(\lambda)^*, \quad V(-\overline{\lambda}) = -V(\lambda)^*.$$
(1.239)

Here we generalize it to the AKNS system.

For the AKNS system (1.226), if U and V satisfy (1.239), then we say that (1.226) has u(N) reduction, because $U(\lambda)$ and $V(\lambda)$ are in the Lie algebra u(N) when λ is purely imaginary. This is a very popular reduction.

We want to construct Darboux matrix which keeps u(N) reduction. That is, after the action of the Darboux matrix, the derived potentials $U'(\lambda)$ and $V'(\lambda)$ must satisfy

$$U'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -U'(\lambda)^*, \quad V'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -V'(\lambda)^*.$$
 (1.240)

With this additional condition, Λ and H in (1.94) can not be arbitrary. They should satisfy the following two conditions:

(1) $\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_N$ can only be μ or $-\overline{\mu}$ where μ is a complex number (μ is not real).

(2) If $\lambda_j \neq \lambda_k$, then

$$h_i^* h_k = 0 (1.241)$$

holds at one point (x_0, t_0) .

In fact, if (1.241) holds at one point, then it holds everywhere. This is proved as follows.

When $\lambda_j \neq \lambda_k$, $\lambda_k = -\bar{\lambda}_j$, hence

$$h_{k,x} = U(\lambda_k)h_k, \quad h_{k,t} = V(\lambda_k)h_k, h_{j,x}^* = h_j^*U(\lambda_j)^* = -h_j^*U(-\bar{\lambda}_j) = -h_j^*U(\lambda_k),$$
(1.242)
$$h_{j,t}^* = h_j^*V(\lambda_j)^* = -h_j^*V(-\bar{\lambda}_j) = -h_j^*V(\lambda_k).$$

This implies that

$$(h_j^*h_k)_x = 0, \quad (h_j^*h_k)_t = 0.$$
 (1.243)

Therefore, $h_i^* h_k = 0$ holds everywhere if it holds at one point.

THEOREM 1.21 If λ_j 's, h_j 's satisfy the above conditions (1) and (2), $H = (h_1, \dots, h_N)$, then det $H \neq 0$ holds everywhere if it holds at one point. Moreover, U' and V' given by (1.81) satisfy

$$U'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -U'(\lambda)^*, \quad V'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -V'(\lambda)^*.$$
 (1.244)

Proof. Let (x_0, t_0) be a fixed point. Then by the property of linear differential equation, all $\{h_\alpha\}$ with $\lambda_\alpha = \mu$ are linearly independent if they are linearly independent at (x_0, t_0) . Likewise, all $\{h_\alpha\}$ with $\lambda_\alpha = \bar{\mu}$ are also linearly independent if they are linearly independent at (x_0, t_0) . Moreover, (1.241) implies that all $\{h_1, \dots, h_N\}$ are linearly independent if they are linearly independent at (x_0, t_0) . Therefore, det $H \neq 0$ and $S = H\Lambda H^{-1}$ is globally defined.

According to the definition of S,

$$Sh_j = \lambda_j h_j, \quad h_k^* S^* = h_k^* \overline{\lambda}_k.$$
 (1.245)

Hence

$$h_k^*(S - S^*)h_j = (\lambda_j - \bar{\lambda}_k)h_k^*h_j.$$
 (1.246)

If $\lambda_j = \mu$, $\lambda_k = -\bar{\mu}$, then

$$h_k^*(S - S^*)h_j = 0. (1.247)$$

If $\lambda_j = \lambda_k = \mu$ (or $\lambda_j = \lambda_k = -\bar{\mu}$), then

$$h_k^*(S - S^*)h_j = (\mu - \bar{\mu})h_k^*h_j.$$
(1.248)

Hence

$$S - S^* = (\mu - \bar{\mu})I. \tag{1.249}$$

On the other hand, from (1.245), we have

$$h_k^* S^* S h_j = \lambda_j \bar{\lambda}_k h_k^* h_j. \tag{1.250}$$

If $\lambda_j = \mu$, $\lambda_k = -\bar{\mu}$, then

$$h_k^* S^* S h_j = 0. (1.251)$$

If $\lambda_j = \lambda_k = \mu$ (or $\lambda_j = \lambda_k = -\bar{\mu}$), then

$$h_k^* S^* S h_j = |\mu|^2 h_k^* h_j, \qquad (1.252)$$

Therefore,

$$S^*S = |\mu|^2 I. \tag{1.253}$$

From (1.249) and (1.253), we obtain

$$(\lambda I + S)^* (\lambda I - S) = (\lambda - \mu)(\lambda + \bar{\mu})I.$$
(1.254)

According to the action of the Darboux transformation on V_i ,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}^{\prime} \lambda^{m-j}$$

$$= (\lambda I - S) \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j} \lambda^{m-j} (\lambda I - S)^{-1} + (\lambda I - S)_{t} (\lambda I - S)^{-1},$$

$$(\sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}^{\prime} \lambda^{m-j})^{*}$$

$$= (\lambda I - S)^{*-1} \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}^{*} \bar{\lambda}^{m-j} (\lambda I - S)^{*} + (\lambda I - S)^{*-1} (\lambda I - S)^{*}_{t}$$

$$= -(\bar{\lambda} I + S) \sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j} (-\bar{\lambda})^{m-j} (\bar{\lambda} I + S)^{-1} - (\bar{\lambda} I + S)_{t} (\bar{\lambda} I + S)^{-1}$$

$$= -\sum_{j=0}^{m} V_{j}^{\prime} (-\bar{\lambda})^{m-j}.$$
(1.255)
$$(1.256)$$

Hence $V'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -V'(\lambda)^*$. Likewise, $U'(-\bar{\lambda}) = -U'(\lambda)^*$. The theorem is proved.

As in Section 1.3, a Darboux transformation of higher degree can be derived by the composition of Darboux transformations of degree one. However, with the u(N) reduction, we have also the following special and more direct construction [117, 17].

Suppose we take l times of Darboux transformations of degree one. Each Darboux transformation is constructed from Λ_{α} , H_{α} ($\alpha = 1, \dots, l$). In each $\Lambda_{\alpha} = \text{diag}(\lambda_{1}^{(\alpha)}, \dots, \lambda_{k}^{(\alpha)})$, suppose $\lambda_{1}^{(\alpha)} = \dots = \lambda_{k}^{(\alpha)} = \mu_{\alpha}$, $\lambda_{k+1}^{(\alpha)} = \dots = \lambda_{N}^{(\alpha)} = -\bar{\mu}_{\alpha}$. Here k is the same for all α . For each $\lambda_{j}^{(\alpha)}$, solve the Lax pair and get a solution $h_{j}^{(\alpha)}$ satisfying the orthogonal relations (1.241).

Denote $H_{\alpha} = (h_1^{(\alpha)}, \dots, h_N^{(\alpha)}), \ \overset{\circ}{H}_{\alpha} = (h_1^{(\alpha)}, \dots, h_k^{(\alpha)}).$ Let

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\ddot{H}^*_{\alpha}\ddot{H}_{\beta}}{\mu_{\beta} + \bar{\mu}_{\alpha}},\tag{1.257}$$

$$D(\lambda) = \prod_{\gamma=1}^{l} (\lambda + \bar{\mu}_{\gamma}) \left(1 - \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{l} \frac{\mathring{H}_{\alpha}(\Gamma^{-1})_{\alpha\beta} \mathring{H}_{\beta}^{*}}{\lambda + \bar{\lambda}_{\beta}} \right).$$
(1.258)

Now we prove that $D(\lambda)$ is a Darboux matrix.

Let $\hat{H}_{\alpha} = (h_{k+1}^{(\alpha)}, \cdots, h_N^{(\alpha)})$. Then $H_{\alpha} = (\mathring{H}_{\alpha}, \hat{H}_{\alpha})$ and $\mathring{H}_{\alpha}^* \hat{H}_{\alpha} = 0$ for all $\alpha = 1, \cdots, l$. Hence

$$D(\mu_{\alpha}) H_{\alpha} = 0, \quad D(-\bar{\mu}_{\alpha}) \hat{H}_{\alpha} = 0.$$
 (1.259)

According to Theorem 1.12, $D(\lambda)$ is a Darboux matrix.

Moreover, the inverse of $D(\lambda)$ can be written out explicitly as

$$D(\lambda)^{-1} = \prod_{\gamma=1}^{l} (\lambda + \bar{\mu}_{\gamma})^{-1} \left(1 + \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{l} \frac{\mathring{H}_{\alpha}(\Gamma^{-1})_{\alpha\beta} \mathring{H}_{\beta}^{*}}{\lambda - \lambda_{\alpha}} \right).$$
(1.260)

(1.258) gives a compact form of Darboux matrix of higher degree. Although it is special, it is very useful.

1.5 Darboux transformation and scattering, inverse scattering theory

The scattering and inverse scattering theory is an important part of the soliton theory. It transforms the problem of solving the Cauchy problem of a nonlinear partial differential equation to the problem of describing the spectrum and eigenfunctions of the Lax pair. Here we consider the 2×2 AKNS system as an example to show the outline of the scattering and inverse scattering theory (see [23] for details). Moreover, we discuss the change of the scattering data under Darboux transformation for su(2) reduction. For the KdV equation, the problem can be solved similarly, but the scattering and inverse scattering theory is simpler.

1.5.1 Outline of the scattering and inverse scattering theory for the 2×2 AKNS system

First, we give the definition of the scattering data for the 2×2 complex AKNS system. In order to coincide with the usual scattering theory, let $\lambda = -i\zeta$, then the first equation of the 2×2 AKNS system (1.48) becomes

$$\Phi_x = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta & p \\ q & i\zeta \end{pmatrix} \Phi.$$
(1.261)

Suppose p, q and their derivatives with respect to x decay fast enough at infinity. Let **C** be the complex plane and **R** be the real line. Besides C_+ and C_- are the upper and lower half plane of **C** respectively, i.e., $C_+ = \{z \in \mathbf{C} \mid \text{Im } \zeta > 0\}, C_- = \{z \in \mathbf{C} \mid \text{Im } \zeta < 0\}.$

Property 1. For each one of the following boundary conditions, the equation (1.261) has a unique column solution

(1)
$$\psi_r(x,\zeta) = R(x,\zeta)e^{-i\zeta x}, \quad \lim_{x \to -\infty} R(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.262)$$

(Im $\zeta \ge 0$),

1

(2)
$$\widetilde{\psi}_r(x,\zeta) = \widetilde{R}(x,\zeta)e^{i\zeta x}, \quad \lim_{x \to -\infty} \widetilde{R}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.263)$$

 $(\operatorname{Im} \zeta \le 0),$

(3)
$$\psi_l(x,\zeta) = L(x,\zeta)e^{i\zeta x}, \quad \lim_{x \to +\infty} L(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (1.264)
(Im $\zeta \ge 0$),

(4)
$$\widetilde{\psi}_l(x,\zeta) = \widetilde{L}(x,\zeta)e^{-i\zeta x}, \quad \lim_{x \to +\infty} \widetilde{L}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.265)$$

 $(\operatorname{Im} \zeta \leq 0).$

Moreover, ψ_r , ψ_l (resp. $\tilde{\psi}_r$, $\tilde{\psi}_l$) are continuous for $\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+ \cup \mathbf{R}$ (resp. $z \in \mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R}$), and holomorphic with respect to ζ in \mathbf{C}_{+} (resp. \mathbf{C}_{-}). These solutions are called Jost solutions.

If $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, then ψ_l and $\tilde{\psi}_l$ are linearly independent. Hence, there exist functions $r_+(\zeta)$, $r_-(\zeta)$, $\tilde{r}_+(\zeta)$ and $\tilde{r}_-(\zeta)$ such that

$$\psi_r = r_+ \psi_l + r_- \psi_l,$$

$$\widetilde{\psi}_r = \widetilde{r}_+ \psi_l + \widetilde{r}_- \widetilde{\psi}_l.$$
(1.266)

Considering the Wronskian determinant between ψ_r , ψ_l and the Wronskian determinant between ψ_r , ψ_l , we have

Property 2. For $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$,

$$r_{-}(\zeta) = R_{1}(x,\zeta)L_{2}(x,\zeta) - R_{2}(x,\zeta)L_{1}(x,\zeta),$$

$$\widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) = \widetilde{R}_{2}(x,\zeta)\widetilde{L}_{1}(x,\zeta) - \widetilde{R}_{1}(x,\zeta)\widetilde{L}_{2}(x,\zeta).$$
(1.267)

 $r_{-}(\zeta)$ can be holomorphically extended to $\mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}$, and $\tilde{r}_{+}(\zeta)$ can be holomorphically extended to $\mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R}$. Here R_1 and R_2 are two components of the vector R, i.e., $R = (R_1, R_2)^T$. $L_1, L_2, \tilde{R}_1, \tilde{R}_2, \tilde{L}_1, \tilde{L}_2$ have the similar meanings.

The asymptotic properties of the four Jost solutions in Property 1 as $x \to \pm \infty$ are listed in the next property.

Property 3. (1) The following limits hold uniformly for ζ :

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} R(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R},$$
$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \widetilde{R}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R},$$
$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} L(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R},$$
$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \widetilde{L}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R}.$$

(2) The following limits hold uniformly for ζ in a compact subset:

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} R(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} r_{-}(\zeta) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+},$$
$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \widetilde{R}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-},$$
$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} L(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ r_{-}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+},$$
$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \widetilde{L}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-}.$$

(3) The following limits hold uniformly for real $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$:

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \left| R(x,\zeta) - \begin{pmatrix} r_{-}(\zeta) \\ r_{+}(\zeta)e^{2i\zeta x} \end{pmatrix} \right| = 0, \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R},$$
$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \left| \widetilde{R}(x,\zeta) - \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{r}_{-}(\zeta)e^{-2i\zeta x} \\ \widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix} \right| = 0, \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R},$$
$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \left| L(x,\zeta) - \begin{pmatrix} -\widetilde{r}_{-}(\zeta)e^{-2i\zeta x} \\ r_{-}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix} \right| = 0, \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R},$$

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \left| \widetilde{L}(x,\zeta) - \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{r}_+(\zeta) \\ -r_+(\zeta) e^{2i\zeta x} \end{pmatrix} \right| = 0, \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R}.$$

Rewrite (1.261) as

$$\mathcal{L}\Phi = \zeta\Phi,\tag{1.270}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L} = \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d}{dx} - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p \\ q & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.271)$$

then (1.261) becomes a spectral problem of a linear ordinary differential operator. We consider its spectrum in $L^2(\mathbf{R}) \times L^2(\mathbf{R})$.

If $\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+$ and $r_-(\zeta) = 0$, then (1.267) implies that ψ_r and ψ_l are linearly dependent. Hence $\psi_r \to 0$ as $x \to \pm \infty$. Similarly, if $\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_$ and $\tilde{r}_+(\zeta) = 0$, then $\tilde{\psi}_r$ and $\tilde{\psi}_l$ are linearly dependent. Hence $\tilde{\psi}_r \to 0$ as $x \to \pm \infty$. Since $r_-(\zeta)$ and $\tilde{r}_+(\zeta)$ are holomorphic in \mathbf{C}_+ and $\mathbf{C}_$ respectively, their zeros are discrete. These zeros are the eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} . The set of all eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} is denoted by $IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})$. If $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, then it can be proved that (1.270) has a nontrivial bounded solution. $\sigma(\mathcal{L}) =$ $\mathbf{R} \cup IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ is called the spectrum of the operator \mathcal{L} . Its compliment $\mathbf{C} - \sigma(\mathcal{L})$ is called the regular set of \mathcal{L} .

Property 4. If $r_{-}(\zeta) \neq 0$ and $\tilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) \neq 0$ hold for $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, then $IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ is a finite set.

Hereafter, we always suppose $r_{-}(\zeta) \neq 0$ and $r_{+}(\zeta) \neq 0$ when $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$. First we consider the eigenvalues.

If $\zeta \in IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})$, then ψ_r and ψ_l are linearly dependent. Suppose

$$\psi_r(x,\zeta) = \alpha(\zeta)\psi_l(x,\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+ \cap IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})),
\widetilde{\psi}_r(x,\zeta) = \widetilde{\alpha}(\zeta)\widetilde{\psi}_l(x,\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_- \cap IP\sigma(\mathcal{L})).$$
(1.272)

Denote $IP\sigma(\mathcal{L}) \cap \mathbf{C}_+ = \{\zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_d\}$ and $IP\sigma(\mathcal{L}) \cap \mathbf{C}_- = \{\widetilde{\zeta}_1, \dots, \widetilde{\zeta}_{\widetilde{d}}\}$ to be the set of eigenvalues in \mathbf{C}_+ and \mathbf{C}_- respectively. Moreover, suppose $\zeta_1, \dots, \widetilde{\zeta}_{\widetilde{d}}$ are all simple zeros. Corresponding to each eigenvalue, there is a constant

$$C_{k} = \alpha(\zeta_{k}) \left/ \frac{\mathrm{d}r_{-}(\zeta_{k})}{\mathrm{d}\zeta} \quad (k = 1, \cdots, d), \\ \widetilde{C}_{k} = \widetilde{\alpha}(\zeta_{k}) \left/ \frac{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta_{k})}{\mathrm{d}\zeta} \quad (k = 1, \cdots, \widetilde{d}). \right.$$
(1.273)

Using these data, we define the functions

$$B_d(y) = -i\sum_{k=1}^d C_k e^{i\zeta_k y}, \quad \widetilde{B}_d(y) = i\sum_{k=1}^{\widetilde{d}} \widetilde{C}_k e^{-i\zeta_k y}.$$
(1.274)

Next, we consider the continuous spectrum $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$. As is known, the Fourier transformation of a Schwarz function ϕ is

$$F(\phi)(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \phi(s) e^{-iks} \, ds.$$
 (1.275)

It can be extended to $L^2(\mathbf{R})$ and becomes a bounded map from $L^2(\mathbf{R})$ to $L^2(\mathbf{R})$.

Property 5.

$$L(x,\cdot) - \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}), \quad \widetilde{L}(x,\cdot) - \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}). \quad (1.276)$$

Denote

$$N(x,s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} F\left(L(x,\cdot) - \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}\right)(s),$$

$$\widetilde{N}(x,s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} F\left(\widetilde{L}(x,\cdot) - \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}\right)(s), \quad (s \ge 0),$$
(1.277)

then

$$L(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \int_0^{+\infty} N(x,s) e^{i\zeta s} ds, \quad \forall \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+ \cup \mathbf{R},$$

$$\widetilde{L}(x,\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} + \int_0^{+\infty} \widetilde{N}(x,s) e^{-i\zeta s} ds, \quad \forall \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_- \cup \mathbf{R},$$
(1.278)

and the above integrals converge absolutely. Moreover,

$$p(x) = -2N_1(x,0), \qquad q(x) = -2\tilde{N}_2(x,0), \qquad (1.279)$$

where the subscripts refer to the components.

For $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, denote

,

$$b(\zeta) = \frac{r_+(\zeta)}{r_-(\zeta)}, \quad \tilde{b}(\zeta) = \frac{\tilde{r}_-(\zeta)}{\tilde{r}_+(\zeta)}.$$
(1.280)

It can be proved that

$$b, \tilde{b} \in L^2(\mathbf{R}) \cap L^1(\mathbf{R}) \cap C^0(\mathbf{R}).$$
(1.281)

Hence, we can define

$$B_{c}(y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} b(\zeta) e^{i\zeta y} d\zeta,$$

$$\widetilde{B}_{c}(y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \widetilde{b}(\zeta) e^{-i\zeta y} d\zeta.$$
(1.282)

The data

 $\{\zeta_k, C_k \ (k = 1, \dots, d), \ \widetilde{\zeta}_k, \widetilde{C}_k \ (k = 1, \dots, \widetilde{d}), \ b(\zeta), \widetilde{b}(\zeta) \ (\zeta \in \mathbf{R})\}\$ (1.283) are called the scattering data corresponding to (p, q), denoted by $\Sigma(p, q)$. We can also call

$$\{r_{-}(\zeta) \ (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}), \ \widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) \ (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R})\}$$
(1.284)

the scattering data, since the data in (1.283) can be obtained from the data in (1.284).

Define $B = B_c + B_d$ and $\tilde{B} = \tilde{B}_c + \tilde{B}_d$ according to (1.274) and (1.282).

Property 6. N and \tilde{N} satisfy the follow system of linear integral equations (Gelfand-Levitan-Marchenko equations)

$$N(x,s) + \widetilde{B}(2x+s) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix} + \int_0^{+\infty} \widetilde{N}(x,\sigma) \widetilde{B}(2x+s+\sigma) \, d\sigma = 0,$$

$$\widetilde{N}(x,s) + B(2x+s) \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} + \int_0^{+\infty} N(x,\sigma) B(2x+s+\sigma) \, d\sigma = 0.$$

(1.285)

If the scattering data $\{\zeta_k, C_k, \tilde{\zeta}_k, \tilde{C}_k, b(\zeta), \tilde{b}(\zeta)\}$ are known, N and \tilde{N} are solved from the above integral equations and (1.279) gives (p, q).

The process to get scattering data from (p, q) is called the scattering process. It needs to solve the spectral problem of ordinary differential equations. The process to get (p, q) from the scattering data is called the inverse scattering process. It needs to solve linear integral equations.

Now we consider the evolution of the scattering data. In the AKNS system, p and q are functions of (x, t). Therefore, we should consider the full AKNS system (with time t)

$$\Phi_x = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta & p \\ q & i\zeta \end{pmatrix} \Phi, \quad \Phi_t = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & -A \end{pmatrix} \Phi, \quad (1.286)$$

where A, B and C are polynomials of ζ ,

$$A = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j (-i\zeta)^{n-j},$$

$$B = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j (-i\zeta)^{n-j},$$

$$C = \sum_{j=0}^{n} c_j (-i\zeta)^{n-j}.$$

(1.287)

We also suppose

$$A|_{p=q=0} = \mathrm{i}\omega(\zeta, t). \tag{1.288}$$

Lemma 1.5 implies $B|_{p=q=0} = C|_{p=q=0} = 0.$

Property 7. Suppose (p,q) satisfies the equations

$$p_t = b_{n,x} + 2pa_n, \qquad q_t = c_{n,x} - 2qa_n$$
 (1.289)

given by the integrability condition, then the evolution of the corresponding scattering data is given by

$$r_{-}(\zeta,t) = r_{-}(\zeta,0) \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R},$$

$$\tilde{r}_{+}(\zeta,t) = \tilde{r}_{+}(\zeta,0) \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{-} \cup \mathbf{R},$$

$$r_{+}(\zeta,t) = r_{+}(\zeta,0) \exp(-2i\int_{0}^{t} \omega(\zeta,\tau) \, d\tau) \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R},$$

$$\tilde{r}_{-}(\zeta,t) = \tilde{r}_{-}(\zeta,0) \exp(2i\int_{0}^{t} \omega(\zeta,\tau) \, d\tau) \qquad \zeta \in \mathbf{R},$$
(1.290)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_k(t) &= \zeta_k(0), \\ \widetilde{\zeta}_k(t) &= \widetilde{\zeta}_k(0), \\ C_k(t) &= C_k(0) \exp(-2i \int_0^t \omega(\zeta, \tau) \, d\tau), \\ \widetilde{C}_k(t) &= \widetilde{C}_k(0) \exp(2i \int_0^t \omega(\zeta, \tau) \, d\tau), \\ b(\zeta, t) &= b(\zeta, 0) \exp(-2i \int_0^t \omega(\zeta, \tau) \, d\tau), \\ \widetilde{b}(\zeta, t) &= \widetilde{b}(\zeta, 0) \exp(2i \int_0^t \omega(\zeta, \tau) \, d\tau). \end{aligned}$$
(1.291)

(1.290) or (1.291) gives the evolution of the scattering data explicitly.

In summary, the process of solving the initial value problem of nonlinear evolution equations (1.289) of (p,q) is as follows. Here the initial condition is t = 0: $p = p_0$, $q = q_0$.

For given (p_0, q_0) , first solve the x-part of the Lax pair (1.286) for $p = p_0$, $q = q_0$ and get the scattering data corresponding to p_0 and q_0 . Then, using the evolution of the scattering data (1.291), the scattering data corresponding to (p(t), q(t)) are obtained. Finally, solve the integral equations (1.285) to get (p(t), q(t)). Therefore, the inverse scattering method changes the initial value problem of nonlinear partial differential equations to the problem of solving systems of linear integral equations. This gives an effective way to solve the initial value problem. Especially, when $b_r = \tilde{b}_r = 0$, $B_c = \tilde{B}_c = 0$, (1.285) has a degenerate kernel. Hence it can be solved algebraically and the soliton solutions can be obtained. Please see [23] for details.

Remark 16 Denote $\Sigma(p,q)$ to be the scattering data corresponding to (p(x,t),q(x,t)), $p_0(x)$ and $q_0(x)$ to be the initial values of p and q at t = 0, then the procedure of inverse scattering method can be shown in the following diagram:



For a linear equation, if "scattering" is changed to "Fourier transformation" and "inverse scattering" is changed to "inverse Fourier transformation" in the above diagram, then it becomes the diagram for solving the initial value problem by Fourier transformations which has been used extensively for linear problems. Therefore, the scattering and inverse scattering method can be regarded as a kind of Fourier method for nonlinear problems.

1.5.2 Change of scattering data under Darboux transformations for su(2) AKNS system

For the AKNS system, the scattering data include

$$\{\zeta_k, C_k, \zeta_k, C_k, b(\zeta), b(\zeta)\}.$$
(1.293)

The su(2) AKNS system means that $U, V \in su(2)$ for $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, i.e., $q = -\bar{p}$, $\bar{A} = -A$, $C = -\bar{B}$. Therefore, it is just the nonlinear Schrödinger

hierarchy. The Lax pair is

$$\Phi_x = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta & p \\ -\bar{p} & i\zeta \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & -A \end{pmatrix} \Phi$$
(1.294)

where $\overline{A(\overline{\zeta})} = -A(\zeta)$, $\overline{B(\overline{\zeta})} = -C(\zeta)$. Here we consider the su(2) AKNS system instead of general 2 × 2 AKNS system because the Darboux transformation may exist globally in this case.

If
$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha(\zeta) \\ \beta(\zeta) \end{pmatrix}$$
 is a solution of (1.294), then $\begin{pmatrix} -\bar{\beta}(\bar{\zeta}) \\ \bar{\alpha}(\bar{\zeta}) \end{pmatrix}$ is also its solution. This leads to the following property.

Property 8. For the Lax pair (1.294), if $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$, then there are following relations among the Jost solutions and the scattering data:

$$\widetilde{R}_1 = -\bar{R}_2, \quad \widetilde{R}_2 = \bar{R}_1,
\widetilde{L}_1 = \bar{L}_2, \quad \widetilde{L}_2 = -\bar{L}_1,$$
(1.295)

$$\widetilde{r}_{+}(\zeta) = \overline{r}_{-}(\zeta), \qquad \widetilde{r}_{-}(\zeta) = \overline{r}_{+}(\zeta).$$
(1.296)

By reordering the eigenvalues,

$$\widetilde{d} = d, \quad \widetilde{\zeta}_k = \overline{\zeta}_k, \quad \widetilde{C}_k = -\overline{C}_k, \quad \widetilde{b}(\zeta) = \overline{b}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}).$$
(1.297)

Therefore, for the su(2) AKNS system, the scattering data can be reduced to $\zeta_k \in \mathbf{C}_+$, C_k $(k = 1, 2, \dots, d)$ and $b(\zeta)$ $(\zeta \in \mathbf{R})$.

Now we consider the change of the scattering data under Darboux transformations.

From the discussion on the nonlinear Schrödinger hierarchy, we know that if p is defined globally on $(-\infty, +\infty)$, so is the Darboux matrix. In order to use the scattering theory, we want that p and its derivatives tend to 0 fast enough at infinity.

Take a constant μ and a column solution of the Lax pair

$$\psi_r(\zeta_0) - \mu \psi_l(\zeta_0) = \begin{pmatrix} R_1(\zeta_0) e^{-i\zeta_0 x} - \mu L_1(\zeta_0) e^{i\zeta_0 x} \\ R_2(\zeta_0) e^{-i\zeta_0 x} - \mu L_2(\zeta_0) e^{i\zeta_0 x} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.298)
$$(\zeta_0 \in \mathbf{C}_+).$$

Let

$$\sigma = \frac{R_2(\zeta_0) - \mu L_2(\zeta_0) e^{2i\zeta_0 x}}{R_1(\zeta_0) - \mu L_1(\zeta_0) e^{2i\zeta_0 x}}$$
(1.299)

be the ratio of the second and the first components. Then the Darboux matrix is

$$- i\zeta I - S = -i\zeta I - \frac{1}{1 + |\sigma|^2} \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta_0 - i\bar{\zeta}_0|\sigma|^2 & (-i\zeta_0 + i\bar{\zeta}_0)\bar{\sigma} \\ (-i\zeta_0 + i\bar{\zeta}_0)\sigma & -i\bar{\zeta}_0 - i\zeta_0|\sigma|^2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.300)

and the solution is transformed by

$$p' = p + 2i \frac{(\bar{\zeta}_0 - \zeta_0)\bar{\sigma}}{1 + |\sigma|^2}.$$
 (1.301)

The change of the scattering data under Darboux transformation is given by the following theorem [75].

THEOREM 1.22 If the scattering data for (1.294) are $r_{-}(\zeta)$ ($\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}$), $r_{+}(\zeta)$ ($\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$) and $\alpha(\zeta_{k})$ ($k = 1, \dots, d$), then, under the action of the Darboux matrix (1.300) ($\mu \neq 0, \zeta_{0} \in \mathbf{C}_{+}$), the scattering data are changed as follows:

(1) If ζ_0 is not an eigenvalue, then, after the action of the Darboux transformation, the number of eigenvalues increase one. All the original eigenvalues are not changed, and ζ_0 is a unique additional eigenvalue. Moreover,

$$r'_{-}(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \zeta_{0}}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_{0}} r_{-}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}),$$

$$r'_{+}(\zeta) = r_{+}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}),$$

$$\alpha'(\zeta_{k}) = \alpha(\zeta_{k}) \quad (k = 1, \cdots, d),$$

$$\alpha'(\zeta_{0}) = 1/\mu,$$

(1.302)

hence

$$b'(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_0}{\zeta - \zeta_0} b(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}), H$$
$$C'_k = \frac{\zeta_k - \bar{\zeta}_0}{\zeta_k - \zeta_0} C_k \quad (k = 1, \cdots, d), H$$
$$(1.303)$$
$$C'_0 = \frac{\zeta_0 - \bar{\zeta}_0}{\mu r_-(\zeta_0)}.$$

(2) If ζ_0 is an eigenvalue: $\zeta_0 = \zeta_j$, and $\mu \neq \alpha(\zeta_j)$, then, after the action of the Darboux transformation, ζ_0 is no longer an eigenvalue.

Moreover,

$$r'_{-}(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_{0}}{\zeta - \zeta_{0}} r_{-}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}),$$

$$r'_{+}(\zeta) = r_{+}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}),$$

$$\alpha'(\zeta_{k}) = \alpha(\zeta_{k}) \quad (k = 1, \cdots, d, \ k \neq j),$$
(1.304)

and

$$b'(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \zeta_0}{\zeta - \overline{\zeta_0}} b(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}), H$$

$$C'_k = \frac{\zeta_k - \zeta_0}{\zeta_k - \overline{\zeta_0}} C_k \quad (k = 1, \cdots, d, \ k \neq j).$$
(1.305)

Proof. (1) $\zeta_0 \notin IP\sigma(L)$.

Then, both the numerator and denominator of (1.299) are not 0. Property 3 implies

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \sigma = \infty, \quad \lim_{x \to +\infty} \sigma = 0. \tag{1.306}$$

Hence

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} (-i\zeta I - S) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta + i\bar{\zeta}_0 & 0\\ 0 & -i\zeta + i\zeta_0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} (-i\zeta I - S) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta + i\zeta_0 & 0\\ 0 & -i\zeta + i\bar{\zeta}_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.307)

Under the action of the Darboux transformation, the Jost solutions are changed to

$$\psi_r'(x,t,\zeta) = \frac{1}{-i\zeta + i\overline{\zeta_0}} (-i\zeta I - S)\psi_r(x,t,\zeta),$$

$$\psi_l'(x,t,\zeta) = \frac{1}{-i\zeta + i\overline{\zeta_0}} (-i\zeta I - S)\psi_l(x,t,\zeta).$$
(1.308)

Hence

$$R' = \frac{1}{-\mathrm{i}\zeta + \mathrm{i}\bar{\zeta}_0}(-\mathrm{i}\zeta I - S)R. \tag{1.309}$$

If $\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+$,

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} R' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\zeta - \zeta_0}{\zeta - \overline{\zeta}_0} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r_-(\zeta)\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.310)

Thus

$$r'_{-}(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \zeta_0}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_0} r_{-}(\zeta), \qquad (1.311)$$

 $r'_{-}(\zeta)$ has an additional zero ζ_0 than $r_{-}(\zeta)$. This means that ζ_0 is a new eigenvalue. For $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$,

$$R' \sim \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\zeta - \zeta_0}{\zeta - \overline{\zeta_0}} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r_-(\zeta)\\ r_+(\zeta) e^{2i\zeta x} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.312)

Hence $r'_+(\zeta) = r_+(\zeta)$, and

$$b'(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \overline{\zeta_0}}{\zeta - \zeta_0} b(\zeta). \tag{1.313}$$

If ζ_k is a zero of $r_-(\zeta)$, then (1.308) implies $\alpha'(\zeta_k) = \alpha(\zeta_k)$, and

$$C'_{k} = \alpha'(\zeta_{k}) \left/ \frac{\mathrm{d}r'_{-}(\zeta_{k})}{\mathrm{d}\zeta} = \frac{\zeta_{k} - \bar{\zeta}_{0}}{\zeta_{k} - \zeta_{0}} C_{k}.$$
 (1.314)

When $\zeta = \zeta_0$,

$$\psi_{r}'(x,t,\zeta_{0}) = \frac{1}{1+|\sigma|^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} |\sigma|^{2} & -\bar{\sigma} \\ -\sigma & 1 \end{pmatrix} \psi_{r}(x,t,\zeta_{0}),$$

$$\psi_{l}'(x,t,\zeta_{0}) \frac{1}{1+|\sigma|^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} |\sigma|^{2} & -\bar{\sigma} \\ -\sigma & 1 \end{pmatrix} \psi_{l}(x,t,\zeta_{0}),$$
(1.315)

$$\alpha'(\zeta_0) = \frac{\sigma L_1 \exp(i\zeta_0 x) - L_2 \exp(i\zeta_0 x)}{\sigma R_1 \exp(-i\zeta_0 x) - R_2 \exp(-i\zeta_0 x)} = \frac{1}{\mu},$$
(1.316)

$$C'_{0} = \alpha'(\zeta_{0}) / \frac{\mathrm{d}r'_{-}(\zeta_{0})}{\mathrm{d}\zeta} = \frac{\zeta_{0} - \zeta_{0}}{\mu r_{-}(\zeta_{0})}.$$
 (1.317)

(1) is proved. (2) $\zeta_0 = \zeta_j \in IP\sigma(L), \ \mu \neq \alpha(\zeta_j).$ Now) $\mathbf{T}(z)$

$$\sigma = \frac{R_2(\zeta_j)}{R_1(\zeta_j)} = \frac{L_2(\zeta_j)}{L_1(\zeta_j)},$$
(1.318)

hence

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} \sigma = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to +\infty} \sigma = \infty, \tag{1.319}$$

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} (-i\zeta I - S) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta + i\zeta_0 & 0\\ 0 & -i\zeta + i\bar{\zeta}_0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} (-i\zeta I - S) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\zeta + i\bar{\zeta}_0 & 0\\ 0 & -i\zeta + i\zeta_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.320)

Under the action of the Darboux transformation, the Jost solutions become

$$\psi_r'(x,t,\zeta) = \frac{1}{-\mathrm{i}\zeta + \mathrm{i}\zeta_0} (-\mathrm{i}\zeta I - S)\psi_r(x,t,\zeta),$$

$$\psi_l'(x,t,\zeta) = \frac{1}{-\mathrm{i}\zeta + \mathrm{i}\zeta_0} (-\mathrm{i}\zeta I - S)\psi_l(x,t,\zeta).$$
(1.321)

For $\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_+$,

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} R' = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_0}{\zeta - \zeta_0} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r_-(\zeta)\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (1.322)$$

and for $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}$,

$$R' \sim \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}_0}{\zeta - \zeta_0} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r_-(\zeta)\\ r_+(\zeta) e^{2i\zeta x} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.323)

Hence

$$r'_{-}(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \zeta_{0}}{\zeta - \zeta_{0}} r_{-}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{C}_{+} \cup \mathbf{R}),$$

$$r'_{+}(\zeta) = r_{+}(\zeta) \quad (\zeta \in \mathbf{R}),$$
(1.324)

and

$$b'(\zeta) = \frac{\zeta - \zeta_0}{\zeta - \overline{\zeta_0}} b(\zeta). \tag{1.325}$$

From (1.324) we know that the Darboux transformation removes the eigenvalue ζ_0 (= ζ_j). If $\zeta = \zeta_k$ ($k \neq j$), then $\psi'_r = \alpha(\zeta_k)\psi'_l$, hence

$$\alpha'(\zeta_k) = \alpha(\zeta_k),$$

$$C'_k = \alpha'(\zeta_k) \Big/ \frac{\mathrm{d}r'_-(\zeta_k)}{\mathrm{d}\zeta} = \frac{\zeta_k - \zeta_0}{\zeta_k - \bar{\zeta}_0} C_k.$$
(1.326)

The theorem is proved.

We have given the formulae for the change of the scattering data under Darboux transformation in the su(2) case. A Darboux transformation increase or decrease the number of eigenvalues (number of solitons). However, it does not affect the scattering data related to the continuous spectrum. Thus we can use the Darboux transformation to change a general inverse scattering problem to an inverse scattering problem without eigenvalues.

Remark 17 For the KdV equation, q = 1 (or -1) in the Lax pair (1.286). Since q does not tend to zero at infinity, the above conclusions can not be applied directly. However, the inverse scattering theory for the KdV equation is actually simpler than the AKNS system (see [23]). The conclusions similar to Theorem 1.22 for the KdV equation holds true as well [29].

Chapter 2

2+1 DIMENSIONAL INTEGRABLE SYSTEMS

This chapter is devoted to the Darboux transformations of 2+1 dimensional integrable systems. Starting from the KP equation, we discuss the Darboux transformation for 2+1 dimensional AKNS system and more general systems. Unlike the Darboux matrices in 1+1 dimensions, the Darboux transformations here are given by differential operators (called Darboux operators). The construction of the Darboux operators is uniform to all the equations in the system, as in the 1+1 dimensional case. The binary Darboux transformation, which is a kind of Darboux transformation in integral form, is introduced briefly. Explicit solutions of the DSI equation can be obtained by the combination of Darboux transformation and binary Darboux transformation. Moreover, the nonlinear constraint method is used to separate the differentials in the 2+1 dimensional AKNS system so that the Darboux transformation in 1+1 dimensions can be used to get the localized soliton solutions.

2.1 KP equation and its Darboux transformation

A 2+1 dimensional integrable system has three independent variables (x, y, t) where x and y usually refer to space variables and t refers to time variable. A typical 2+1 dimensional integrable partial differential equation is the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation (KP equation) [68]

$$u_{xt} = (u_{xxx} + 6uu_x)_x + 3\alpha^2 u_{yy}, \tag{2.1}$$

where $\alpha = \pm 1$ or $\pm i$. (2.1) is called the KPI equation if $\alpha = \pm 1$, and the KPI equation if $\alpha = \pm i$. The KP equation is the natural generalization
of the KdV equation, which describes the motion of two dimensional water wave. (2.1) can also be written as

$$v_{xt} = v_{xxxx} + 6v_x v_{xx} + 3\alpha^2 v_{yy} \tag{2.2}$$

where v satisfies $v_x = u$. The KP equation has a Lax pair

$$\phi_y = \alpha^{-1} \phi_{xx} + \alpha^{-1} u \phi, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\phi_t = 4\phi_{xxx} + 6u\phi_x + 3(\alpha v_y + u_x)\phi. \tag{2.4}$$

We first derive ϕ_{yt} by differentiating (2.3) with respect to t and inserting the expression of ϕ_t . Also, we can derive ϕ_{ty} by differentiating (2.4) with respect to y and inserting the expression of ϕ_y . The equality $\phi_{yt} = \phi_{ty}$ is equivalent to (2.1) when $\phi \neq 0$. The proof of this fact is direct, which is left for the reader. Therefore, (2.1) is the integrability condition of the overdetermined system (2.3) and (2.4).

The Darboux transformation for the KP equation is similar with that for the KdV equation. It can be constructed as follows. Let h be a solution of the Lax pair (2.3) and (2.4). For any solution ϕ of (2.3) and (2.4), define

$$\phi' = \phi_x - (h_x/h)\phi, \tag{2.5}$$

then ϕ' is a solution of

$$\phi'_{y} = \alpha^{-1} \phi'_{xx} + \alpha^{-1} u' \phi',
\phi'_{t} = 4 \phi'_{xxx} + 6 u' \phi'_{x} + 3(\alpha v'_{y} + u'_{x}) \phi'$$
(2.6)

where

$$u' = u + 2(h_x/h)_x, \qquad v' = v + 2h_x/h.$$
 (2.7)

Comparing (2.6) with (2.3) and (2.4), the only difference is that (u, ϕ) is changed to (u', ϕ') . Hence (2.7) gives a new solution u' of the KP equation [77].

Similar to 1+1 dimensions, if the seed solution u is simple enough, we can solve the Lax pair (2.3) and (2.4) to get h, then (2.5) gives a more complicated solution of the KP equation. Especially, if u = v = 0, then (2.3) and (2.4) becomes

$$\begin{aligned}
\phi_y &= \alpha^{-1} \phi_{xx} \\
\phi_t &= 4 \phi_{xxx}.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.8)

Therefore, for any solution h of (2.8) with $h \neq 0$, $u' = 2(h_x/h)_x$ gives a solution of the KP equation.

2+1 dimensional integrable systems

EXAMPLE 2.1 For $\alpha = 1$, h can be chosen as

$$h = e^{\lambda x + \lambda^2 y + 4\lambda^3 t} + 1, \qquad (2.9)$$

where λ is a real constant, then

$$u' = \frac{\lambda^2}{2} \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{1}{2}(\lambda x + \lambda^2 y + 4\lambda^3 t)\right)$$
(2.10)

is a solution of the KPI equation.

EXAMPLE 2.2 For $\alpha = -i$, let

$$h = e^{\lambda x + i\lambda^2 y + 4\lambda^3 t} + e^{-\bar{\lambda}x + i\bar{\lambda}^2 y - 4\bar{\lambda}^3 t}, \qquad (2.11)$$

where $\lambda = a + bi$ is a complex constant, then we obtain a solution of the KPII equation:

$$u' = 2a^2 \operatorname{sech}^2(ax - 2aby + 4(a^3 - 3ab^2)t).$$
(2.12)

These two solutions are both travelling waves, i.e., they are of form $u' = f(t + a_1x + a_2y)$ and u' is invariant along the line $t + a_1x + a_2y =$ constant on the (x, y) plane. For fixed t, u' is a non-zero constant along certain lines (for KPI, they are $\lambda x + \lambda^2 y =$ constant, while for KPI, they are ax - 2aby = constant), and u' tends to zero exponentially at infinity along other lines. Hence the region where u' is far from zero forms a band on the (x, y) plane. This kind of solutions are call "line-solitons". This does not happen in 1+1 dimensions.

Suppose we have known a solution u of the KP equation and a set of solutions $\{\phi\}$ of the corresponding Lax pair. Let h be a special ϕ , then $u' = u + 2(\ln h)_{xx}$ is a solution of the KP equation. Moreover, $\phi' = \phi_x - (h_x/h)\phi$ gives the set of solutions of the Lax pair for u'. Now we take a special ϕ' as h', then we can obtain another solution $u'' = u' + 2(\ln h')_{xx}$ of the KP equation and the solution $\phi'' = \phi'_x - (h'_x/h')\phi'$ of the corresponding Lax pair by constructing Darboux transformation with h'. Continuing this procedure, we obtain a series of solutions of the KP equation without solving differential equations.

Except the first step, this algorithm can be realized by algebraic computation and differentiations. Therefore, it can be done by symbolic calculation. The solutions are global for all (x, y, t) if $h, h', h'' \cdots$ do not equal zero. This process can be expressed as

$$(u,\phi) \longrightarrow (u',\phi') \longrightarrow (u'',\phi'') \longrightarrow \cdots$$
 (2.13)

The differential operator of order three on the right hand side of (2.4) can be changed to differential operators of arbitrary order, then we get

the KP hierarchy

$$\phi_y = \alpha^{-1} \phi_{xx} + \alpha^{-1} u \phi,$$

$$\phi_t = \sum_{j=0}^n v_{n-j} \partial^j \phi,$$
(2.14)

 $(\partial = \partial/\partial x)$. Computing the integrability condition of (2.14) and letting all the coefficients of the derivatives of ϕ with respect to x be zero, we have

$$2v_{j+1,x} = \alpha v_{j,y} - v_{j,xx} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} C_{n-k}^{n-j} v_k \partial^{j-k} u, \qquad (2.15)$$

$$u_t = \alpha v_{n,y} - v_{n,xx} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} v_k \partial^{n-k} u.$$
 (2.16)

In (2.15), v_{j+1} can be solved by integration. Unlike the 1+1 dimensional systems such as the KdV hierarchy, here, in general, v_j 's can not be expressed as differential polynomials of u. Therefore, (u, v_1, \dots, v_n) are regarded as a set of unknowns of (2.15) – (2.16). The Darboux transformation is still valid for this system. In practical problems, some additional relations among (v_1, \dots, v_n, u) should be satisfied. This is called a reduction of the original one. In that case, we should choose proper h so that the relations among v_1, \dots, v_n, u keeps after the Darboux transformation. Usually this is a difficult problem and some special cases can be solved by certain techniques.

2.2 2+1 dimensional AKNS system and DS equation

2+1 dimensional AKNS system is

$$\Phi_y = J\Phi_x + P\Phi, \qquad \Phi_t = \sum_{j=0}^n V_{n-j}\partial^j\Phi, \qquad (2.17)$$

where J is an $N \times N$ constant diagonal matrix, P(x, y, t) is an offdiagonal $N \times N$ matrix, $V_j(x, y, t)$'s are also $N \times N$ matrices, $\partial = \partial/\partial x$. For simplicity, we assume that the diagonal entries of J are distinct. Moreover, we consider the non-degenerate Φ only.

The integrability condition of (2.17) leads to

$$[J, V_{j+1}^{\text{off}}] = V_{j,y}^{\text{off}} - JV_{j,x}^{\text{off}} - [P, V_j]^{\text{off}} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} C_{n-k}^{n-j} (V_k \partial^{j-k} P)^{\text{off}}, (2.18)$$

2+1 dimensional integrable systems

$$V_{j,y}^{\text{diag}} - JV_{j,x}^{\text{diag}} = [P, V_j^{\text{off}}]^{\text{diag}} - \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} C_{n-k}^{n-j} (V_k \partial^{j-k} P)^{\text{diag}}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$P_t = V_{n,y}^{\text{off}} - JV_{n,x}^{\text{off}} - [P, V_n]^{\text{off}} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (V_k \partial^{n-k} P)^{\text{off}}.$$
 (2.20)

Here the superscripts "diag" and "off" refer to the diagonal and offdiagonal part of a matrix respectively.

Usually V_j 's are not differential polynomials of P. But they can be generated from P by differentiation and integration with respect to x. (2.19) and (2.20) are regarded as a system of partial differential equations for P and V_j^{diag} 's $(j = 0, 1, \dots, n)$ where V_j^{off} 's $(j = 1, \dots, n)$ are determined by (2.18). (2.17) is the Lax pair of this system of equations.

A typical equation in 2+1 dimensional AKNS system is the Davey-Stewartson equation (DS equation), which is the natural generalization of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation in 2+1 dimensions.

Take N = 2, n = 2 in (2.17) and let

$$J = \alpha^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\epsilon \bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\alpha = \pm 1 \text{ or } \pm i, \quad \epsilon = \pm 1,$$

$$V_0 = 2i\alpha J, \quad V_1 = 2i\alpha P,$$

$$V_2 = i\alpha \begin{pmatrix} w_1 & u_x + \alpha u_y \\ -\epsilon \bar{u}_x + \alpha \epsilon \bar{u}_y & w_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

(2.21)

where u, w_1, w_2 are complex-valued functions, \bar{u} is the complex conjugate of u. Then, (2.17) becomes

$$\Phi_{y} = \alpha^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\epsilon \bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$

$$\Phi_{t} = 2i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{xx} + 2i\alpha \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\epsilon \bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x}$$

$$+i\alpha \begin{pmatrix} w_{1} & u_{x} + \alpha u_{y} \\ -\epsilon \bar{u}_{x} + \alpha \epsilon \bar{u}_{y} & w_{2} \end{pmatrix} \Phi.$$
(2.22)

(2.19) and (2.20) lead to

$$iu_{t} = -u_{xx} - \alpha^{2}u_{yy} - \alpha u(w_{1} - w_{2}),$$

$$w_{1,y} - \alpha^{-1}w_{1,x} = \epsilon(|u|^{2})_{x} + \alpha\epsilon(|u|^{2})_{y},$$

$$w_{2,y} + \alpha^{-1}w_{2,x} = \epsilon(|u|^{2})_{x} - \alpha\epsilon(|u|^{2})_{y},$$
(2.23)

and $\overline{w_2 - w_1} = \alpha^{-2}(w_2 - w_1)$. Denote

$$v = -\epsilon |u|^2 + \frac{1}{2\alpha}(w_1 - w_2), \qquad (2.24)$$

then (2.23) becomes

$$iu_t = -u_{xx} - \alpha^2 u_{yy} - 2\epsilon \alpha^2 |u|^2 u - 2\alpha^2 uv,$$

$$v_{xx} - \alpha^2 v_{yy} + 2\epsilon (|u|^2)_{xx} = 0.$$
(2.25)

(2.25) is called the DSI equation if $\epsilon = 1$, $\alpha = \pm 1$, and DSI equation if $\epsilon = 1$, $\alpha = \pm i$. They describe the motion of long wave and short wave in the water of finite depth [20].

2.3 Darboux transformation

2.3.1 General Lax pair

Similar to the KP equation, we also want to construct the Darboux transformation for the AKNS system. Here we first discuss the Darboux transformation for the following more general Lax pair without any reductions.

Consider Lax pair

$$\Phi_y = U(x, y, t, \partial)\Phi, \qquad \Phi_t = V(x, y, t, \partial)\Phi, \qquad (2.26)$$

where

$$U(x, y, t, \partial) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\n}}^{m} U_{m-j}(x, y, t) \partial^{j},$$

$$V(x, y, t, \partial) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{n} V_{n-j}(x, y, t) \partial^{j}$$
(2.27)

are differential operators with respect to x whose coefficients U_j 's and V_j 's are $N \times N$ matrices. For simplicity, we write $U(x, y, t, \partial) = U(\partial)$, $V(x, y, t, \partial) = V(\partial)$.

 $\Phi_{yt} = \Phi_{ty}$ can be obtained by differentiating the first equation of (2.26) with respect to t or by differentiating the second equation with

respect to x. Let these two equal, we get

$$U_t(\partial) - V_y(\partial) + [U(\partial), V(\partial)] = 0.$$
(2.28)

(2.26) is called integrable if (2.28) holds. (2.28) is the generalization of the zero-curvature equations in 1+1 dimensions. It gives a system of partial differential equations by equating all the coefficients of ∂ to be zero.

Remark 18 The existence and uniqueness of the solutions of a system of partial differential equations are very difficult problems. The local solvability of a system of linear partial differential equations have been studied by many authors. In the present case, even (2.28) holds, local solution of (2.26) near $t = t_0$, $y = y_0$ with initial data $\Phi(t_0, x, y_0) =$ $\Phi_0(x)$ may not exist. However, if each set of equations in (2.26) is locally solvable and the solutions are smooth enough with respect to the parameters y and t, $U(\partial)$ and $V(\partial)$ satisfy (2.28), then (2.26) is locally solvable. This follows from the following consideration. Suppose that the initial data $(x_0, y_0, t_0, \Phi_0(x))$ are given. First solve the first set of equations of (2.26) at $t = t_0$ with initial value $\Phi_1(x, y_0) = \Phi_0(x)$ and get the solution $\Phi_1(x, y)$. Using $\Phi_1(x, y)$ as the initial value, solve the second set of equations of (2.26) for fixed y and get the solution $\Phi(x, y, t)$. Using (2.28) and the second equation of (2.26), we have

$$(\Phi_y - U(\partial)\Phi)_t = V(\partial)(\Phi_y - U(\partial)\Phi).$$
(2.29)

Therefore, $\Phi_y = U(\partial)\Phi$ holds identically near (x_0, y_0, t_0) by the uniqueness of the solution.

No matter whether the existence and uniqueness hold, (2.28) is called the integrability condition of (2.26). It gives a system of nonlinear partial differential equations of $U(\partial)$ and $V(\partial)$. (2.26) is called the Lax pair of this system of nonlinear partial differential equations. It is interesting to see that we can apply Darboux transformation as well provided that the set of solutions of (2.26) is not empty.

2.3.2 Darboux transformation of degree one

Similar to 1+1 dimensional case, we can define Darboux operator for the integrable nonlinear partial differential equations (2.28) and there Lax pair (2.26).

DEFINITION 2.3 A differential operator $D(x, y, t, \partial)$ with respect to x is called a Darboux operator for (2.26) if there exist differential operators $U'(\partial)$ and $V'(\partial)$ with respect to x such that for any solution Φ of (2.26), $\Phi' = D(\partial)\Phi$ satisfies

$$\Phi'_{y} = U'(\partial)\Phi', \qquad \Phi'_{t} = V'(\partial)\Phi'. \tag{2.30}$$

The transformation $(\Phi, U(\partial), V(\partial)) \rightarrow (\Phi', U'(\partial), V'(\partial))$ given by $D(\partial)$ is called a Darboux transformation.

Substituting $\Phi' = D\Phi$ into (2.30), we have

$$D_{y}(\partial) = U'(\partial)D(\partial) - D(\partial)U(\partial),$$

$$D_{t}(\partial) = V'(\partial)D(\partial) - D(\partial)V(\partial),$$
(2.31)

and

$$U'_t(\partial) - V'_y(\partial) + [U'(\partial), V'(\partial)] = 0.$$
(2.32)

(2.31) is the necessary and sufficient condition for $D(\partial)$ being a Darboux operator. Hence, if $(U(\partial), V(\partial))$ is a solution of (2.28), so is $(U'(\partial), V'(\partial))$. This means that the Darboux transformation gives a new solution of (2.28). Our main task is to construct the solution D of (2.31).

We first discuss the most fundamental Darboux operator, the Darboux operator of degree one. This is the Darboux operator in the form $D(x, y, t, \partial) = \partial - S(x, y, t)$. The Darboux operator of higher degree will be discussed later. In order to get the general construction of S, we first derive the equations that S should satisfy.

For a matrix M(x), we define a sequence of matrices $M^{(j)}$ by $M^{(0)} = I$ and

$$M^{(j+1)} = M_x^{(j)} + M^{(j)}M, (2.33)$$

then, for any solution Φ of the equation $\Phi_x = M\Phi$, $\partial^j \Phi = M^{(j)}\Phi$ holds. For any differential operator

$$U(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} U_{k-j} \partial^{j}, \qquad V(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} V_{k-j} \partial^{j}$$
(2.34)

and an $N \times N$ matrix S, we define

$$U(S) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} U_{k-j} S^{(j)}, \qquad V(S) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} V_{k-j} S^{(j)}.$$
(2.35)

Suppose that Φ satisfies $\Phi_x = S\Phi$, then $U(\partial)\Phi = U(S)\Phi$, $V(\partial)\Phi = V(S)\Phi$. Notice that U(S) and V(S) are not given by replacing ∂ in $U(\partial)$ and $V(\partial)$ with S. Actually they are obtained by replacing ∂^j with $S^{(j)}$.

THEOREM 2.4 $\partial - S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.26) if and only if S satisfies

$$S_{y} + [S, U(S)] = (U(S))_{x},$$

$$S_{t} + [S, V(S)] = (V(S))_{x}.$$
(2.36)

Proof. Suppose $\partial - S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.26), then the first equation of (2.31) is

$$S_y - (\partial - S)U(\partial) + U'(\partial)(\partial - S) = 0.$$
(2.37)

Let Ψ be the fundamental solution of $\Psi_x = S\Psi$, then

$$S_y \Psi = (\partial - S)U(S)\Psi = (U(S))_x \Psi - [S, U(S)]\Psi.$$
(2.38)

This gives the first equation of (2.36). The second equation is derived similarly. The necessity of (2.36) is proved.

Conversely, suppose S is a solution of (2.36). Define

$$U'(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} U'_{m-j} \partial^j, \qquad (2.39)$$

where U'_i 's are determined recursively by

$$U'_{0} = U_{0},$$

$$U'_{j+1} = U_{j+1} + U_{j,x} - SU_{j} + \sum_{k=0}^{j} C^{m-j}_{m-k} U'_{k} \partial^{j-k} S.$$
(2.40)

Then

$$S_y - (\partial - S)U(\partial) + U'(\partial)(\partial - S)$$
(2.41)

does not contain any terms with ∂ , i.e., it is a matrix-valued function of x, y and t. On the other hand, for any fundamental solution Φ of $\Psi_x = S\Psi$, (2.36) leads to

$$(S_y - (\partial - S)U(\partial) + U'(\partial)(\partial - S))\Psi = 0.$$
(2.42)

Hence, as a matrix,

$$S_y - (\partial - S)U(\partial) + U'(\partial)(\partial - S) = 0.$$
(2.43)

This shows that $\partial - S$ satisfies the first equation of (2.31). The second one can be proved similarly. Therefore, $\partial - S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.26). The theorem is proved.

THEOREM 2.5 $\partial -S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.26) if and only if there exists an $N \times N$ non-degenerate matrix solution H of (2.26) such that $S = H_x H^{-1}$ [122].

Proof. First we prove the sufficiency, i.e., to show the S satisfies (2.36). From (2.26),

$$S_y = H_{xy}H^{-1} - SH_yH^{-1} = (U(S)H)_xH^{-1} - SU(S)$$

= [U(S), S] + (U(S))_x, (2.44)

which is the first equation of (2.36). The second one is derived in the same way.

Now suppose S satisfies (2.36). We shall show that the system of equations

$$H_x = SH, \qquad H_y = U(\partial)H, \qquad H_t = V(\partial)H, \qquad (2.45)$$

has a solution. Clearly (2.45) is equivalent to

$$H_x = SH, \qquad H_y = U(S)H, \qquad H_t = V(S)H.$$
 (2.46)

Hence, we only need to verify the integrability conditions of (2.46). Let Ψ be a fundamental solution of $\Psi_x = S\Psi$. (2.37) implies

$$(\Psi_y - U(\partial)\Psi)_x = (S\Psi)_y - \partial U(\partial)\Psi = S(\Psi_y - U(\partial)\Psi).$$
(2.47)

Hence

$$(V_y(\partial) + V(\partial)U(\partial))\Psi$$

$$= (V(\partial)\Psi)_y - V(\partial)(\Psi_y - U(\partial)\Psi)$$

$$= (V(S)\Psi)_y - V(S)(\Psi_y - U(S)\Psi)$$

$$= V(S)_y\Psi + V(S)U(S)\Psi.$$
(2.48)

Similarly,

$$(U_t(\partial) + U(\partial)V(\partial))\Psi = U(S)_t\Psi + U(S)V(S)\Psi.$$
 (2.49)

Since det $\Psi \neq 0$, the integrability condition (2.28) gives

$$U(S)_t - V(S)_y + [U(S), V(S)] = 0.$$
(2.50)

Hence the integrability condition $H_{yt} = H_{ty}$ for (2.46) holds.

Theorem 2.4 gives the other two integrability conditions $H_{xy} = H_{yx}$ and $H_{xt} = H_{tx}$. Hence (2.46) is integrable. For given initial value $H = H_0$ at $(t, x, y) = (t_0, x_0, y_0)$, (2.46) has a solution H. If H_0 is nondegenerate, H is also non-degenerate in a neighborhood of (t_0, x_0, y_0) . That is, (2.46) has a non-degenerate matrix solution H such that $S = H_x H^{-1}$. The theorem is proved.

2+1 dimensional integrable systems

If there is no reduction, this theorem shows that any Darboux operator in the form $\partial - S$ can be expressed explicitly by the solutions of the Lax pair. Darboux transformation exists as long as the Lax pair has a nondegenerate $N \times N$ matrix solution. Under the Darboux transformation, U_j is transformed to U'_j given by (2.40). V'_j 's have similar expressions.

Thus, we have constructed the Darboux transformation

$$(U, V, \Phi) \longrightarrow (U', V', \Phi'). \tag{2.51}$$

This process can be continued by algebraic and differential operations to get infinite number of solutions provided that the set of solutions of the Lax pair for the seed solution is big enough.

For the AKNS system (2.17), the action of the Darboux operator $\partial -S$ gives

$$(\partial - S)(J\partial + P) - S_x = (J\partial + P')(\partial - S).$$
(2.52)

The coefficients of ∂^2 on both sides are equal. Comparing the coefficient of ∂ , we have

$$P' = P + [J, S]. \tag{2.53}$$

For practical problems, the entries of U and V often have some constraint relations. In that case, H in the theorem should also satisfy certain conditions so that (U', V') and (U, V) satisfy the same constraints. If so, we can obtain a transformation from a solution of a nonlinear partial differential equation to a solution of the same equation.

Remark 19 For the KP equation, the construction for the Darboux operator is completely the same as in Section 2.1. However, for the Davey-Stewartson equation, it is more difficult because we should consider the relations among the entries of P. We shall discuss it in Section 2.4.

Similar with the 1+1 dimensional case, we can also compose several Darboux transformations of degree one to a Darboux transformation of higher degree. However, they can be constructed directly with explicit formulae.

2.3.3 Darboux transformation of higher degree and the theorem of permutability

Now we discuss a Darboux operator of higher degree. It is a differential operator in the form

$$D(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{r} D_{r-j} \partial^{j}, \qquad D_0 = I$$
(2.54)

such that

$$D_{y}(\partial) = U'(\partial)D(\partial) - D(\partial)U(\partial),$$

$$D_{t}(\partial) = V'(\partial)D(\partial) - D(\partial)V(\partial).$$
(2.55)

Here $U'(\partial)$ and $V'(\partial)$ are differential operators with respect to x.

For simplicity, we only discuss the Darboux operator of degree two. When r > 2, the Darboux operator can also be written down explicitly, but is more complicated.

THEOREM 2.6 Let H_1 and H_2 be two $N \times N$ non-degenerate matrix solutions of (2.26). Let F be the block matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} H_1 & H_2\\ \partial H_1 & \partial H_2 \end{array}\right). \tag{2.56}$$

Suppose det $F \neq 0$, then the following conclusions hold: (1) There is a unique differential operator of degree two

$$D(H_1, H_2, \partial) = \partial^2 + D_1 \partial + D_2 \tag{2.57}$$

satisfying

$$D(H_1, H_2, \partial)H_i = 0$$
 $(i = 1, 2).$ (2.58)

It is a Darboux operator.

(2) The theorem of permutability holds:

$$D(H_1, H_2, \partial) = D(H_2, H_1, \partial).$$
 (2.59)

(3) There is a decomposition

$$D(H_1, H_2, \partial) = D(D(H_1, \partial)H_2, \partial)D(H_1, \partial).$$
(2.60)

Proof. Since det $F \neq 0$, the linear algebraic system

$$D_1 \partial H_1 + D_2 H_1 = -\partial^2 H_1, \quad D_1 \partial H_2 + D_2 H_2 = -\partial^2 H_2$$
 (2.61)

for D_1, D_2 has a unique solution, which determines $D(\partial)$ uniquely and $D(\partial)$ satisfies (2.58). Since (2.61) is symmetric with respect to H_1 and H_2 , (2) holds.

By the definitions of $D(D(H_1, \partial)H_2, \partial)$ and $D(H_1, \partial)$,

$$D(D(H_1, \partial)H_2, \partial)D(H_1, \partial)H_1 = 0,$$

$$D(D(H_1, \partial)H_2, \partial)D(H_1, \partial)H_2 = 0.$$
(2.62)

Hence (2.60) holds. From (2.60) it is seen that $D(H_1, H_2, \partial)$ is a Darboux operator because it is the composition of two Darboux operators of degree one.

Similar to (1.134), the theorem of permutability can be expressed by the following diagram:

$$(U^{(1)}, V^{(1)}, \Phi^{(1)}) \xrightarrow{H_2} (U^{(1,2)}, V^{(1,2)}, \Phi^{(1,2)}) \\ (U, V, \Phi) & || \\ (U^{(2,1)}, V^{(2,1)}, \Phi^{(2,1)}) \\ H_2 & (U^{(2)}, V^{(2)}, \Phi^{(2)}) \xrightarrow{H_1} (2.63)$$

EXAMPLE 2.7 For the KP equation, N = 1, we can get the expression of u after the Darboux transformation. Denote $H_i = h_i$. Suppose the Darboux operator is

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\prime} D_{r-j} \partial^j, \qquad (2.64)$$

then Theorem 2.6 implies

$$\sum_{j=0}^{r-1} D_{r-j} \partial^j h_i = -\partial^r h_i, \qquad (2.65)$$

i.e.,

$$(D_r, \cdots, D_1)F_r = -(\partial^r h_1, \cdots, \partial^r h_r).$$
(2.66)

Solving this system, we have

$$D_{1} = -\det \begin{pmatrix} h_{1} & \partial h_{1} & \cdots & \partial^{r-2}h_{1} & \partial^{r}h_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{r} & \partial h_{r} & \cdots & \partial^{r-2}h_{r} & \partial^{r}h_{r} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \\ \cdot \left(\det \begin{pmatrix} h_{1} & \partial h_{1} & \cdots & \partial^{r-2}h_{1} & \partial^{r-1}h_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ h_{r} & \partial h_{r} & \cdots & \partial^{r-2}h_{r} & \partial^{r-1}h_{r} \end{pmatrix} \right)^{-1} \qquad (2.67)$$
$$= -(\ln \det F_{r})_{x}.$$

Therefore, for the KP equation, the transformation between two solutions is $% \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) = 0$

$$u' = u - 2D_{1,x} = u + 2(\ln \det F_r)_{xx}.$$
(2.68)

Many solutions can be obtained in this way [77, 80, 89].

2.4 Darboux transformation and binary Darboux transformation for DS equation

2.4.1 Darboux transformation for DSII equation

In Section 2.2 we introduced the DSI and DSII equations (2.25) and their Lax pairs (2.17) and (2.21). Since the reductions in DSI equation and in DSII equation are different, the method of solving these two equations are also quite different.

First, consider the DSII equation, i.e., $\epsilon = 1$, $\alpha = -i$ [120].

In this case, we should have $w_2 = \bar{w}_1$. Hence $v = -|u|^2 + \frac{i}{2}(w_1 - \bar{w}_1)$, and J, P, V_j (j = 0, 1, 2) are

$$J = i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V_0 = 2J, \quad V_1 = 2P, \quad V_2 = \begin{pmatrix} w_1 & u_x - iu_y \\ -\bar{u}_x - i\bar{u}_y & \bar{w}_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.69)

J, P and V_j have the properties

$$\bar{J} = \sigma J \sigma^{-1}, \quad \bar{P} = \sigma P \sigma^{-1}, \quad \bar{V}_j = \sigma V_j \sigma^{-1} \quad (j = 0, 1, 2), \quad (2.70)$$

where

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.71}$$

 \overline{P} is the matrix each of whose entry is the complex conjugate of the corresponding entry of P. Now (2.25) becomes

$$iu_t = -u_{xx} + u_{yy} + 2|u|^2 u + 2uv,$$

$$v_{xx} + v_{yy} + 2(|u|^2)_{xx} = 0.$$
(2.72)

Its Lax pair is

$$\Phi_{y} = i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi,
\Phi_{t} = 2i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{xx} + 2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} w_{1} & u_{x} - iu_{y} \\ -\bar{u}_{x} - i\bar{u}_{y} & \bar{w}_{1} \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$
(2.73)

with

$$v = -|u|^2 + \frac{i}{2}(w_1 - \bar{w}_1).$$
(2.74)

The Darboux operator for (2.73) is constructed as follows. Suppose $(\xi, \eta)^T$ is a solution of (2.73), then $(-\bar{\eta}, \bar{\xi})^T$ is also its solution. Hence we can choose

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} \xi & -\bar{\eta} \\ \eta & \bar{\xi} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.75)$$

$$S = H_x H^{-1} = \frac{1}{|\xi|^2 + |\eta|^2} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\xi}\xi_x + \eta\bar{\eta}_x & \bar{\eta}\xi_x - \xi\bar{\eta}_x \\ \bar{\xi}\eta_x - \eta\bar{\xi}_x & \xi\bar{\xi}_x + \bar{\eta}\eta_x \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.76)

Since $\bar{H} = \sigma H \sigma^{-1}$, we have $\bar{S} = \sigma S \sigma^{-1}$. The equations

$$U'(\partial)(\partial - S) = (\partial - S)U(\partial) - S_y,$$

$$V'(\partial)(\partial - S) = (\partial - S)V(\partial) - S_t$$
(2.77)

imply

$$\bar{U}' = \sigma U' \sigma^{-1},$$

$$\bar{V}' = \sigma V' \sigma^{-1}.$$
(2.78)

This means that the Darboux transformation keeps the reduction relations (2.70) invariant.

After the action of the Darboux operator $\partial - S$,

$$P' = P + [J, S],$$

$$V'_{2} = V_{2} + V_{1,x} + 2V_{0}S_{x} + [V_{0}, S]S + [V_{1}, S].$$
(2.79)



Figure 2.1. Single line-soliton, t = 0

Hence the new solution of the DSII equation is

$$u' = u + 2iS_{12} = u + 2i\frac{\bar{\eta}\xi_x - \xi\bar{\eta}_x}{|\xi|^2 + |\eta|^2},$$

$$v' = v - 2(\operatorname{Re} S_{11})_x = v - (\ln(|\xi|^2 + |\eta|^2))_{xx}.$$
(2.80)

EXAMPLE 2.8 Take the seed solution u = 0, then we can choose v = 0 $(w_1 = 0), \xi = \xi(x + iy, t), \eta = \eta(x - iy, t)$ (i.e., ξ is analytic with respect to x + iy and η is analytic with respect to x - iy) satisfying $\xi_t = 2i\xi_{xx}$, $\eta_t = -2i\eta_{xx}$. For these $(\xi, \eta), (u, v)$ given by (2.80) are all solutions of DSII equation. Especially, let $\xi = e^{\alpha x + i\alpha y + 2i\alpha^2 t}, \eta = e^{\bar{\beta}x - i\bar{\beta}y - 2i\bar{\beta}^2 t}$, then

$$u = \frac{2\mathrm{i}(\alpha - \beta)e^{(\alpha + \beta)x + \mathrm{i}(\alpha + \beta)y + 2\mathrm{i}(\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2})t}}{e^{2\mathrm{Re}\alpha x - 2\mathrm{Im}\alpha y - 2\mathrm{Im}(\alpha^{2})t} + e^{2\mathrm{Re}\beta x - 2\mathrm{Im}\beta y - 2\mathrm{Im}(\beta^{2})t}},$$

$$v = -\frac{4(\mathrm{Re}\alpha - \mathrm{Re}\beta)^{2}e^{2\mathrm{Re}(\alpha + \beta)x - 2\mathrm{Im}(\alpha + \beta)y - 2\mathrm{Im}(\alpha^{2} + \beta^{2})t}}{(e^{2\mathrm{Re}\alpha x - 2\mathrm{Im}\alpha y - 2\mathrm{Im}(\alpha^{2})t} + e^{2\mathrm{Re}\beta x - 2\mathrm{Im}\beta y - 2\mathrm{Im}(\beta^{2})t})^{2}}.$$
(2.81)

When t is fixed, the solution u is a constant along the line with slope $x : y = \text{Im}(\beta - \alpha) : \text{Re}(\beta - \alpha)$, and tends to zero in any other directions. This kind of solution also belongs to "line-soliton".

Multi-line-solitons can be obtained by successive Darboux transformations. They tend to zero at infinity except for finitely many directions.

Figures 2.1 – 2.4 show the single line-soliton and multi-line-solitons, where the parameters are $\alpha_1 = 3 + 2i$, $\beta_1 = 1 + i$, $\alpha_2 = i$, $\beta_2 = (2 + i)/4$. (For the single line-soliton, only (α_1, β_1) is used.)



Figure 2.2. Double line-soliton, t = 0



Figure 2.3. Double line-soliton, t = 0.5



Figure 2.4. Double line-soliton, t = 1

Remark 20 Comparing to the general method discussed in the last section, the key point in the construction of Darboux transformation for the DSII equation is the choice of H in (2.75). Although it is successful to the DSII equation, it can not be applied to the DSI equation.

2.4.2 Darboux transformation and binary Darboux transformation for DSI equation

When $\epsilon = 1$ and $\alpha = 1$, (2.25) becomes

$$iu_t + u_{xx} + u_{yy} + 2|u|^2u + 2uv = 0,$$

$$v_{xx} - v_{yy} + 2(|u|^2)_{xx} = 0,$$
(2.82)

and its Lax pair is

$$\Phi_{y} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$

$$\Phi_{t} = 2i \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{xx} + 2i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi_{x}$$

$$+i \begin{pmatrix} w_{1} & u_{x} + u_{y} \\ -\bar{u}_{x} + \bar{u}_{y} & w_{2} \end{pmatrix} \Phi,$$
(2.83)

where

$$v = -|u|^2 + \frac{1}{2}(w_1 - w_2), \qquad (2.84)$$

 w_1 and w_2 are real functions.

Since we can not find the solution H of (2.83) like that of (2.75) to construct the Darboux transformation for (2.82), we should use the binary Darboux transformation. The binary Darboux transformation was first introduced by V. B. Matveev et al and has many applications [4, 81, 80, 72, 125, 126]. Here we show its application to DSI equation for constructing new solutions. For the general case, please refer to [80].

For simplicity, rewrite (2.83) as

$$\Phi_y = J\Phi_x + P\Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = 2iJ\Phi_{xx} + 2iP\Phi_x + iV_2\Phi.$$
(2.85)

Apart from this Lax pair, consider its adjoint equations

$$\Psi_y = \Psi_x J - \Psi P,$$

$$\Psi_t = -2i\Psi_{xx}J + 2i(\Psi P)_x - i\Psi V_2.$$
(2.86)

With $P^* = -P$ and $V_2^* = V_2 - 2P_x$, we know that if Φ is a solution of (2.85), then $\Psi = \Phi^*$ is a solution of (2.86), and vice versa. Therefore, as soon as a solution of (2.85) or (2.86) is known, a solution of its adjoint equations is also known.

Similar to Section 2.3, we first take Darboux transformation for the adjoint equation (2.86):

$$\Psi' = \Psi_x - \Psi S,$$

$$P' = P + [J, S],$$

$$V'_2 = V_2 - 2P_x + 2[P, S] - 2S[J, S] + 2(JS_x + S_x J)$$
(2.87)

where

$$S = \Psi_0^{-1} \Psi_{0,x}, \tag{2.88}$$

 Ψ_0 is a non-degenerate 2 × 2 matrix solution of (2.86). Notice that P' does not satisfy $P'^* = -P'$, and Ψ'^* is not a solution of (2.85) with P replaced by P'. In order to preserve the reduction, the binary Darboux transformation is a useful tool. To get a new solution of the DSI equation, it needs the following steps:

Step 1: For a solution Φ of (2.85) and a solution Ψ of the adjoint equations (2.86), define 1-form

$$\omega(\Psi, \Phi) = \Psi \Phi \,\mathrm{d}x + \Psi J \Phi \,\mathrm{d}y + 2\mathrm{i}(\Psi P \Phi + \Psi J \Phi_x - \Psi_x J \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}t. \quad (2.89)$$

It can be verified that $\omega(\Psi, \Phi)$ is a closed 1-form, that is, its exterior differential $d\omega(\Psi, \Phi) = 0$. Hence, in a simply connected region, the integral of ω along any closed curve is zero. In $\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$, define

$$\Omega(\Psi, \Phi)(x, y, t) = \int_{(x_0, y_0, t_0)}^{(x, y, t)} \omega(\Psi, \Phi), \qquad (2.90)$$

which is independent of the path of integration, and $\omega(\Psi, \Phi) = d\Omega(\Psi, \Phi)$.

Step 2: Let $\Phi' = \Psi_0^{-1}\Omega(\Psi_0, \Phi)$, then we can verify that Φ' is a solution of (2.85) with (P, V_2) replaced by (P', V'_2) .

Step 3: Let $\Phi'_0 = \Psi_0^{-1} \Omega(\Psi_0, \Psi_0^*)$. Acting the Darboux operator $\partial - \Phi'_0 \Phi'_0^{-1}$ on Φ' , we get the Darboux transformation

$$\Phi'' = \Phi'_x - \Phi'_{0,x} \Phi'_0^{-1} \Phi' = \Phi - \Psi_0^* \Omega(\Psi_0, \Psi_0^*)^{-1} \Omega(\Psi_0, \Phi),
P'' = P' + [J, \Psi'_{0,x} \Psi_0'^{-1}] = P + [J, \Psi_0^* \Omega(\Psi_0, \Psi_0^*)^{-1} \Psi_0].$$
(2.91)

 $P^* = -P$ leads to $P''^* = -P''$. Therefore, we get a new solution of the DSI equation.

The process in Step 1 and Step 2 is called a binary Darboux transformation. For the DSI equation, a new solution is obtained by the composition of a Darboux transformation and a binary Darboux transformation. It needs differentiation and integration in this procedure.

2.5 Application to 1+1 dimensional Gelfand-Dickey system

In this section, we use Theorem 2.5 to discuss the Darboux transformation for the (1+1 dimensional) Gelfand-Dickey system

$$\lambda \Phi = U(x, t, \partial) \Phi,$$

$$\Phi_t = V(x, t, \partial) \Phi$$
(2.92)

where

$$U(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} U_{m-j}(x,t)\partial^{j},$$

$$V(\partial) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} V_{n-j}(x,t)\partial^{j}.$$
(2.93)

From the first equation of (2.92), we can compute Φ_t and it should be the same as that given by the second equation of of (2.92). This gives the integrability condition

$$U_t(\partial) + [U(\partial), V(\partial)] = 0 \tag{2.94}$$

of (2.92).

Let $D(x, t, \partial)$ be a differential operator. If for any solution Φ of (2.92), $\Phi' = D(\partial)\Phi$ satisfies

$$\lambda \Phi' = U'(x, t, \partial) \Phi',$$

$$\Phi'_t = V'(x, t, \partial) \Phi',$$
(2.95)

where U' and V' are differential operators of the form

$$U'(\partial) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{m} U'_{m-j}(x,t)\partial^{j},$$

$$V'(\partial) = \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{n} V'_{n-j}(x,t)\partial^{j},$$

(2.96)

then $D(x, t, \partial)$ is called a Darboux operator for (2.92).

For a differential operator $D(x, t, \partial) = \partial - S(x, t)$, we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.9 $\partial - S(x,t)$ is a Darboux operator for (2.92) if and only if $S = H_x H^{-1}$, where H is an $N \times N$ non-degenerate matrix solution of

$$\begin{aligned} H\Lambda &= U(\partial)H, \\ H_t &= V(\partial)H, \end{aligned}$$
 (2.97)

and Λ is a constant upper-triangular matrix.

Proof. Introduce a new variable y and consider the system

$$\Psi_y = U(x, t, \partial)\Psi,$$

$$\Psi_t = V(x, t, \partial)\Psi.$$
(2.98)

If $\partial - S(x,t)$ is a Darboux operator for (2.92), then there exist $U'(\partial)$ and $V'(\partial)$ such that

$$0 = (\partial - S)U(\partial) - U'(\partial)(\partial - S),$$

$$S_t = (\partial - S)V(\partial) - V'(\partial)(\partial - S).$$
(2.99)

Since S is independent of y and (2.37) holds, $\partial - S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.98) which is independent of y. According to Theorem 2.5, there exists an $N \times N$ non-degenerate matrix solution H_0 of (2.98) such that $S = H_{0,x}H_0^{-1}$. Here H_0 may depend on y. Let $L_0 = H_0^{-1}H_{0,y}$, (2.36) leads to

$$L_{0} = H_{0}^{-1}U(S)H_{0},$$

$$L_{0,x} = -H_{0}^{-1}H_{0,x}H_{0}^{-1}U(S)H_{0} + H_{0}^{-1}(U(S))_{x}H_{0}$$

$$+H_{0}^{-1}U(S)H_{0,x}$$

$$= H_{0}^{-1}\{(U(S))_{x} - [S,U(S)]\}H_{0} = 0,$$

and (2.50) leads to

$$\begin{split} L_{0,y} &= -H_0^{-1}H_{0,y}H_0^{-1}U(S)H_0 + H_0^{-1}U(S)H_{0,y} = 0, \\ L_{0,t} &= -H_0^{-1}H_{0,t}H_0^{-1}U(S)H_0 + H_0^{-1}(U(S))_t H_0 \\ &\quad +H_0^{-1}U(S)H_{0,t} \\ &= H_0^{-1}\{(U(S))_t + [U(S),V(S)]\}H_0 = 0. \end{split}$$

Hence L_0 is a constant matrix. Therefore, there exists a constant uppertriangular matrix Λ and a constant matrix T such that $L_0 = T\Lambda T^{-1}$. According to the definition of L_0 ,

$$H_{0,y} = H_0 T \Lambda T^{-1}.$$

Hence

$$H_0(x, y, t) = H(x, t) \exp(\Lambda y) T^{-1}$$

where H satisfies (2.97) and $S = H_x H^{-1}$.

Conversely, if H is a solution (2.97) and $S = H_x H^{-1}$, then S satisfies (2.99), i.e., $\partial - S$ is a Darboux operator for (2.92). The theorem is proved.

Remark 21 (1) When N = 1, H satisfies the Lax pair (2.92).

(2) If L_0 in the above theorem is diagonalizable, then each column in H satisfies the Lax pair (2.92) for specific λ .

EXAMPLE 2.10 The original Darboux transformation for the KdV equation can also be deduced from the above theorem. The KdV equation

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0 \tag{2.100}$$

has the Lax pair

$$\lambda \phi = -\phi_{xx} - u\phi,$$

$$\phi_t = 2(2\lambda - u)\phi_x + u_x\phi.$$
(2.101)

From Theorem 2.9, the Darboux transformation is

$$\phi' = \phi_x - \frac{f_x}{f}\phi \tag{2.102}$$

where f is a solution of the Lax pair for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. The new solution given by this Darboux transformation is

$$u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx}.$$
 (2.103)

EXAMPLE 2.11 The Boussinesq equation

$$(u_{xxx} + 6uu_x)_x + 3\epsilon u_{tt} = 0 \quad (\epsilon = \pm 1)$$

has the Lax pair

$$\lambda \phi = \phi_{xxx} + \frac{3u}{2} \phi_x + w\phi,$$

$$\phi_t = \sigma \phi_{xx} + \sigma u\phi$$
(2.104)

 $(\sigma^2 = \epsilon, w_x = 3(\sigma u_{xx} + u_t)/4\sigma)$. Theorem 2.9 also gives the Darboux transformation [73]

$$\phi' = \phi_x - \frac{f_x}{f}\phi \tag{2.105}$$

where f is a solution of the Lax pair for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. The new solution of the Boussinesq equation is

$$u' = u + 2(\ln f)_{xx},$$

$$w' = w + \frac{3}{2}u_x + 3((\ln f)_{xxx} + (\ln f)_x(\ln f)_{xx}).$$
(2.106)

2.6 Nonlinear constraints and Darboux transformation in 2+1 dimensions

Now we come back to the 2+1 dimensional AKNS system. In this section we will use the nonlinear constraint method and the Darboux transformation method to solve this system.

The basic idea of the nonlinear constraint method is:

(1) Find a suitable nonlinear relation between U and Ψ and express U as a nonlinear matrix function of Ψ : $U = f(\Psi)$.

(2) Substitute $U = f(\Psi)$ into the Lax pair so that the original Lax pair becomes a system of nonlinear partial differential equations of Ψ . In each equation, the derivative with respect to only one of x, y, t is concerned.

(3) The constraint $U = f(\Psi)$ is suitable so that the new system of nonlinear equations has a Lax set (generalized Lax pair).

Then by solving the new system of nonlinear equations and its Lax set, we can get solutions of the original problem.

This idea was first applied in 1+1 dimensional integrable systems [11] and was generalized to the (2+1 dimensional) KP equation [14, 71]. Here we pay our attention to the 2+1 dimensional AKNS system so that we can get localized solutions solutions. With this method, we can also get a lot of non-localized solutions [123, 124]. However, since localized solutions are more interesting, here we only consider localized solutions [127, 128].

In order to use the nonlinear constraint method, here we add some conditions on the 2+1 dimensional AKNS system. As in Section 2.2, the 2+1 dimensional AKNS system is

$$\Psi_y = J\Psi_x + U(x, y, t)\Psi,$$

$$\Psi_t = \sum_{j=0}^n V_j(x, y, t)\partial^{n-j}\Psi$$
(2.107)

where $\partial = \partial/\partial x$, $J = \text{diag}(J_1, \dots, J_N)$ is a constant diagonal $N \times N$ matrix with distinct entries. U(x, y, t) is off-diagonal. Moreover, here we want that all J_j 's are real and $U^* = -U$. In this case, we call (2.107) a hyperbolic u(N) AKNS system. The condition $U^* = -U$ will imply that the solutions are globally defined, and the condition J_i 's are real will guarantee that there exist localized solutions.

As in Section 2.2, the integrability conditions of (2.107) are given by (2.20).

Now we introduce a new linear system

88

$$\Phi_{x} = \begin{pmatrix} i\lambda I & iF \\ iF^{*} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi, \qquad \Phi_{y} = \begin{pmatrix} i\lambda J + U & iJF \\ iF^{*}J & 0 \end{pmatrix} \Phi,
\Phi_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} W & X \\ Y & Z \end{pmatrix} \Phi = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \begin{pmatrix} W_{j} & X_{j} \\ -X_{j}^{*} & Z_{j} \end{pmatrix} \lambda^{n-j} \Phi$$
(2.108)

where F, W_j, X_j, Z_j are $N \times K, N \times N, N \times K, K \times K$ matrices respectively $(K \ge 1)$ and satisfy $W_j^* = -W_j, Z_j^* = -Z_j$. The integrability conditions of (2.108) consists of

$$F_y = JF_x + UF,$$

$$iF_t = X_{n,x} + iW_nF - iFZ_n,$$
(2.109)

$$iX_{j+1} = X_{j,x} + iW_jF - iFZ_j \quad (j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1)$$

$$W_{j,x} = -iFX_j^* - iX_jF^* \quad (j = 0, 1, \dots, n)$$

$$Z_{j,x} = iF^*X_j + iX_j^*F \quad (j = 0, 1, \dots, n)$$

$$i[J, W_{j+1}] = W_{j,y} - [U, W_j] + iJFX_j^* + iX_jF^*J$$

$$(j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1)$$

$$Z_{j,y} = iF^*JX_j + iX_j^*JF \quad (j = 0, 1, \dots, n),$$

$$U_x = [J, FF^*],$$
(2.111)

$$U_t = W_{n,y} - [U, W_n] + iJFX_n^* + iX_nF^*J.$$
(2.112)

For U = 0, F = 0, (2.110) implies that $W_j(\lambda) = i\Omega_j(t)$, $X_j = 0$, $Z_j = iZ_j^0(t)$ where $\Omega_j(t)$'s are real diagonal matrices and $Z_j^0(t)$'s are real matrices.

When $Z_j^0(t) = \zeta_j(t) I_K$ (I_K is the $K \times K$ identity matrix) where $\zeta_j(t)$ is a real function of t, (2.109) is just the Lax pair (2.107) for n = 1, 2, 3. (2.110) and (2.112) give the recursion relations to determine W_i, X_i, Z_i , together with the evolution equations corresponding to (2.18)-(2.20), which are the integrability conditions of (2.107). (2.111) gives a nonlinear constraint between U and F.

This system includes the DSI equation and the 2+1 dimensional Nwave equation as special cases.

In order to consider the asymptotic behavior of the solution U, here we suppose Ω_j is independent of t and $\zeta_j = 0$. Moreover, denote $\Omega = \sum_{i=0}^n \Omega_j \lambda^{n-j}$ and write $\Omega = \text{diag}(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N)$.

Remark 22 (2.108) is a special case of the high-dimensional generalized AKNS system (3.1). Here we only consider this special system to find localized solutions. The general theory will be discussed in the next chapter.

The soliton solutions are obtained by Darboux transformations from U = 0, F = 0. In the present case, the Darboux transformation can be constructed as in Subsection 1.4.4 with u(n) reduction. However, in order to get localized solutions, there should be more restrictions on the parameters of Darboux transformations.

Let λ_{α} ($\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, r$) be r non-real complex numbers such that $\lambda_{\alpha} \neq \lambda_{\beta}$ for $\alpha \neq \beta$ and $\lambda_{\alpha} \neq \overline{\lambda}_{\beta}$ for all α, β . Let

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \operatorname{diag}(\underbrace{\lambda_{\alpha}, \cdots, \lambda_{\alpha}}_{N}, \underbrace{\bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}, \cdots, \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}}_{K}).$$
(2.113)

Considering the orthogonal relation (1.241), we can always take

$$H_{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} \exp(Q_{\alpha}) & -\exp(-Q_{\alpha}^{*})C_{\alpha}^{*} \\ C_{\alpha} & I_{K} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.114)$$

where C_{α} 's are $K \times N$ constant matrices,

$$Q_{\alpha} = \operatorname{diag}(q_1, \cdots, q_N), \quad q_j = \mathrm{i}\lambda_{\alpha}x + \mathrm{i}\lambda_{\alpha}J_jy + \mathrm{i}\omega_j(\lambda_{\alpha}, t). \quad (2.115)$$

According to Section 1.4, the derived solutions are always global. However, in order to get localized solutions, we choose special

$$C_{\alpha} = (0, \cdots, 0, \underset{l_{\alpha}}{\kappa_{\alpha}}, 0, \cdots, 0)$$
(2.116)

where κ_{α} is a constant $K \times 1$ non-zero vector being the l_{α} 's column of C_{α} .

The Darboux matrices for such $\{\Lambda_{\alpha}, H_{\alpha}\}$ can be constructed as follows. Let

$$D^{(1)}(\lambda) = \lambda - H_1 \Lambda_1 H_1^{-1}, \quad H_{\alpha}^{(1)} = D^{(1)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) H_{\alpha}$$

$$(\alpha = 2, 3, \cdots, r),$$

$$D^{(2)}(\lambda) = \lambda - H_2^{(1)} \Lambda_2 H_2^{(1)-1}, \quad H_{\alpha}^{(2)} = D^{(2)}(\lambda_{\alpha}) H_{\alpha}^{(1)}$$

$$(\alpha = 3, 4, \cdots, r),$$

$$\cdots$$

$$D^{(r)}(\lambda) = \lambda - H_r^{(r-1)} \Lambda_r H_r^{(r-1)-1},$$

$$D(\lambda) = D^{(r)}(\lambda) D^{(r-1)}(\lambda) \cdots D^{(1)}(\lambda), \qquad (2.118)$$

then $D(\lambda)$ is a polynomial of λ of degree r. The permutability (Theorem 1.12) implies that if $(\Lambda_{\alpha}, H_{\alpha})$ and $(\Lambda_{\beta}, H_{\beta})$ are interchanged, $D(\lambda)$ is invariant.

Let

$$m_j = \#\{ \alpha \mid 1 \le \alpha \le r, \, l_\alpha = j \} \qquad m = (m_1, \cdots, m_N)$$
 (2.119)

then $m_1 + \cdots + m_N = r$.

Suppose

$$D(\lambda) = \lambda^{r} - D_{1}\lambda^{r-1} + \dots + (-1)^{r}D_{r}.$$
 (2.120)

The solution given by this Darboux matrix is

$$U^{[m]} = \mathbf{i}[J, (D_1)_{B_N}]. \tag{2.121}$$

Here $(D_1)_{B_N}$ denotes the first $N \times N$ principal submatrix of D_1 .

In order to consider the localization, the asymptotic behavior as $t \rightarrow \infty$ and the asymptotic behavior as the phase difference tends to infinity uniformly, we write

$$q_j = a_{\alpha j}s + b_{\alpha j} \tag{2.122}$$

where $a_{\alpha j}$ and $b_{\alpha j}$ are independent of s. Here s can be a linear parameter of a straight line in (x, y) plane, or time t, or any other parameters.

Moreover, denote

$$\rho_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Re}(a_{\alpha,l_{\alpha}}), \qquad \phi_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Im}(a_{\alpha,l_{\alpha}}),
\pi_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Re}(b_{\alpha,l_{\alpha}}), \qquad \psi_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Im}(b_{\alpha,l_{\alpha}}).$$
(2.123)

In order to prove the following theorem, we need some symbols and simple facts.

If M_1 , M_2 are $j \times k$ matrices, we write $M_1 \doteq M_2$ if there is a nondegenerate diagonal $k \times k$ matrix A such that $M_2 = M_1 A$.

2+1 dimensional integrable systems

If L is a $k \times k$ diagonal matrix, M_1 and M_2 are $k \times k$ matrices with $M_1 \doteq M_2$ and det $M_1 \neq 0$, then $M_1 L M_1^{-1} = M_2 L M_2^{-1}$. Let

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} a & -v^*/\bar{a} \\ v & I_K \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.124)

where $v \neq 0$ is an $K \times 1$ vector, $a \neq 0$ is a number. Let

$$\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 & \\ & \bar{\lambda}_0 I_K \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.125)

Then we have

$$M^{-1} = \frac{1}{\Delta} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{a} & v^* \\ -\bar{a}v & \Delta I_K - vv^* \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.126)$$

$$M\Lambda M^{-1} = \frac{1}{\Delta} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\lambda}_0 \Delta + (\lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0)|a|^2 & (\lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0)av^* \\ (\lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0)\bar{a}v & \bar{\lambda}_0 \Delta I_K + (\lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0)vv^* \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.127)

where $\Delta = v^* v + |a|^2$. Moreover,

$$\lim_{a \to \infty} M \Lambda M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_0 & \\ & \bar{\lambda}_0 I_K \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.128)$$

$$\lim_{a \to 0} M\Lambda M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\lambda}_0 & \\ & \bar{\lambda}_0 I_K + (\lambda_0 - \bar{\lambda}_0) \frac{vv^*}{v^*v} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.129)

THEOREM 2.12 (1) If there is at most one α $(1 \leq \alpha \leq r)$ such that $\rho_{\alpha} = 0, \text{ then } \lim_{s \to \infty} U^{[m]} = 0.$ (2) If $\rho_{\alpha_j} = 0 \ (j = 1, 2, \cdots, q)$ with $\alpha_j \neq \alpha_k \text{ for } j \neq k, \ \rho_{\gamma} \neq 0 \text{ for all}$

 $\gamma \neq \alpha_j \ (j = 1, \dots, q) \ and \ l_{\alpha_1} = \dots = l_{\alpha_q}, \ then \ \lim_{s \to \infty} U^{[m]} = 0.$ (3) If $\rho_{\alpha} = 0, \ \rho_{\beta} = 0 \ (\alpha \neq \beta), \ \rho_{\gamma} \neq 0 \ for \ all \ \gamma \neq \alpha, \beta, \ and \ l_{\alpha} \neq l_{\beta}, \ then$

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} U_{ab}^{[m]} = 0 \quad for \ (a,b) \neq (l_{\alpha}, l_{\beta})$$

$$(2.130)$$

and as $s \to \infty$,

$$U_{l_{\alpha},l_{\beta}}^{[m]} \sim \frac{B_{\alpha\beta} \exp(i(\psi_{\alpha} - \psi_{\beta}) + i(\phi_{\beta} - \phi_{\alpha})s)}{A_{\alpha\beta} \cosh(\pi_{\alpha} + \pi_{\beta} - \delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)}) + \cosh(\pi_{\alpha} - \pi_{\beta} - \delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(2)})}$$
(2.131)

where $A_{\alpha\beta}$, $\delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)}$, $\delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(2)}$ are real constants, $A_{\alpha\beta} > 0$, and $B_{\alpha\beta}$ are complex constants. Moreover, if K = 1, then $B_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$ if and only if $\kappa_{\alpha} \neq 0$ and $\kappa_{\beta} \neq 0$.

Proof. First suppose $\rho_{\alpha} \neq 0$. By (2.128) and (2.129),

$$\lim_{\rho_{\alpha}s \to \pm \infty} H_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\alpha}H_{\alpha}^{-1} = S_{\alpha}^{\pm \infty}$$
(2.132)

where

$$S_{\alpha}^{+\infty} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{\alpha} I_{N} \\ \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha} I_{K} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$S_{\alpha}^{-\infty} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_{\alpha} I_{N} + (\bar{\lambda}_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\alpha}) E_{l_{\alpha} l_{\alpha}} \\ \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha} I_{K} + (\lambda_{\alpha} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}) \frac{\kappa_{\alpha} \kappa_{\alpha}^{*}}{\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \kappa_{\alpha}}, \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.133)

 E_{jk} is an $N \times N$ matrix whose (j, k)th entry is 1 and the rest entries are zero. For $\beta \neq \alpha$,

$$(\lambda_{\beta} - S_{\alpha}^{\pm \infty})H_{\beta} \doteq \begin{pmatrix} \exp(Q_{\beta}(s)) & -\exp(-Q_{\beta}(s)^{*})\widetilde{C}_{\beta}^{\pm *} \\ \widetilde{C}_{\beta}^{\pm} & I_{K} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.134)

where

$$\widetilde{C}_{\beta}^{\pm} = (0, \cdots, 0, \widetilde{\kappa}_{\beta}^{\pm}, 0, \cdots, 0),$$

$$\widetilde{\kappa}_{\beta}^{+} = \frac{\lambda_{\beta} - \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\beta} - \lambda_{\alpha}} \kappa_{\beta},$$

$$\widetilde{\kappa}_{\beta}^{-} = \begin{cases}
\frac{\lambda_{\beta} - \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\beta} - \lambda_{\alpha}} \kappa_{\beta} - \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} - \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\beta} - \lambda_{\alpha}} \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \kappa_{\beta}}{\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \kappa_{\alpha}} \kappa_{\alpha} & \text{if } l_{\beta} \neq l_{\alpha},$$

$$\kappa_{\beta} - \frac{\lambda_{\alpha} - \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}}{\lambda_{\beta} - \overline{\lambda}_{\alpha}} \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \kappa_{\beta}}{\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \kappa_{\alpha}} \kappa_{\alpha} & \text{if } l_{\beta} = l_{\alpha}.$$
(2.135)

Therefore, if $\rho_{\alpha} \neq 0$, the action of the limit Darboux matrix $\lambda - S_{\alpha}^{\pm \infty}$ on H_{β} ($\beta \neq \alpha$) does not change the form of H_{β} , but only changes the constant vector κ_{β} .

constant vector κ_{β} . If K = 1, then $\kappa_{\beta}^{\pm *} \kappa_{\gamma}^{\pm} \neq 0$ implies $\tilde{\kappa}_{\beta}^{\pm *} \tilde{\kappa}_{\gamma}^{\pm} \neq 0$. When K > 1, this does not hold in general.

Now suppose $\rho_{\alpha} = 0$. Without loss of generality, suppose $l_{\alpha} = 1$. Then

$$H_{\alpha} \doteq \begin{pmatrix} \exp(\pi_{\alpha}) & -\exp(-\bar{\pi}_{\alpha})\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \\ 1 & 0 \\ & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & 1 & 0 \\ & & & \kappa_{\alpha} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & I_{K} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.136)

By (2.127),

$$H_{\alpha}\Lambda_{\alpha}H_{\alpha}^{-1} = \frac{1}{\Delta} \cdot \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}\Delta + (\lambda_{\alpha} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha})\exp(\pi_{\alpha} + \bar{\pi}_{\alpha}) & (\lambda_{\alpha} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha})\exp(\pi_{\alpha})\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \\ & \lambda_{\alpha} & 0 \\ & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & \lambda_{\alpha} & 0 \\ (\lambda_{\alpha} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha})\exp(\bar{\pi}_{\alpha})\kappa_{\alpha} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}\Delta I_{K} + (\lambda_{\alpha} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha})\kappa_{\alpha}\kappa_{\alpha}^{*} \end{array} \right)$$

$$(2.137)$$

where $\Delta = \exp(\pi_{\alpha} + \bar{\pi}_{\alpha}) + \kappa_{\alpha}^* \kappa_{\alpha}$.

Part (1) of the theorem is derived as follows. Owing to the permutability of Darboux transformations, we can suppose $\rho_1 \neq 0, \dots, \rho_{r-1} \neq 0$, $\rho_r = 0$. Then, as $s \to \infty$, $D^{(\alpha)}$ tends to a diagonal matrix for $\alpha \leq r-1$. Considering (2.137), the limit of $(D^{(r)}(\lambda))_{B_N}$ is also diagonal, hence

$$U^{[m]} = \mathbf{i}[J, (D_1)_{B_N}] \to 0.$$
 (2.138)

Now we turn to prove part (2). We use the construction of Darboux matrices in (1.258). However, the λ in (1.258) should be replaced by $i\lambda$ because of its appearance in (2.108).

Let

$$\mathring{H}_{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} \exp(Q_{\alpha}(s)) \\ C_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{\mathring{H}_{\alpha}^{*}\mathring{H}_{\beta}}{\lambda_{\beta} - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}}, \quad (2.139)$$

then the Darboux matrix is

$$D(\lambda) = \prod_{\alpha=1}^{r} (\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{\alpha}) \left(1 - \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{r} \frac{\check{H}_{\alpha}(\Gamma^{-1})_{\alpha\beta} \check{H}_{\beta}^{*}}{\lambda - \bar{\lambda}_{\beta}} \right)$$
(2.140)

and the new solution is

$$U^{[m]} = i \left[J, \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{r} \left(\mathring{H}_{\alpha}(\Gamma^{-1})_{\alpha\beta} \mathring{H}_{\beta}^{*} \right)_{B_{N}} \right].$$
(2.141)

First, suppose q = r and $\alpha_j = j$ $(j = 1, 2, \dots, r)$. Since

and $l_1 = \cdots = l_q$, we have

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{11} & \cdots & \Gamma_{1q} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \Gamma_{q1} & \cdots & \Gamma_{qq} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.143)

where Γ_{jk} 's are $N \times N$ diagonal matrices. Therefore,

$$\Gamma^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \Sigma_{11} & \cdots & \Sigma_{1q} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \Sigma_{q1} & \cdots & \Sigma_{qq} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.144)

where Σ_{jk} 's are also $N \times N$ diagonal matrices. This implies that $U^{[m]} = 0$.

When r > q, we use the permutability of Darboux transformations and suppose $\rho_1 \neq 0, \dots, \rho_{r-q} \neq 0, \rho_{r-q+1} = \dots = \rho_r = 0$. Then, after the action of $D^{(r-q)}(\lambda) \cdots D^{(1)}(\lambda)$, the derived $H_{r-q+1}^{(r-q)}$ and $H_r^{(r-q)}$ have the same asymptotic form as H_{r-q+1} and H_r respectively, provided that the constant vectors κ_{r-q+1} and κ_r are changed to $\kappa_{r-q+1}^{(r-q)}$ and $\kappa_r^{(r-q)}$. Therefore, as in the case r = q, the limits of the components of $U^{[m]}$ are all zero. This proved part (2).

Now we prove part (3). First consider the case r = 2. Suppose \mathring{H}_j is given by (2.142) (j = 1, 2) and $l_1 \neq l_2$. Denote

$$\theta_{12} = \frac{\kappa_1^* \kappa_2}{\sqrt{\kappa_1^* \kappa_1 \kappa_2^* \kappa_2}},\tag{2.145}$$

2+1 dimensional integrable systems

$$g_{12} = 1 - \frac{4 \operatorname{Im} \lambda_1 \operatorname{Im} \lambda_2}{|\lambda_2 - \bar{\lambda}_1|^2} |\theta_{12}|^2 > 0, \qquad (2.146)$$

then, by direct calculation, we have

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} U_{l_1, l_2}^{[m]} \exp(i(\phi_2 - \phi_1)s) = \frac{2i(J_{l_2} - J_{l_1}) \operatorname{Im} \lambda_1 \operatorname{Im} \lambda_2 \theta_{12}}{\overline{\lambda}_2 - \lambda_1} \cdot \frac{\exp(i(\psi_1 - \psi_2))}{\sqrt{g_{12}} \cosh(\pi_1 + \pi_2 - \delta_1) + \cosh(\pi_1 - \pi_2 - \delta_2)}, \quad (2.147)$$

$$\delta_1 = \frac{1}{2} \ln g_{12} + \frac{1}{2} \ln(\kappa_1^* \kappa_1 \kappa_2^* \kappa_2) + 2 \ln \left| \frac{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}{\overline{\lambda}_2 - \overline{\lambda}_1} \right|, \quad \delta_2 = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{\kappa_1^* \kappa_1}{\kappa_2^* \kappa_2},$$

and $U_{\mu\nu}^{[m]} \to 0$ if $(\mu, \nu) \neq (l_1, l_2)$. When r > 2, we still use the permutability of Darboux transformations and suppose $\rho_1 \neq 0, \dots, \rho_{r-2} \neq 0, \rho_{r-1} = \rho_r = 0$. As in the proof of part (2), after the action of $D^{(r-2)}(\lambda) \cdots D^{(1)}(\lambda)$, the derived $H_{r-1}^{(r-2)}$ and $H_r^{(r-2)}$ have the same asymptotic form as H_{r-1} and H_r respectively, provided that the constant vectors κ_{r-1} and κ_r are changed to $\kappa_{r-1}^{(r-2)}$ and $\kappa_r^{(r-2)}$. Therefore, as in the case r=2, the limit of U_{l_{r-1},l_r} has the desired form, and the limits of the other components of $U^{[m]}$ are all zero. The theorem is proved.

Now we can discuss the properties of the solution $U^{[m]}$.

(1) Localization of the solutions

For the Lax pair (2.108),

$$Q_{\alpha} = i\lambda_{\alpha}(x + Jy) + i\omega(\lambda_{\alpha})t. \qquad (2.148)$$

Consider the limit of the solution as $(x, y) \to \infty$ along a straight line $x = \xi + v_x s, \ y = \eta + v_y s \ (v_x^2 + v_y^2 > 0), \text{ then}$

$$Q_{\alpha} = i\lambda_{\alpha}(\xi + J\eta) + i\omega(\lambda_{\alpha})t + i\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + Jv_y)s.$$
(2.149)

Now

$$\rho_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Re}\left(i\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + J_{l_{\alpha}}v_y)\right) = -\operatorname{Im}\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + J_{l_{\alpha}}v_y).$$
(2.150)

If there is at most one $\rho_{\alpha} = 0$, then part (1) of Theorem 2.12 implies that $U^{[m]} \to 0$ as $s \to \infty$. If $\rho_{\alpha} = 0$, $\rho_{\beta} = 0$ ($\alpha \neq \beta$), then $l_{\alpha} = l_{\beta}$ since $J_{l_{\alpha}} \neq J_{l_{\beta}}$ if $l_{\alpha} \neq l_{\beta}$. Hence, part (2) of Theorem 2.12 also implies $U^{[m]} \to 0$ as $s \to \infty$. Therefore, we have

THEOREM 2.13 $U^{[m]} \to 0$ as $(x, y) \to \infty$ in any directions.

(2) Asymptotic behavior of the solutions as $t \to \infty$

Now we use a frame (ξ, η) which moves in a fixed velocity (v_x, v_y) , that is, let $x = \xi + v_x t$, $y = \eta + v_y t$, then

$$Q_{\alpha} = i\lambda_{\alpha}(\xi + J\eta) + (i\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + Jv_y) + i\omega(\lambda_{\alpha}))t, \qquad (2.151)$$

$$\rho_{\alpha} = -\operatorname{Im} \lambda_{\alpha} (v_x + J_{l_{\alpha}} v_y) - \operatorname{Im}(\omega_{l_{\alpha}}(\lambda_{\alpha})).$$
(2.152)

Suppose that for distinct α , β , γ ,

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & J_{l_{\alpha}} & \sigma_{\alpha} \\ 1 & J_{l_{\beta}} & \sigma_{\beta} \\ 1 & J_{l_{\gamma}} & \sigma_{\gamma} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0$$
(2.153)

where

$$\sigma_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Im}(\omega_{l_{\alpha}}(\lambda_{\alpha})) / \operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{\alpha}).$$
(2.154)

Then there are at most two $\rho_{\alpha} = 0$ ($\alpha = 1, \dots, r$). By Theorem 2.12, $U_{l_{\alpha}, l_{\beta}}^{[m]} \not\rightarrow 0$ only if $\rho_{\alpha} = 0, \ \rho_{\beta} = 0$. This leads to

$$v_x = \frac{J_{l_\alpha}\sigma_\beta - J_{l_\beta}\sigma_\alpha}{J_{l_\beta} - J_{l_\alpha}}, \qquad v_y = \frac{\sigma_\alpha - \sigma_\beta}{J_{l_\beta} - J_{l_\alpha}}.$$
 (2.155)

For $U_{jk}^{[m]} \neq 0$, α , β can take m_j and m_k values respectively, hence there are at most $m_j m_k$ velocities (v_x, v_y) such that $U_{jk}^{[m]} \neq 0$. Therefore, we have

THEOREM 2.14 Suppose (2.153) is satisfied. Then as $t \to \infty$, the asymptotic solution of $U_{jk}^{[m]}$ has at most $m_j m_k$ peaks whose velocities are given by (2.155) $(l_{\alpha} = j, l_{\beta} = k)$. If a peak has velocity (v_x, v_y) , then, in the coordinate $\xi = x - v_x t$, $\eta = y - v_y t$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} U_{ab} = 0$ for all $(a, b) \neq (j, k)$, and as $t \to \infty$

$$U_{jk}^{[m]} \sim \frac{B_{\alpha\beta} \exp(i \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta})\xi + i(\lambda_{\alpha}J_j - \lambda_{\beta}J_k)\eta + i(\phi_{\alpha} - \phi_{\beta})t)}{\Delta},$$

$$\Delta = A_{\alpha\beta} \cosh(\operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{\alpha} + \lambda_{\beta})\xi + \operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{\alpha}J_j + \lambda_{\beta}J_k)\eta + \delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(1)})$$

$$+ \cosh(\operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta})\xi + \operatorname{Im}(\lambda_{\alpha}J_j - \lambda_{\beta}J_k)\eta + \delta_{\alpha\beta}^{(2)})$$

(2.156)

where $A_{\alpha\beta}$, $\delta^{(1)}_{\alpha\beta}$, $\delta^{(2)}_{\alpha\beta}$ are real constants, $A_{\alpha\beta} > 0$, and $B_{\alpha\beta}$ are complex constants,

$$\phi_{\gamma} = \operatorname{Re} \lambda_{\gamma} (v_x + J_{l_{\gamma}} v_y) + \operatorname{Re}(\omega_{l_{\gamma}}(\lambda_{\gamma})) \quad (\gamma = \alpha, \beta).$$
(2.157)

Remark 23 The condition (2.153) implies that the velocities of the solitons are all different. This is true for the DSI equation. However, for the 2+1 dimensional N-wave equation, all the solitons move in the same velocity. We shall discuss this problem later.

EXAMPLE 2.15 DSI equation Let n = 2, N = 2,

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad U = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & u \\ -\bar{u} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \omega = -2iJ\lambda^2, \quad (2.158)$$

then we have

$$F_{y} = JF_{x} + UF,$$

$$F_{t} = 2iJF_{xx} + 2iUF_{x} + i \begin{pmatrix} |u|^{2} + 2q_{1} & u_{x} + u_{y} \\ -\bar{u}_{x} + \bar{u}_{y} & -|u|^{2} - 2q_{2} \end{pmatrix} F,$$
(2.159)

$$-iu_t = u_{xx} + u_{yy} + 2|u|^2u + 2(q_1 + q_2)u,$$

$$q_{1,x} - q_{1,y} = q_{2,x} + q_{2,y} = -(|u|^2)_x,$$
(2.160)

$$(FF^*)^D = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} q_1 & 0 \\ 0 & q_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad [J, FF^*] = U_x.$$
 (2.161)

(2.160) is the DSI equation.

If we construct the solution $U^{[m]}$ as above, then Theorem 2.13 implies that $U^{[m]} \to 0$ as $(x, y) \to \infty$ in any directions. If $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_{\alpha} \neq \operatorname{Re} \lambda_{\beta}$ for $\alpha \neq \beta$ and $l_{\alpha} = l_{\beta}$, then, Theorem 2.14 implies that as $t \to \infty$, the derived solution u has at most m_1m_2 peaks $(m_1 + m_2 = r)$. From $(2.154), \sigma_{\alpha} = -4J_{l_{\alpha}} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_{\alpha}$, hence (2.155) implies that each peak has the velocity $v_x = 2 \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_{\beta}), v_y = 2 \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_{\alpha} + \lambda_{\beta})$ $(l_{\alpha} = 1, l_{\beta} = 2)$. This is the (m_1, m_2) solitons [30]. When K = 1, these peaks do not vanish if and only if all κ_{α} 's are non-zero.

Figures 2.5 – 2.7 show the solitons $u^{[1,3]}$, $u^{[2,3]}$ and $u^{[3,3]}$ respectively. The parameters are K = 1, t = 2, $\lambda_1 = 1 - 2i$, $\lambda_2 = -3 - i$, $\lambda_3 = 2 + i$, $\lambda_4 = -1 + 3i$, $\lambda_5 = 2 + 1.5i$, $\lambda_6 = -0.5 - 1.5i$, $C_1 = (1,0)$, $C_2 = (0,1)$, $C_3 = (0,2)$, $C_4 = (0,-2)$, $C_5 = (2,0)$, $C_6 = (-2,0)$.

(3) Asymptotic solutions as the phases differences tend to infinity

For the equations whose solitons move in the same speed, like the 2+1 dimensional N-wave equation, the peaks do not separate as $t \to \infty$.



Figure 2.5. $u^{[1,3]}$ of the DSI equation



Figure 2.6. $u^{[2,3]}$ of the DSI equation

However, we can still see some peaks in the figures. Here we will get the corresponding asymptotic properties of the solitons.

THEOREM 2.16 Let p_{α} ($\alpha = 1, \dots, r$) be constant real numbers satisfying

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & J_{l_{\alpha}} & p_{\alpha} / \operatorname{Im} \lambda_{\alpha} \\ 1 & J_{l_{\beta}} & p_{\beta} / \operatorname{Im} \lambda_{\beta} \\ 1 & J_{l_{\gamma}} & p_{\gamma} / \operatorname{Im} \lambda_{\gamma} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0$$
(2.162)

for distinct α , β , γ . Let d_{α} be complex constant $K \times 1$ vectors, $\kappa_{\alpha} = d_{\alpha} \exp(p_{\alpha}\tau)$ and construct the Darboux transformations as above. Let



Figure 2.7. $u^{[3,3]}$ of the DSI equation

 $x = \xi + v_x \tau, \ y = \eta + v_y \tau$, then, for any j, k with $1 \le j, k \le N, \ j \ne k$, $\lim_{\tau \to \infty} U_{jk}^{[m]} \ne 0$ only if (v_x, v_y) takes specific $m_j m_k$ values.

Proof. Here

$$Q_{\alpha} = i\lambda_{\alpha}(\xi + J\eta) + i\omega(\lambda_{\alpha})t + i\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + Jv_y)\tau.$$
(2.163)

Hence

$$\overset{\,\,{}_{\,\,}}{H}_{\alpha} \doteq \left(\begin{array}{c} \exp(\widetilde{Q}_{\alpha}(\tau)) \\ D_{\alpha} \end{array}\right) \tag{2.164}$$

where

$$D_{\alpha} = (0, \cdots, 0, \underset{l_{\alpha}}{d_{\alpha}}, 0, \cdots, 0), \qquad (2.165)$$

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\alpha}(\tau) = i\lambda_{\alpha}(\xi + J\eta) + i\omega(\lambda_{\alpha})t + (i\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + Jv_y) - p_{\alpha})\tau.$$
(2.166)

The real part of the coefficient of τ in $\widetilde{Q}_{\alpha}(\tau)$ is

$$\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} = -\operatorname{Im}\lambda_{\alpha}(v_x + Jv_y) - p_{\alpha}.$$
(2.167)

Condition (2.162) implies that there are at most two $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$'s such that $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} = 0$. According to Theorem 2.12, as $\tau \to \infty$, $U_{jk}^{[m]} \neq 0$ only if there exist $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} = 0$, $\tilde{\rho}_{\beta} = 0$, $\alpha \neq \beta$, $l_{\alpha} = j$, $l_{\beta} = k$. Therefore, the theorem is verified.

When the condition (2.153) holds, this theorem is useless, because the evolution will always separate the peaks. However, when (2.153) does not hold, especially when it is never satisfied, this theorem reveals a fact of the separation of the peaks.

EXAMPLE 2.17 2+1 dimensional N-wave equation

Let n = 1, $\omega = L\lambda$ where $L = \text{diag}(L_1, \dots, L_N)$ is a constant real diagonal matrix such that $L_j \neq L_k$ for $j \neq k$. Then, the integrability conditions (2.109) – (2.112) imply

$$F_y = JF_x + UF, \quad F_t = LF_x + VF, \tag{2.168}$$

$$[J, V] = [L, U], \quad U_t - V_y + [U.V] + JV_x - LU_x = 0, (2.169)$$

$$U_x = [J, FF^*]. (2.170)$$

(2.169) is just the 2+1 dimensional N-wave equation.

Suppose $U^{[m]}$ is constructed as above, then Theorem 2.13 implies that $U^{[m]} \to 0$ as $(x, y) \to \infty$ in any directions. Theorem 2.14 cannot be applied here. The reason is: the condition (2.153) holds only if $l_{\alpha} \neq l_{\beta}$ for $\alpha \neq \beta$. Hence for any $j, m_j = 0$ or 1. This implies that (2.153) does not hold generally unless $m_j = 0$ or 1 for all $1 \leq j \leq N$. Therefore, we apply Theorem 2.16 to the previous problem. Theorem 2.16 implies that if we choose $\{p_{\alpha}\}$ such that (2.162) is satisfied, then, for each (j, k), $\lim_{\tau\to\infty} U_{jk}^{[m]}$ has at most $m_j m_k$ peaks. When K = 1, these peaks do not vanish if and only if all κ_{α} 's are non-zero.

Remark 24 Here $\tau \to \infty$ means that the phase differences of different peaks tend to infinity. Therefore, the peaks are separated by enlarging the phase differences.

Here are the figures describing the solutions $U^{[0,1,2]}$ and $U^{[1,1,2]}$ of the 3-wave equation. The vertical axis is $(|u_{12}|^2 + |u_{13}|^2 + |u_{23}|^2)^{1/4}$ so that all the components are shown in one figure. The parameters are

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & 0 & \\ & & -1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad L = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & & \\ & -1 & \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

 $K = 1, t = 10, \lambda_1 = 1 - 2i, \lambda_2 = -3 - i, \lambda_3 = 2 + i, \lambda_4 = -1 + 3i, C_1 = (0, 1, 0), C_2 = (0, 0, 1), C_3 = (0, 0, 4096), C_4 = (1, 0, 0).$ Note that for $U^{[0,1,2]}$, only U_{23} has two peaks, and for $U^{[1,1,2]}$, U_{12} , U_{13} , U_{23} have one, two, two peaks respectively.



Figure 2.8. $U^{[0,1,2]}$ of the 3-wave equation



Figure 2.9. $U^{[1,1,2]}$ of the 3-wave equation
References

- M. J. Ablowitz, R. Beals and K. Tenenblat, On the solution of the generalized wave and generalized sine-Gordon equation, Stud. in Appl. Math. 74 (1986), 177.
- [2] M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newell and H. Segur, Nonlinear evolution equations of physical significance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 31 (1973), 125.
- [3] M. F. Atiyah, Instantons in two and four dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 93 (1984), 437.
- [4] M. V. Babich, V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle, Binary Darboux transformations for the Toda Lattice, J. Sov. Math. 35 (1986).
- [5] R. Beals and R. R. Coifman, Scattering and inverse scattering for first order systems, Comm. Pure. Appl. Math. 37 (1984), 39.
- [6] R. Beals and R. R. Coifman, Inverse scattering and evolution equations, Comm. Pure. Appl. Math. 38 (1985), 29.
- [7] R. Beals and K. Tenenblat, An intrinsic generalization for the wave and sine-Gordon equation, Differential Geometry, Pitman Monograph 52, Longman, Harlow (1991), 25.
- [8] E. J. Beggs, Solitons in the chiral equations, Comm. Math. Phys. 128 (1990), 131.
- [9] A. I. Bobenko, Surfaces in terms of 2 by 2 matrices: Old and New integrable cases, Harmonic maps and integrable systems, Vieweg (1994), 83.
- [10] J. Bolton and L. M. Woodward, The affine Toda equations and minimal surfaces, Harmonic maps and Integrable systems, Ed: A. P. Fordy and J. C. Wood, Viewig (1994).
- [11] C. W. Cao, Nonlinearization of Lax equations of AKNS system, Sci. in China A (1989), 701-707.
- [12] L. L. Chau, J. C. Show and H. C. Yen, A generalized Bäcklund transformation for the (super symmetric) self-dual Yang-Mills fields, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A4 (1989), 2715.
- [13] Y. Cheng, Constraint of integrable systems: from higher to lower dimensions, Phys. Lett. A166 (1992), 217.

- [14] Y. Cheng and Y. S. Li, The constraint of the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation and its special solutions, Phys. Lett. A157 (1991), 22.
- [15] S. S. Chern, Geometrical interpretation of sinh-Gordon equation, Annals Polinci Math. 39 (1981), 63.
- [16] S. S. Chern and J. Wolfson, Harmonic maps of the two-sphere into a complex Grassmannian manifold I, Ann. Math. 125 (1987), 301.
- [17] J. Cieśliński, An algebraic method to construct the Darboux matrix, J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995), 5670.
- [18] G. Darboux, Sur une proposition relative aux équations linéaires, Compts Rendus Hebdomadaires des Seances de l'Academie des Sciences, Paris 94 (1882), 1456.
- [19] G. Darboux, Leçons sur la théorie générale des surfaces, Gauthier-Villars (1915).
- [20] A. Davey and K. Stewartson, On three-dimensional packets of surface waves, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A338 (1974), 101.
- [21] Y. X. Dong, C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, *Elliptic version of Laplace sequence of surfaces in* \mathbf{CP}^n , Preprint (2004).
- [22] Y. X. Dong and Y. B. Shen, Factorization and uniton numbers for harmonic maps into the unitary group U(N) 39 (1996), 589.
- [23] W. Eckhaus and A. Van Harten, The inverse scattering transformation and the theory of solitons, North-Holland Publishing Company (1981).
- [24] J. Eells and L. Lemaire, Two reports on harmonic maps, World Scientific (1995).
- [25] J. Eells and J. H. Sampson, Harmonic mappings of Riemannian manifolds, Amer. J. Math. 86 (1964), 109.
- [26] L. P. Eisenhart, A treatise on the differential geometry of curves and surfaces, Dover, NewYork (1960).
- [27] F. J. Ernst, New formulation of the axially symmetric gravitational field problem I, II, Phys. Rev. 167 (1968) 1175; 168 (1968), 1415.
- [28] P. S. Finikoff, Sur les suites de Laplace contenent des congruences de Wilcynski, Comptes Reudus 189 (1928), 517.
- [29] H. Flaschka and D. W. McLaughlin, Canonically conjugate variables for the Kortewegde Vries equation and the Toda lattice with periodic boundary conditions, Progr. Theor. Phys. 55 (1976), 438.
- [30] A. S. Fokas and P. M. Santini, Coherent structures in multidimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989), 1329.
- [31] A. P. Fordy and J. C. Wood, Harmonic Maps and Integrable Systems, Vieweg (1994).
- [32] C. H. Gu, On the Bäcklund transformations for the generalized hierarchies of compound MKdV-SG equation, Lett. Math. Phys. 11 (1986), 31.

- [33] C. H. Gu, On the Darboux form of Bäcklund transformations, in Integrable System, Nankai Lectures on Math. Phys., World Scientific (1989), 162.
- [34] C. H. Gu, Darboux transformations for a class of integrable systems in n variables, Analyse, Variét'es et Physique, Proc. of Colloque International en l'honneur d'Yvonne Choquet-Bruhat, Kluwer (1992).
- [35] C. H. Gu, On the interaction of solitons for a class of integrable systems in the spacetime \mathbf{R}^{n+1} , Lett. Math. Phys. 26 (1992), 199.
- [36] C. H. Gu, On the motion of a string in a curved space-time, Proc. of 1982 Grossmann Symposium, 139.
- [37] C. H. Gu, On the Cauchy problem for harmonic map defined on two dimensional Minkowski space, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 33 (1980), 727.
- [38] C. H. Gu, On the harmonic maps from $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$ to $\mathbb{S}^{1,1}$, J. Reine Angw. Math. 346 (1984), 101.
- [39] C. H. Gu, A class of integrable systems and solitons in higher dimensional spacetime Rⁿ⁺¹, Proc. of the Workshop on Qualitative Aspect and Applications of Nonlinear Equations, Trieste, 1993, World Scientific (1994), 11.
- [40] C. H. Gu, Generalized self-dual Yang-Mills flows, explicit solutions and reductions, Acta Applicandae Mathematicae, Proc. of KdV'95, Acta Appl. Math. 39 (1995).
- [41] C. H. Gu, Integrable evolution systems based on generalized self-dual Yang-Mills equations and their soliton-like solutions, Lett. Math. Phys. (1995), 61.
- [42] C. H. Gu, Darboux transformation and solitons for Yang-Mills-Higgs equations, Science in China Ser. A 45 (2002), 706.
- [43] C. H. Gu, Bäcklund transformations and Darboux transformations, Soliton theory and its applications, Springer-Verlag and Zhejiang Science and Technology Publishing House (1995), 122.
- [44] C. H. Gu, Y. X. Dong and Y. B. Shen, Constructive factorizations of unitons via singular Darboux transformations, Sci. China A43 (2000), 149.
- [45] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, A unified explicit form of Bäcklund transformations for generalized hierarchies of KdV equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 11 (1986), 325.
- [46] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, The soliton behavoir of principal chiral fields, Int. J. Mod. Phys. 3 (1993), 501.
- [47] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, Explicit solutions to the intrinsic generalization for the wave and sine-Gordon equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 29 (1993), 1.
- [48] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, Explicit construction of harmonic maps from \mathbf{R}^2 to U(N), Chin. Ann. of Math. 16B (1995), 139.
- [49] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, Construction of unitons via purely algebraic algorithm, Chin. Ann. Math. 20B (1999), 1.

- [50] C. H. Gu and H. S. Hu, Some remarks on singular Darboux transformations for unitons, Chin. Ann. Math. 22B (2001), 263.
- [51] C. H. Gu, H. S. Hu and J. I. Inoguchi, On time-like surfaces of positive constant Gaussian curvature and imaginary principal curvatures, J. Geom. Phys. 41 (2002), 296.
- [52] C. H. Gu and Z. X. Zhou, On the Darboux matrices of Bäcklund transformations for the AKNS system, Lett. Math. Phys. 13 (1987), 179.
- [53] C. H. Gu and Z. X. Zhou, On Darboux transformations for soliton equations in high dimensional space-time, Lett. Math. Phys. 32 (1994), 1.
- [54] F. M. Guest, Harmonic maps, loop groups and integrable systems, London Math. Soc. Student Text 38, Cambridge (1997).
- [55] Q. He and Y. B. Shen, On harmonic maps into symplectic groups Sp(N), Chinese Ann. Math. B22 (2001), 519.
- [56] D. Hilbert, Über Flächen von Konstanter Gausscher Krümung, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1901), 87.
- [57] H. S. Hu, Soliton and differential geometry, Soliton Theory and Its Applications, Ed: Gu Chaohao, Springer-Verlag and Zhejiang Science and Technology Publishing House, 291.
- [58] H. S. Hu, Sine-Laplace equation, sinh-Laplace equation and harmonic maps, Manu. Math. 40 (1982), 205.
- [59] H. S. Hu, Some nonexistence theorems for massive Yang-Mills fields and harmonic maps, Lecture Notes in Physics 212 (1984), 107.
- [60] H. S. Hu, Nonexistence theorems for Yang-Mills fields and harmonic maps in the Schwarzschild spacetime (I), Lett. Math. Phys. 14 (1987), 253.
- [61] H. S. Hu, The construction of hyperbolic surface in 3-dimensional Minkowski space and sinh-Laplace equation, Acta Math. Sinica (1985), 79.
- [62] H. S. Hu, Darboux transformations of Su-chain, Proc. Symposium in honor of Prof. Su Buchin, World Scientific (1993), 108.
- [63] H. S. Hu, Darboux transformations between $\Delta \alpha = \sinh \alpha$ and $\Delta \alpha = \sin \alpha$ and the application to pseudo-spherical congruences in $\mathbf{R}^{2,1}$, Lett. Math. Phys. 48 (1999), 187.
- [64] H. S. Hu, Laplace sequences of surfaces in projective space and two-dimensional Toda equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 57 (2001), 19.
- [65] H. S. Hu, On the signed Toda equations, Preprint (2004).
- [66] Y. Z. Huang, Bäcklund theorems in 3-dimensional Minkowski space and their higherdimensional generalization, Acta Mathematica Sinica (Chinese) 29 (1986), 684.
- [67] J. I. Inoguchi, Timelike surfaces of constant mean curvature in Minkowski 3-surfaces, Tokyo J. Math. 21 (1998), 141.

- [68] B. Kadomtsev and V. I. Petviashvili, On the stability of solitary waves in a weakly dispersing media, Sov. Phys. Dokl. 15 (1970), 539.
- [69] S. Kobayashi and K. Nomizu, Foundations of Differential Geometry, vol I, Interscience Publishers (1963).
- [70] K. Konno, W. Kameyama and H. Sanuki, Effect of weak dislocation potential on nonlinear wave propagation in anharmonic crystal, J. Phys. Soc. Japan 37 (1974), 171.
- [71] B. Konopelchenko, J. Sidorenko and W. Strampp, (1+1)-dimensional integrable systems as symmetry constraints of (2+1) dimensional systems, Phys. Lett. A157 (1991), 17.
- [72] S. B. Leble, M. A. Salle and A. V. Yurov, Darboux transforms for Davey-Stewartson equations and solitons in multidimensions, Inverse Problem 8 (1992), 207.
- [73] Y. S. Li and X. S. Gu, Generating solution of Boussinesq equation by Darboux transformation of three order eigenvalue differential equations, Ann. Diff. Eqs. 2 (1986), 419.
- [74] Y. S. Li, X. S. Gu and M. R. Zou, Three kinds of Darboux transformations for the evolution equations which connect with AKNS eigenvalue problem, Acta. Math. Sinica, New Series 3 (1987), 143.
- [75] J. M. Lin, Evolution of the scattering data under classical Darboux transform for SU(2) soliton systems, Acta Math. Appl. Sinica 6 (1990), 308.
- [76] L. J. Mason, Integrable and solvable systems, Further advances in twistor theory, Ed:
 L. J. Mason, L. P. Hughston, P. Z. Kobak, Longman Scientific Technical (1995), 1.
- [77] V. B. Matveev, Darboux Transformations and Explicit Solutions of the KP Equation Depending on the Functional Parameters, Lett. Math. Phys. 3 (1979), 213.
- [78] V. B. Matveev, Darboux transformations and explicit solutions of differential-difference and difference-differential evolution equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 3 (1979), 217.
- [79] V. B. Matveev, Darboux transformations for the Toda lattice, Lett. Math. Phys. 3 (1979), 425.
- [80] V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle, Darboux transformations and solitons, Springer-Verlag (1991).
- [81] V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle, On some new class of the solutions of the KP equation and Johnson equation, Some Topics on Inverse Problems, Ed: P. Sabatier, World Scientific (1988), 182.
- [82] V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle, Nonlocal KdV equation and nonlocal KP equation I, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. 261 (1981), 533.
- [83] I. McIntosh, Infinite dimensional Lie groups and two-dimensional Toda lattice, Harmonic maps and Integrable System, Ed: A. P. Fordy and J. C. Wood, Vieweg (1994), 205.
- [84] L. McNertney, One-parameter families of surfaces with constant curvature in Lorentz three-space, Ph. D. thesis, Brown University (1980).

- [85] M. Melko and I. Sterling, Integrable systems, harmonic maps and the classical theory of surfaces, Harmonic maps and integrable systems, Ed: A. P. Fordy and J. C. Wood, Vieweg (1994), 102.
- [86] C. W. Misner, Harmonic maps as model for physical theories, Phys. Rev. D18 (1978), 4510.
- [87] Miura, Korteweg-de Vries equation and generalizations, I: A remarkable explicit nonlinear transformation, J. Math. Phys. 9 (1968), 1202.
- [88] G. Neugebauer and R. Meinel, General N-soliton solution of the AKNS class on arbitrary background, Phys. Lett. 100A (1984), 467.
- [89] S. Novikov, S. V. Manakov, L. P. Pitaevskii, V. E. Zakharov, Theory of Solitons, Consultants Bureau (1984).
- [90] C. Rogers and W. K. Schief, Bäcklund and Darboux Transformations, Geometry and Modern Applications in Soliton Theory, Cambridge University Press (2002).
- [91] C. Rogers and W. R. Shadwick, Bäcklund transformations and their application, Academic Press (1982).
- [92] E. A. Ruh and J. Vilms, The tension field of the Gauss map, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 149 (1970), 569.
- [93] D. H. Sattinger, Hamiltonian hierarchies on semisimple Lie algebras, Studies in Applied Math. 72 (1985), 65.
- [94] D. H. Sattinger and V. D. Zurkowski, Gauge theory of Bäcklund transformations II, Physica 26D (1987), 225.
- [95] B. Q. Su, On certain periodic surfaces of period four in ordinary space, Science Reports of Tôhoko Imp. Univ. (1) 25 (1930), 147.
- [96] A. Sym, Soliton surfaces, Lett. Nuovo Cimento 33 (1982), 394.
- [97] A. Sym, Soliton surfaces and their applications, Geometric Aspects of the Einstein Equations and Integrable Systems, Lect. Notes in Phys. 239, Ed: R. Martini, Springer-Verlag (1985), 154.
- [98] K. Takasaki, A new appreach to the self-dual Yang-Mills equations, Commun. Math. Phys. 94 (1984), 35.
- [99] C. L. Terng, Geometries and symmetries of soliton equations and integrable elliptic equations, arXiv:math.DG/0212372 (2002).
- [100] M. Toda, Vibration of a chain with nonlinear interaction, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 22 (1967), 431.
- [101] M. Toda, Nonlinear Waves and solitons, KTK Scientific Publishers and Kluwer Acad. Publ. (1989).
- [102] K. Uhlenbeck, Harmonic maps into Lie groups (classical solutions of the chiral model), J. Diff. Geo. 38 (1990), 1.

- [103] N. V. Ustinov, The reduced self-dual Yang-Mills equation, binary and infinitesimal-Darboux transformations, J. Math. Phys. 39 (1998), 976.
- [104] G. Valli, On the energy spectrum of harmonic 2-spheres in unitary groups, Topology 27 (1988), 129.
- [105] M. Wadati, H. Sanuki and K. Konno, Relationships among inverse method, Bäcklund transformations and infinite number of conservation laws, Prog. Theor. Phys. 53 (1975), 418.
- [106] R. S. Ward, Integrable and solvable systems, and relation among them, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London A315 (1985), 451.
- [107] R. S. Ward, Two integrable systems related to hyperbolic monopoles, Asian J. Math. 3 (1999), 325.
- [108] R. S. Ward, Integrable systems and twistors, Integrable systems, twistors, loop groups, and Riemann surfaces, Clarendon Press (1999), 121.
- [109] R. S. Ward and R. O. Wells, Twistor Geometry and Field Theory, Cambridge University Press (1999).
- [110] H. Wente, Counterexample to a conjecture of H. Hopf, Paciffic J. Math. 121 (1986), 193.
- [111] G. Wilson, Commuting flows and conservation laws for Lax equations, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 86 (1979), 131.
- [112] J. C. Wood, Harmonic maps into symmetric spaces and integrable systems, Harmonic maps and integrable systems, Vieweg (1994), 29.
- [113] J. C. Wood, Explicit construction and representation of harmonic maps in the unitary group, Proc. London Math. Soc. 58 (1989), 608.
- [114] L. M. Woodward, The Toda equations and the geometry of surface, Nonlinearity and Geometry, Ed: D. Wójcik and J. Cieśliński, Polish Scientific Publishers (1998), 61.
- [115] Y. L. Xin, Harmonic maps, Shanghai Scientific and Technical Publishers, Shanghai (1995).
- [116] C. N. Yang, Condition of self-duality for SU₂ gauge fields on Euclidean 4-dimensional space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977), 377.
- [117] V. E. Zakharov and A. V. Mikhailov, On the integrability of classical spinor models in two-dimensional space-time, Commun. Math. Phys. 74 (1980), 21.
- [118] V. E. Zakharov and A. B. Shabat, Exact theory of two-dimensional self-focusing and one-dimensional self-modulation of waves in nonlinear media, Soviet Phys. JETP 34 (1972), 62.
- [119] V. E. Zakharov and A. B. Shabat, A scheme for integrating the nonlinear equations of mathematical physics by the method of the inverse scattering problem, Func. Anal. and its Appl. 8 (1974), 226.

- [120] Z. X. Zhou, On the Darboux transformation for 1 + 2 dimensional equations, Lett. Math. Phys. 16 (1988), 9.
- [121] Z. X. Zhou, General form of nondegenerate Darboux matrices of first order for 1+1 dimensional unreduced Lax pairs, Chinese Mathematics into the 21st Century, Peking University Press (1990), 231.
- [122] Z. X. Zhou, Determination of nondegenerate Darboux operators of first order in 1+2 dimensions, Nonlinear Physics, Springer-Verlag (1990), 23.
- [123] Z. X. Zhou, Explicit Solutions of N-Wave Equation in 1+2 Dimensions, Phys. Lett. A168 (1992), 370.
- [124] Z. X. Zhou, A method to obtain explicit solutions of 1+2 dimensional AKNS system, Int. J. Mod. Phys. 3A (1993), 565.
- [125] Z. X. Zhou, Binary Darboux Transformations for Manakov Triad, Phys. Lett. A195 (1994), 339.
- [126] Z. X. Zhou, Binary Darboux transformation for Manakov triad (II), Phys. Lett. A211 (1996), 191.
- [127] Z. X. Zhou, Soliton solutions for some equations in 1+2 dimensional hyperbolic su(N) AKNS system, Inverse Problems 12 (1996), 89.
- [128] Z. X. Zhou, Nonlinear constraints and soliton solutions of 1+2 dimensional three-wave equation, J. Math. Phys. 39 (1998), 986.
- [129] Z. X. Zhou, Solutions of the Yang-Mills-Higgs equations in 2+1-dimensional anti-de Sitter space-time, J. Math. Phys. 42 (2001), 1085.
- [130] Z. X. Zhou, Relation between the solitons of Yang-Mills-Higgs fields in 2+1 dimensional Minkowski space-time and anti-de Sitter space-time, J. Math. Phys. 42 (2001), 4938.